GABA_A AND GABA_B RECEPTOR SUBUNITS GENE EXPRESSION AND THEIR FUNCTIONAL ROLE IN PILOCARPINE INDUCED TEMPORAL LOBE EPILEPSY: EFFECTS OF *Bacopa monnieri* AND BACOSIDE A

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

BIOTECHNOLOGY

UNDER THE FACULTY OF SCIENCE

OF

COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

BY

JOBIN MATHEW

DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY COCHIN- 682 022, KERALA, INDIA

MARCH 2010



DEPARTMENT OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

COCHIN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

COCHIN- 682 022, INDIA Phone : 0484-2576267 (O), 0485-2812428 (R) Mob: 94470 12428 Email: cspaulose@cusat.ac.in, paulosecs@yahoo.co.in Fax: 91-0484-2576267, 2577595

DR. C.S.PAULOSE PROFESSOR AND HEAD DIRECTOR, CENTRE FOR NEUROSCIENCE

<u>CERTIFICATE</u>

This is to certify that the thesis entitled "GABA_A and GABA_B Receptor Subunits Gene Expression and their Functional Role in Pilocarpine Induced Temporal Lobe Epilepsy: Effects of **Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A**ⁿ is a bonafide record of the research work carried out by Mr. Jobin Mathew, under my guidance and supervision in the Department of Biotechnology, Cochin University of Science and Technology and that no part thereof has been presented for the award of any other degree.

Cochin - 682 022

March 11, 2010

(C. S. Paulose)

Dr. C.S. PAULOSE M.Sc., Ph.D. FIMSA, FGSI DIRECTOR, CENTRE FOR MISTROSCIENCE PROFESSOR & HEAD, DEP Cochin University of & Technology Cochin - 682 ala, India

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the thesis entitled 'GABA_A and GABA_B Receptor Subunits Gene Expression and their Functional Role in Pilocarpine Induced Temporal Lobe Epilepsy: Effects of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A' is the authentic record of research work carried out by me for my doctoral degree, under the supervision and guidance of Dr. C. S. Paulose, Professor & Head, Department of Biotechnology, Director, Centre for Neuroscience, Cochin University of Science and Technology and that no part thereof has previously formed the basis for the award of any degree or diploma, associateship or other similar titles or recognition.

Cochin - 682022

11-03-2010

Total) Jobin Mathew

Reg. No. 3170 Department of Biotechnology Cochin University of Science and Technology

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am grateful to **The Almighty God** for the myriad of opportunities; He has given me through the years. I am immensely thankful to God for his blessings which I need for ever. I am really thankful for being loved by an awesome God. Perfect and wonderful God nevertheless loved me.

I am very much indebted to my beloved guide **Prof. C. S. Paulose**, Director, Centre for Neuroscience and Head, Dept. of Biotechnology, Cochin University of Science & Technology for his keen interest in me and brightening my ideas and dreams of research during the tenure of my Ph.D. His exemplary guidance, inspiring encouragement and timely advice will always be remembered with deep sense of gratitude.

I thank Dr. E. Vijayan, ICMR Emeritus Professor, Dr. Sarita G. Bhat and Dr. Padma Nambisan lecturers of our Department for their help and encouragement throughout my work. I would like to acknowledge Prof. M. Chandrasekaran, former Head of our Department for his critical suggestions and encouragement. I would like to extend my profound thankfulness to Dr. Elyas K. K. former lecturer of our Department for his valuable suggestions.

I am grateful to Mr. K.P. Joseph, Head of the Dept. of Botany (Retd), St. Peter's College, Kolenchery for the taxonomical identification of plants for my research work.

I would like to extend my profound thankfulness to Dr. Babu Philip, Department of Marine Biology, Microbiology and Biochemistry for his valuable suggestions and encouragement. I take this opportunity to thank Dr. K. K. Mohammed Yusuf, Dean and Faculty of Science, Cochin University of Science & Technology for his encouragement and support to me.

I thank all the teachers of my school days, graduation and post-graduation for laying my foundations.

I sincerely acknowledge my senior colleagues Dr. Balarama Kaimal. S, Dr. Akash K. George, Dr. Gireesh. G, Dr. Finla Chathu, Dr. Ramya Robinson, Dr. Reas Khan S. and Dr. Savitha Balakrishnan for their support and encouragement in my research work. I also extend my thanks to Dr. Binoy Joseph, Dr. Nair Amee Krishnakumar and Dr. Anu Joseph for their valuable suggestions and help.

It is with immense pleasure I express my thankfulness to my batch mates and intimate friends Mr. Peeyush Kumar T., Ms. Pretty Mary Abraham, and Ms. Sherin Antony for all the support love and motivation in all my efforts during the course of my work.

My friends and colleagues Mrs Anju T. R., Mr. Jes Paul, Mr. Nandhu M. S., Mr. Korah P Kuruvilla, Mr. Smijin Soman, Mrs. Anitha Malat, Ms. Chinthu Romeo, Mr. Jayanarayanan S., Mr. Naijil George, Mrs. Shilpa Joy and Ms. Roshni Baby Thomas were always with me, lending a helping hand. I thank them all for the affection, love and friendship showered on me.

I thank Dr. Jissa G. Krishna, Dr. Jasmin C., Dr. Soorej M. Basheer, Dr. Madhu K. M. for their valuable suggestions and help. I also extend my thanks to Ms. Beena P. S., Mr. P. Karthikeyan, Mr. Cikesh P. C., Ms. Jina Augustine, Ms. Helvin Vincent, Ms. Smitha S., Mr. Satheesh Kumar M. K., Mr. Manzur Ali P. P., Ms. Sapna K., Mr. Abraham Mathew, Ms. Jasmine Koshy, Ms. Jikku Jose, Ms. Ummu Habeeba, *Ms. Thresia Regimol T. T. and M.Sc. students of this Department for their friendship, help and co-operation.*

I thank Mr. Ramesh Kumar S. and Mr. Raghul Subin S. of this Department for their friendship, love and co-operation. I also thank Mr. Abdul Rashed A.P. for his friendship and love.

I wish to thank my friends Mr. Christo Rajan, Mr. Anoop Philip Vargese, Mr. Shijo Joseph, Mr. Byju Karakadu, Mr. Subin George, Mr. Kishore G. Sebastian, Mr. Rijo Joseph, Mr. Joseph Mathew, Mr. Anil Joseph John, Mr. Albin Mandapathil, Mr. Sajan Sanakan, Mr. Pema Raj, Mr. Apoorv T. S., Mr. Deepesh Mukunthan, Mr. Prasanth S., Mr. Manesh N. A., Mr. Santhose Babu, Mr. Prem Kumar, Mr. Anoop P. S., Mr. Jinto James, Mr. Tibin Thomas, Mr. Jaison Jacob, Mr. Neeraj Narayanan, Mr. Raveesh R. Varier, Mr. Aneesh Nelakandan, Mr. Varun Soman, Mr. Manikandan Rangaswami, Mr. Abin Baby, Mr. Fibby Augustious Mathew, Mr. Joby Jose, Mr. Rahul K. V., Mr. Jees Seb astian, Mr. Dominic N. N. N. and Ms. Neethu Chandran for their friendship and love. My special thanks to all my hostel friends for the great time we had during the hostel life shall always be cherished.

I thank the authorities of Amrita Institute of Medical Sciences and Research Centre, Cochin and Animal Breeding Centre, Mannuthy, KAU for readily providing animals for this work. I am grateful to CSIR, Govt. of India for providing me fellowship for the research.

I thank all the present and past non-teaching office staff of our department for their timely help and co-operation.

I would like to thank my neighbors Mr. Skariya Kurian Mandapathil, Mr. Joseph Manikombel, Mr. Joseph Mandapathil and their families for the help and the blessings they provided. My special thanks to Mr. Appachan Chettan and his family for the help, prayers and love.

My special thanks to the authorities and staff of Cochin University of Science & Technology for their help and co-operation.

I am speechless! I can barely find words to express all the wisdom, love and support given me for that I am eternally grateful to my beloved parents Mr. E. J. Mathew and Mrs. Lucy Mathew for their unconditional love, fidelity, endurance and encouragement. I express my deep gratitude for their love without which this work would not have been completed. My Grandparents had always been my well wishers. I take this moment to express my never ending love and respect towards them for their blessings.

I thank my sisters Jency, Jasmin, Jemini, Jeswin and their family for unconditional love, fidelity, endurance and encouragement. I express my deep gratitude to my younger sister Janet for her love and affection.

I am deeply indebted to my grandmother Mariyamma Mathew for her love and affection. I express gratitude to my dear Mathayichachan and his family for their love and affection.

I thank my Uncles Mr. Reji Mathew, Mr. Shibu Mathew and their family for their concern and enthusiastic support. I express my deep gratitude to my Aunties Mrs. Filomina Thomas, Mrs. Anie Abraham, Mrs. Jessy Chakochan and their families for their great support and love. I acknowledge all my dear cousins for their assurance and good-will in every way.

There are so many others whom I may have inadvertently left out and I sincerely thank all of them for their help.

Mother Nature, truly I am grateful for what you have made for us. I am word less to express the beauty of your valley, mountains and back waters. Prayer has been made to mother earth that She blesses us with the knowledge required to exploit the treasures of the nature but without disturbing the environmental balance.

n Mathew

Dedicated to my Beloved Parents and Sisters. . .

ABBREVIATIONS

5-Hydroxy tryptamine
Acetylcholine
Acetylcholine esterase
Anti epileptic drugs
α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
Adenosine triphosphate
Maximal binding
Basal metabolic rate
Base pair
Brain stem
Benzodiazepine
Cornu Ammonis
Calcium
Cerebellum
Cerebral cortex
Cylic adenosine monophosphate
Calcium-binding proteins
Carbamazepine
Cerebrospinal fluid
Central Nervous System

COPI	Coat protein-I
DA	Dopamine
DBH	Dopamine β hydroxylase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DG	Dentate gyrus
E/I	Excitation/inhibition
EAAC-1	Excitatory amino acid carrier 1
EC	Entorhinal Cortex
ECD	Electrochemical detector
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EPI	Epinephrine
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
GABA	Gamma amino butyric acid
GABA _A R	GABA _A receptor
GABA _B R	GABA _B receptor
GABA-T	GABA Transporter
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GAD-IR	GAD- immunoreactive
GDPs	Giant Depolarizing Potentials
GEFS+	Generalized Epilepsy with Febrile Seizures Plus

GEPRs	Genetically epilepsy prone rats
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GIRKs	G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K+ channels
GLAST	Glutamate/aspartate transporter
GLT-1	Glutamate transporter-1
GluR2	Glutamate Receptor-2
GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
HD	Heptahelical domain
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
Hsp70	Heat-shock protein 70
i.p.	Intraperitoneally
IPI	Initial Precipitating Injury
IPSCs	Inhibitory post-synaptic currents
KA	Kainate
KCCs	K ⁺ Cl ⁻ co-transporters
K _d	Dissociation constant
K _m	Michaelis constant
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LFPs	Local field potential
LGICs	Ligand-gated ion channels

LTD	Long term depression
LTP	Long term potentiation
LTLE	Lateral temporal lobe epilepsy
MDH	Malate dehydrogenase
MF	Mossy fiber
mGlu	Metabotropic glutamate receptors
MPA	3-mercaptoproprionic acid
MR	Magnetic resonance
MRC	Mitochondrial respiratory chain
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MRS	Magnetic resonance spectroscopy
MSN	Medium Spiny Neurons
MTLE	Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy
NE	Norepinephrine
NKCC1	Na-K-Cl cotransporter-1
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
Р	Level of significance
P450	Cytochrome P450
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBST	Phosphate buffered saline Triton X- 100

PC	Purkinje cell
PF	Parallel fiber
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
PWE	People Live With Epilepsy
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SE	Status Epilepticus
S.E.M	Standard error of mean
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SRMS	Spontaneous recurrent motor seizures
SSRIs	Serotonin reuptake inhibitors
Т3	Triiodothyronine
T4	Thyroxine
TLE	Temporal lobe epilepsy
TM3	Transmembrane-3
VFT	Venus Flytrap domain
vGAT	Vesicular Transporter for GABA
VTA	Ventral tegmental area
WHO	World Health Organization
α ₂ -AR	α ₂ -Adrenergic receptor

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES OF THE PRESENT STUDY	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
Temporal Lobe Epilepsy	9
Definition of Epilepsy	10
Epidemiology of Epilepsy	11
Temporal Lobe Epilepsy and Brain Injury	11
Hippocampus and Temporal Lobe Epilepsy	13
Pathophysiology of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy	15
Cell Loss	16
Axon Sprouting	17
Gliosis	18
Dendritic Changes	18
Mossy Fibre Sprouting and Impaired Inhibition	19
Impaired Inhibition	20
Pilocarpine Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy	21
Role of Neurotransmitters in Epilepsy	23
GABA	23
GABA Receptors	25
GABA _A Receptors	27
GABA _B Receptors	29
GABA _C Receptors	31
Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase	32
Acetylcholine	34
Epinephrine and Norepinephrine	35
Dopamine	36
Serotonin	38
Glutamate	40

Calcium Ion Homeostasis	44
Epilepsy and Treatment	45
Epilepsy and Cognitive Impairment	47
Bacopa monnieri (Linn.) Pennel	52
Active Constituents	52
Ethnopharmacology	53
Biological Activity	54
Antioxidant Capacity	56
Epilepsy and Bacopa monnieri	57
MATERIALS AND METHODS	61
Chemicals Used and Their Sources	61
Biochemicals	61
Radiochemicals	61
Molecular Biology Chemicals	61
Confocal Dyes	62
Animals	62
Plant Material	62
Preparation of Bacopa monnieri Plant Extract	62
Preparation of Bacoside A	63
Epilepsy Induction	63
Determination of Anti-Epileptic Potential of Bacopa monnier	i 64
Animal Groups	64
Tissue Preparation	65
Acetylcholine Esterase Assay	65
Estimation of Circulating Insulin by Radioimmunoassay	65
Principle of the Assay	65
Assay Protocol	66

Estimation of Circulating Triiodothyronine (T3) by	
Radioimmunoassay	67
Principle of the Assay	67
Assay Protocol	67
Malate Dehydrogenase Activity	68
Quantification of Epinephrine and Norepinephrine	
in the Experimental Groups of Rats	68
Quantification of GABA	69
GABA Receptor Studies using [³ H] Radioligands	69
GABA Receptor Binding Assays	69
GABA _A Receptor Binding Assays	70
GABA _B Receptor Binding Assays	70
Protein Determination	71
Linear Regression Analysis for Scatchard Plots	71
Gene Expression Studies	71
Preparation of RNA	71
Isolation of RNA	71
cDNA Synthesis	72
Real -Time PCR Assay	72
Confocal Studies	74
Behavioural Studies	75
Radial Maze Test	75
Y-Maze Test	76
Grid Walk Test	77
Narrow Beam Test	77
Open-field Behavior Test	77
Statistics	78

RESULTS	79
Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours	
video recording period of control and experimental rats	79
Acetylcholine esterase activity in the muscle of	
control and experimental rats	79
Acetylcholine esterase activity in the heart of	
control and experimental rats	79
Malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle of	
control and experimental rats	79
Epinephrine and Norepinephrine content in the heart of	
control and experimental rats	80
T3 content in the serum of control and experimental	
groups of rats	80
Circulating insulin level in the serum of control and	
experimental rats	80

I. GABA Content in Different Brain Regions of Control and Experimental

Rats	80
1. Cerebral cortex	80
2. Hippocampus	81
3. Cerebellum	81
4. Corpus striatum	81
5. Brain stem	81

II. Brain GABA Receptor Alterations in the Control and	
Experimental Rats	82

A.	CEREBRAL CORTEX	82
1.	Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA	
	in the control and experimental rats	82

2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in	
the control and experimental rats	82
3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the	
control and experimental rats	82
4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Ad1} in the control and	
experimental rats	83
5. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}5}$ in the control and	
experimental rats	83
6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{A73} in the control and	
experimental rats	83
7. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aδ} in the control and	
experimental rats	84
8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _B in the control and	
experimental rats	84
9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and	
•	
experimental rats	84
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS	84 84
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the	84 84
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats	84 84 84
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in	84 84 84
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats	84 84 84 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the	84 84 84 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats	84 84 85 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and	84 84 85 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and experimental rats	84 84 85 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and	84 84 85 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aát} in the control and experimental rats	84 84 85 85 85 85
experimental rats B. HIPPOCAMPUS 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{AáI} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aá5} in the control and experimental rats 6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Ay3} in the control and	84 84 85 85 85 85

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and	
experimental rats	86
8. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_B$ in the control and	
experimental rats	86
9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and	
experimental rats	87
C. CEREBELLUM	87
1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in	
the control and experimental rats	87
2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the	
control and experimental rats	87
3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the	
control and experimental rats	88
4. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A \alpha 1}$ in the control	
and experimental rats	88
5. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A \acute{\alpha} 5}$ in the control	
and experimental rats	88
6. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ in the control	
and experimental rats	88
7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and	
experimental rats	89
8. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_B$ in the control and	
experimental rats	89
9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and	
experimental rats	89
D. CORPUS STRIATUM	89
1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in	
the control and experimental rats	89

2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in	
the control and experimental rats	90
3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the	
control and experimental rats	90
4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Ad1} in the control and	
experimental rats	90
5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Aú5} in the control and	
experimental rats	91
6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _{Ay3} in the control and	
experimental rats	91
7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and	
experimental rats	91
8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _B in the control	
and experimental rats	91
9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and	
experimental rats	92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM	92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA	92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats	92 92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in	92 92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats	92 92 92 92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in	92 92 92 92 92
experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³ H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats	92 92 92 92 92 93
 experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aú1} in the control 	92 92 92 92 93
 experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Ad1} in the control and experimental rats 	92 92 92 92 93 93
 experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Ad1} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Ad5} in the control 	92 92 92 92 93 93
 experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aá1} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aá5} in the control and experimental rats 	92 92 92 92 93 93 93
 experimental rats E. BRAIN STEM 1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats 2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats 3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats 4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aé1} in the control and experimental rats 5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aé5} in the control and experimental rats 6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aý3} in the control 	92 92 92 92 93 93 93

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control	
and experimental rats	94
8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA _B in the control	
and experimental rats	94
9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and	
experimental rats	94
III. BEHAVIORAL STUDY	94
1. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats	
on Y-Maze performance	94
2. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats	
on criterion performance in radial arm maze	95
3. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on	
reference errors in radial arm maze	95
4. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on	
working errors in radial arm maze	95
5. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on	
grid walk test	96
6. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on	
narrow beam test	96
7. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on	
open field test	96
IV. CONFOCAL STUDIES	96
1. GABA _{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the cerebral	
cortex of control and experimental rats	96
2. GABA _{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the hippocampus	

of control and experimental rats

97

3. GABA _{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the cerebellum	
of control and experimental rats	9 7
4. GABA _{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the corpus	
striatum of control and experimental rats	97
5. GABA _{Aat} receptor antibody staining in the brain stem	
of control and experimental rats	98

DISCUSSION	99
SUMMARY	121
CONCLUSION	125
REFERENCES	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	
TABLES & FIGURES	
FIGURE LEGENDS	

Introduction

Seizures and epilepsy have been documented since the earliest civilizations, before much was understood about the nervous system at all. Most individuals with epilepsy were thought to be possessed and the word "seizure" is derived from that notion, implying that gods take hold or "seizes" a person at the time a convulsion occurs. A general definition for the word "seizure" is a period of abnormal, synchronous excitation of a neuronal population. Seizures typically last seconds or minutes but can be prolonged and continuous in the case of status epilepticus. Importantly, the clinical manifestations vary and some seizures are not involving muscular contractions (convulsions) at all. In this modern era, epilepsy is the most frequent neurodegenerative disease after stroke. It afflicts more than 50 million people worldwide (Strine et al., 2005). Epilepsy knows no geographical, racial or social boundaries and accounts for 1% of the global burden of disease, determined by the number of productive life years lost as a result of disability or premature death. Among all medical conditions, it ranks with breast cancer in women and lung cancer in men. Eighty per cent of the burden of epilepsy is in the developing world, where 80-90% of people with epilepsy receive no treatment at all. Epilepsy leads to multiple interacting medical, psychological, economic and social repercussions, all of which need to be considered (WHO epilepsy Atlas 2005).

The difference between seizures and epilepsy is commonly confused. The two are not the same. Epilepsy is defined by a state of recurrent, spontaneous seizures. If one seizure occurs in an individual, it may not necessarily mean that they have epilepsy because the seizure may have been provoked and that individual may never have a seizure again. The concept of epileptogenesis refers to the development of the state of epilepsy. It refers to the sequence of events that converts the normal brain into one that can support a seizure. It is assumed that groups of neurons become hyperexcitable, poised to abnormally discharge impulse. Seizures can be caused by multiple mechanisms and often they appear so diverse that one would suspect that no common theme applies. However, one principle that is often discussed is that seizures arise when there is a disruption of mechanisms that normally create a balance between excitation and inhibition. Thus, normally there are controls that keep neurons from excessive action potential discharge, but there are also mechanisms that facilitate neuronal firing so the nervous system can function appropriately. Disrupting the mechanisms that inhibit firing or promoting the mechanisms that facilitate excitation can lead to seizures. Conversely, disrupting the mechanisms that bring neurons close to their firing threshold, or enhancing the ways neurons are inhibited, usually prevents seizure activity.

The hypersynchronous discharges that occur during a seizure are beging in a very discrete region of brain and then spread to neighbouring regions. Seizure initiation is characterized by two concurrent events: 1) high-frequency bursts of action potentials and 2) hypersynchronization of a neuronal population. The synchronized bursts from a sufficient number of neurons result in 'spike discharge' on the EEG. At the level of single neurons, epileptiform activity consists of sustained neuronal depolarization resulting in a burst of action potentials, a plateau-like depolarization associated with completion of the action potential burst and then a rapid repolarization followed by hyperpolarization. This sequence is called the paroxysmal depolarizing shift. The bursting activity resulting from the relatively prolonged depolarization of the neuronal membrane is due to influx of extracellular Ca^{2+} , which leads to the opening of voltage-dependent Na⁺ channels, influx of Na⁺ and generation of repetitive action potentials (Schiller et al., 2004). Seizure propagation is the process by which a partial seizure spreads within the brain, when there is sufficient activation to recruit surrounding neurons. This leads to a loss of surrounding inhibition and spread of seizure activity into contiguous areas via local cortical connections and to more distant areas via long association pathways such as the corpus callosum.

Introduction

Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is among the most frequent types of drug resistant epilepsy (Litt et al., 2001). In a population of new patients presented with epilepsy, almost 30% of them had seizures originating from the temporal lobe of the brain (Manford et al., 1992). Individuals affected with TLE typically have comparable clinical description; including an initial precipitating injury (IPI) such as the status epilepticus (SE), head trauma, encephalitis or childhood febrile seizures (Harvey et al., 1997; Fisher et al., 1998). In many individuals with TLE, an initial insult or injury leads to a period of time without evidence of overt seizures and then recurrent seizures begin. Thus, the fact that many individuals with TLE have experienced an event (typically early in life) that could be an initial insult is compelling. It suggests that an initial insult begins a process that ultimately leads to recurrent seizures. If it does not actually "begin" the process, at the very least it seems likely that it facilitates it. Examples include birth trauma, a febrile seizure, or infection such as encephalitis. However, the insult also may occur later and a common example is a war injury as an adult that leads to TLE decades later. The fact that these events are injurious, leading to neuronal damage and the fact that many patients with TLE have dramatic neuronal loss upon autopsy, have led many to conclude that damage to neurons is critical to the pathophysiology of TLE (Meldrum, 1997).

Furthermore, it appears that certain types of neurons are more vulnerable than others, such as hippocampal Cornu Ammonis-1 (CAI) and the endfolium relative to the dentate gyrus and CA2 (Scharfman & Pedley, 2006). This has led to the assumption that the pattern of neuronal loss may also be important in TLE and the idea that protection of vulnerable neuronal populations could be advantageous. However, there is no clear proof to date that the selective loss of CAI pyramidal cells, for example, is a key component of TLE. The fact that a delay appears to occur between an initial insult and the first seizure, has led many to suggest that a progression of changes in response to the initial insult is critical in epileptogenesis. However, the latent period can be very long, even decades in some patients. That observation has led some to suggest that additional environmental factors or "second hits" could be important in ultimately causing seizures to emerge (Walker *et al.*, 2002).

Because of the well organized and relatively simple circuits within the entorhinal-dentate-hippocampal loop, the limbic system has been intensively studied in experimental models of epilepsy. These investigations have led to two theories regarding the cellular network changes which cause the hippocampus, among the most common sites of origin of partial seizures, to become hyper- excitable. The first proposes that a selective loss of interneurons decreases the normal feed-forward and feed-back inhibition of the dentate granule cells, an important group of principal neurons (Stief *et al.*, 2007). The other theory suggests that synaptic reorganization follows injury and creates recurrent excitatory connections, *via* axonal "sprouting," between neighboring dentate granule cells. More recently, it has been proposed that the loss, rather than being of GABAergic inhibitory neurons, is actually of excitatory neurons which normally stimulate the inhibitory interneurons to, in turn, inhibit the dentate granule cells. These mechanisms of hyperexcitability of the neuronal network are not mutually exclusive, could act synergistically and coexist in the human epileptic brain.

Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the principal inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain. It acts through 2 classes of receptors, GABA_A receptors that are ligand-operated ion channels and the G-protein-coupled metabotropic GABA_B receptors. Impairment of GABAergic transmission by genetic mutations or application of GABA receptor antagonists induces epileptic seizures, whereas drugs augmenting GABAergic transmission are used for antiepileptic therapy. In animal epilepsy models and in tissue from patients with temporal lobe epilepsy, loss in subsets of hippocampal GABA neurons is observed. Also at the level of the GABA_A receptor, neurodegeneration-induced loss in receptors is accompanied by markedly altered expression of receptor subunits in the dentate gyrus and other

Introduction

parts of the hippocampal formation, indicating altered physiology and pharmacology of GABA_A receptors. Such mechanisms have highly relevant role in seizure induction, augmentation of endogenous protective mechanisms and resistance to antiepileptic drug therapy. Studies suggest a role of GABA_B receptors in absence seizure Presynaptic GABA_B receptors suppress neurotransmitter release. Depending on whether this action is exerted in GABAergic or glutamatergic neurons, there may be anticonvulsant or proconvulsant actions. It has therefore been suggested that dysfunction of the GABAergic system have a fundamental role in the propagation of acute seizures and in the manifestation of epilepsy syndromes. Indeed mutant mice lacking the enzyme glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) or certain subunits of GABA_A receptors are prone to spontaneous epileptic seizures.

The ability to reproduce human diseases in animal models presents a great advantage for modern experimental medicine (Russell, 1964). A great deal of the knowledge that has improved our understanding of epileptic disorders has derived from appropriate animal models (Purpura et al., 1972). This is certainly the case in TLE, the most common type of partial complex seizure in adulthood (Hauser et al., 1996). The main features of TLE are: (i) the localization of seizure foci in the limbic system, particularly in the hippocampus, entorhinal cortex and amygdala (Bartolomei et al., 2005); (ii) the frequent finding of an "initial precipitating injury" that precedes the appearance of TLE (Mathern et al., 2002); (iii) a seizure-free time interval following the precipitating injury known as "latent period" and (iv) a high incidence of mesial or Cornu Ammonis sclerosis, i.e., a unilateral hippocampal lesion leading to atrophy, typically caused by neuronal loss and gliosis in Sommer's sector (the subiculum-CA1 transition zone) and the endfolium (dentate hilus) (Mathern et al., 1997). Most of these characteristics can be reproduced in chronic animal models of TLE, particularly kindling or SE animal models. Induction of SE by systemic application of pilocarpine and subsequent occurrence of spontaneous seizures is probably the most attractive animal model, for the study of temporal lobe epilepsy.

Pilocarpine treatment is characterized by generalized convulsive SE in rodents, which represents the initial precipitating injury. After a latent period, adult rats exhibit spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) during the remainder of their life. The EEG and behavioral features of these seizures resemble those of complex partial seizures. This model shares many histopathological and molecular changes that have been characterized in neurosurgical resections and post mortem specimen from TLE patients. Surprisingly little is known on the molecular and cellular signaling during induction of SE and the role of GABAergic functional regulation in chronic epilepsy models.

A significant number of people (25%) afflicted with epilepsy have seizures that cannot be controlled by antiepileptic drugs (Litt et al., 2001). Moreover, antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) merely provide symptomatic treatment without having any influence on the course of the disease. Thus, there is a pressing need to develop alternative therapeutic approaches that prevent the epileptogenesis after the SE or an IPI. From this perspective, identification of compounds or approaches that are efficacious for providing neuroprotection to the hippocampus after the onset of SE has great significance (Acharya et al., 2008). While pharmaceutical companies continue to invest enormous resources in identifying agents that could be used to alleviate debilitating disorders and retard mental deterioration afflicting numerous people around the world, a source of potentially beneficial agents, namely phytochemicals, would appear to have significant benefits that have yet to be fully exploited. Therefore, several plants have been selected based on their use in traditional systems of medicine, and research has identified a number of natural compounds that could act as nootropic agents. One plant that has been used as brain tonic and restorative in epileptic conditions is 'Brahmi' (Bacopa monnieri). Bacopa monnieri belonging to the family Scrophulariaceae, is a creeping annual plant found throughout the Indian subcontinent in wet, damp and marshy areas (Russo & Borrelli, 2005).

Introduction

In the Indian medicinal system - Ayurveda, Bacopa monnieri has been used since 3000 years as a memory enhancing, antioxidative, adaptogenic, antiinflammatory, analgesic, antipyretic, sedative and antiepileptic agent (Jyoti & Sharma, 2006). The earliest chronicle mention is in the Ayurvedic treatise, the Charaka Samhita (100 A.D.), in which Bacopa monnieri is recommended in formulations for the management of a range of mental conditions including anxiety, poor cognition, lack of concentration and epilepsy. According to Charaka, Bacopa monnieri acts as an effective brain tonic that boosts one's capabilities to think and reason. The Sushruta Samhita (200 A.D.) attributes the plant with efficacy in maintaining acuity of intellect and memory. Pharmacologically, it is understood that Bacopa monnieri has an unusual combination of constituents that are beneficial in mental inefficiency, illnesses and useful in the management of convulsive disorders like epilepsy. Treatments with the plant (Malhotra & Das, 1959) and ethanol extract (Singh & Dhawan, 1982) have enhanced learning ability. Bacosides, Bacopa monnieri's active principle component responsible for improving memory related functions, are attributed with the capability to enhance the efficiency of transmission of nerve impulses, thereby strengthening memory and cognition (Kishore & Singh, 2005). But so far there are very few studies reporting the role of *Bacopa monnieri* treatment on the functional regulation of neurotransmitters and their receptors. In our previous studies we reported the down regulated expression of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-1 (NMDA R1) in the hippocampus (Reas et al., 2007), down regulated expression of the metabotropic glutamate receptor-8 (mGluR8) (Paulose et al., 2008) and 5-HT receptor binding in the cerebellum of epileptic rats was reversed upon treatment with Bacopa monnieri (Amee et al., 2009). Here the alterations of GABA receptor subtype and their gene expression were evaluated in the brain regions of pilocarpine model of TLE. Also, the antiepileptic effect of Bacopa monnieri and bacoside A was assessed at the molecular level.

OBJECTIVES OF THE PRESENT STUDY

- 1. To study the antiepileptic activity of whole plant extract of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A in pilocarpine induced Temporal Lobe Epileptic rat model.
- 2. To measure the T3 and insulin content in the serum of control, epileptic, epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine.
- 3. To study the cholinergic activity using acetylcholine esterase assay in the muscle and heart and Malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle of control and experimental rats.
- 4. To study the GABA content in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental groups of rats.
- To study the general GABA, GABA_A and GABA_B receptor binding parameters in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental rats.
- 6. To study the gene expression of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$, $GABA_{A\alpha 5}$, $GABA_{A\gamma 3}$, $GABA_{A\beta}$, $GABA_{B}$, and GAD in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental rats using Real-Time PCR.
- 7. To study the confocal imaging of $GABA_{A\dot{a}I}$ receptor subunit in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental rats using immunofluorescent receptor specific antibodies in brain slices.
- To study the behavioral changes in the control and experimental rats using Radial Maze and Y-Maze test, grid walk test, narrow beam test and open field test.

Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

Epilepsy is characterized by recurrent, unprovoked, paroxysmal episodes of brain dysfunction manifesting as a large number of clinical phenomena, like altered levels of consciousness, involuntary movements, abnormal sensory phenomena, autonomic changes and transient disturbances of behaviour (Lowenstein, 1996). Temporal lobe epilepsies are a group of medical disorders in which humans and animals experience recurrent epileptic seizures arising from one or both temporal lobes of the brain (Engel, 1992; Engel & Pedley, 1997). TLE is considered the most common epileptic syndrome and it is estimated that approximately 80% of patients with partial seizures have TLE (Williamson et al., 1997). TLE can be subclassified into mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE) and lateral temporal neocortical epilepsy (LTLE). MTLE comprises the majority of the cases of epilepsy refractory to pharmacotherapy (Babb & Brown, 1987) arises in the hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus and amygdala which are located in the inner aspect of the temporal lobe. However, it may be remediable to surgery because hippocampal sclerosis can often be seen as an underlying pathology in MTLE (Thadani et al., 1995; Benbadis et al., 1996). LTLE arises in the neocortex on the outer surface of the temporal lobe of the brain

TLE is also characterized pathologically by unique morphological alterations in the hippocampus (Engel *et al.*, 1989, 1996). It is a neurodegenerative disease that interrupts the normal electrical activity of the brain and promotes abnormal wiring in the brain. From time to time, multiple groups of neurons fire simultaneously in people with epilepsy, which triggers an electrical tempest within the brain culminating in seizures (Engel *et al.*, 1989; Lothman & Bertram, 1993). TLE with hippocampal sclerosis, one of the most frequent kinds of human epilepsy, is typified by a progressive development of spontaneous recurrent motor seizures (SRMS) (Engel *et*

9

al., 1989; Lothman & Bertram, 1993; Ben-Ari & Cossart, 2000). Usually the disease starts in early childhood and becomes pharmacologically intractable during the course of time (Engel, 2001). A classic sequence of seizures in TLE encompasses an aura followed by arrest of motor behavior, blank stare and automatisms. Furthermore, patients with TLE often show impairments in attention, memory, mental processing speed, executive functions, mood, personality and interictal depression (Devinsky, 2004).

Definition of Epilepsy

Epilepsy is a chronic disorder characterized by recurrent seizures, which may vary from a brief lapse of attention or muscle jerks, to severe and prolonged convulsions. The seizures are caused by sudden, usually brief, excessive electrical discharges in a group of brain cells (neurons) (Gastaut *et al.*, 1970). A seizure is a convulsive episode, which starts of as atypical, excessive hyper-synchronous discharges from an aggregate of neurons in the brain and then recruits surrounding neurons to comprise one or both hemispheres of the brain (Acharya *et al.*, 2008). During the seizure the person may experience the change or loss of consciousness, involuntary movements such as jerking, shaking or twitching. The International Classification of Epileptic Seizures (1981) recognizes two general categories of seizures based on the origin of the abnormal electrical discharge. Two broad categories of seizures are recognized, partial and generalized, with each category having different subtypes (Benbadis *et al.*, 2001).

1) Partial seizures, referred to as focal or local seizures, originate in one location of the brain and then may or may not spread to other brain areas. Partial seizures are further subdivided into simple partial and complex partial. In simple partial seizures consciousness is preserved. In complex partial seizures there is an alteration in consciousness, the person does not recall having the seizure and may be very confused and fatigued in the aftermath. A partial seizure may also progress into a generalized motor seizure (Chabolla, 2002).

2) Generalized seizures, referred to as "grand mal" seizures, begin simultaneously in all areas of the brain. Consciousness is altered and the person may or may not show convulsions (Chabolla, 2002).

Other commonly used terms include ictal (of seizure itself) and interictal (between seizures). Convulsion implies ictal behaviour with vigorous motor activities. SE denotes a very prolonged seizure or series of seizures occurring so frequently that full recovery of brain function does not occur intricately.

Epidemiology of Epilepsy

Epilepsy is the commonest serious neurological condition affecting 0.5-1% of the population. Today, an estimated 50 million people live with epilepsy, 80% of whom in developing countries. Those most affected often do not come forward. Stigma, misconceptions and beliefs attached to this condition influence the open presentation of affected individuals in public meetings. The public health significance is particularly high in these settings because of its high prevalence, its seizure acuteness and frequency and the sociological, psychosocial and financial consequences for the households it affects (Hauser, 1997). Resource poor countries share demographic, sociological and economic features. They are particularly marked by ethnic, linguistic and religious richness, and their populations are frequently threatened by political instability and economic uncertainties. As a consequence health systems are typically weak and lack efficiency in addressing health needs (Quet *et al.*, 2008).

Temporal Lobe Epilepsy and Brain Injury

The TLE is characterized by hippocampal neurodegeneration, aberrant mossy fiber sprouting, spontaneous recurrent motor seizures, cognitive deficits and

abnormally enhanced neurogenesis during the early phase and dramatically declined neurogenesis during the chronic phase of the disease. Although the precise cause of TLE is unknown, it is typically seen after an initial precipitating injury (IPI) such as brain injury, tumors, meningitis, encephalitis, SE and febrile seizures (Engel et al., 1989; French et al., 1993; Mathern et al., 1995; Mathern et al., 1996; Wieser, 2004; Lewis, 2005). Nevertheless, it is difficult to predict the consequences of initial seizures in humans because of multiple contributing factors. These include differences in the etiology and age at the onset of seizures, the types, frequency and duration of seizures, interventions with antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) and genetic components (Avoli et al., 2005; Guerrini et al., 2005). On the other hand, it is well known that epilepsy or seizures are linked with neurodegeneration in several areas of the brain (Wasterlain & Shirasaka, 1994; Jacobs et al., 2000; Armstrong, 2005). Furthermore, it is clear that both necrotic and apoptotic cell death contribute to neuronal damage in epileptogenic insults such as the SE, head injury or stroke (Fujikawa et al., 2000a, 2000b; Henshall et al., 2000; Sahuquillo et al., 2004). It is supposed that multiple mechanisms and neurochemical modulators play roles in the initiation of epileptogenesis after an IPI. The term epileptogenesis refers to the transformation of the normal neuronal network into a long lasting chronically hyperexcitable state.

The brain injury resulting from seizures is a dynamic process that comprises multiple factors contributing to neuronal cell death. These include genetic factors, the extent of glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity leading to disturbances in the intracellular electrolyte metabolism, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, growth factor withdrawal or depletion and increased concentration of cytokines (Ferriero, 2005). At cellular level, intense seizure activity typically initiates massive influx of calcium *via* voltage gated and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-dependent ion channels (Van Den Pol *et al.*, 1996). Elevated intracellular ions lead to biochemical cascades which trigger acute neuronal cell death after the SE (Fujikawa *et al.*, 2000a). Additionally, high levels of intracellular calcium can induce generation of reactive oxygen species

(ROS), uncoupling of mitochondria and activation of a wide range of catabolic enzymes that are capable of deteriorating cell function (Gupta & Dettbarn, 2003; Niquet & Wasterlain, 2004; Acharya & Katyare, 2005; Niquet *et al.*, 2005).

Hippocampus and Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

The hippocampus has been implicated in TLE for three main reasons. First, seizure activity can be recorded from the hippocampus (Spencer & Spencer, 1994; Engel, 1995; Bertram, 1997). Second, removal of the affected hippocampus eliminates seizures in 80-90% of TLE patients exhibiting unilateral mesial temporal lobe sclerosis (Falconer et al., 1964; Ojemann, 1987). Third, stereotypic neuropathology is found in the hippocampus of TLE patients that is recapitulated in animal models of TLE, termed hippocampal sclerosis (Schwartzkroin & Knowles, 1984; Sutula et al., 1988; Houser et al., 1990; French et al., 1993; Mello et al., 1993; Buckmaster & Dudek, 1997). Indeed, multiple hippocampal changes are apparent in both TLE and animal models of TLE (Sloviter, 2006). The structural changes in the hippocampus comprise partial degeneration of CA1 and CA3 pyramidal neurons and dentate hilar neurons (Rao et al., 2006), reductions in gamma-amino butyric acid positive interneurons (Shetty & Turner, 1997, 2000), loss of the calcium binding protein calbindin in dentate granule cells (Nagerl et al., 2000; Shetty & Hattiangady, 2007) and abnormal sprouting of dentate granule cell, entorhinal, and CA3 axons (Shetty & Turner, 1997; Shetty, 2002; Shetty et al., 2005; Siddiqui & Joseph, 2005; Wozny et al., 2005). The axons of dentate granule cells (hippocampal mossy fibers) branch out of the dentate hilus and abnormally innervate the dentate inner molecular layer in TLE, a phenomenon known as aberrant mossy fiber sprouting (Tauck & Nadler, 1985; Sutula et al., 1989; Shetty & Turner, 1997; Shetty et al., 2003; Koyama & Ikegaya, 2004, 2005). It appears that the aberrant mossy fiber sprouting contributes to the increased seizure susceptibility of the dentate gyrus, as the extent of aberrant mossy fiber sprouting positively correlates with both antidromically evoked burst firing and
spontaneous seizures in kainic acid (KA) models of TLE (Cronin & Dudek, 1988; Masukawa et al., 1989; Mathern et al., 1993; Dudek et al., 1994; Buhl et al., 1996). In some species, including certain bats (Buhl & Dann, 1990) and monkeys (Seress & Mrzljak, 1987; Frotscher et al., 1988), a subpopulation of granule cells regularly has basal dendrites. In humans, basal dendrites normally extend into the hilus in 22-47% of granule cells (Seress & Mrzljak, 1987; Al-Hussain & Al-Ali, 1995; Lim et al., 1997; Lauer et al., 2003). Granule cell basal dendrites are more frequent in schizophrenics (Lauer et al., 2003), but that might be a side-effect of treatment with neuroleptics, which stimulate granule cell neurogenesis (Dawirs et al., 1998). Increasing the subpopulation of granule cells with basal dendrites might be pathogenic in patients with schizophrenia or epilepsy by augmenting positive-feedback circuits. Basal dendrites are ideally positioned to receive excitatory synaptic input from granule cell axons, which are concentrated in the hilus. In normal monkeys, granule cells with basal dendrites exhibit functional recurrent excitation (Austin & Buckmaster, 2004). Increased production of new granule cells after the SE typically results in abnormal migration of a substantial fraction of newly differentiated granule cells into the dentate hilus. The hilar granule cells get activated when animals display spontaneous seizures during the chronic epilepsy (Scharfman et al., 2002b; Jessberger et al., 2007). With perforant path stimulation, the ectopic granule cells display an unusually long latency to onset of evoked responses, suggesting polysynaptic activation of these cells (Scharfman et al., 2003). Analysis of dendrites of hilar dentate granule cells confirms mossy fiber terminals as their source of afferent input (Pierce et al., 2005). Further characterization implies that the synaptic connectivity of hilar granule cells predisposes them to discharge in epileptiform bursts. For instance, physiological recordings in hippocampal slices demonstrate spontaneous bursts of action potentials in ectopic granule cells. Because these spontaneous discharges are synchronized with area CA3 pyramidal cell population discharges, it suggests an abnormal activity (Scharfman et al., 2000). Because of the above connectivity and

behavior, it is believed that the hilar granule cells contribute to spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRS) occurring in chronically epileptic animals. Indeed, a study by McCloskey et al, (2006) reports that the frequency of behavioral seizures in animals treated with pilocarpine is directly proportional to the size of the ectopic granule cell population in the dentate hilus. Additionally, Jung et al, (2004) demonstrate that inhibition of dentate neurogenesis after the SE *via* intracerebroventricular infusions of the mitotic inhibitor cytosine- β -D-arabinofuranoside reduces the frequency of chronic seizures, suggesting the involvement of ectopically integrated newly born neurons in the generation of spontaneous seizures. Therefore, strategies that prevent or reverse abnormal mossy fiber sprouting in the dentate gyrus have received considerable attention as a treatment for TLE (Shetty & Turner, 1997; Shetty *et al.*, 2005; Hattiangady *et al.*, 2006). Thus, involvement of the hippocampus in the pathophysiology of TLE is substantial.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF TEMPORAL LOBE EPILEPSY

EEG studies show that the hippocampus is one of the earliest structures to be activated during seizures. In addition, the cure of epilepsy by surgical resection of the hippocampus in properly selected individuals led to the idea that hyperexcitability intrinsic to the hippocampus contribute to the development of epilepsy (Bausch & McNamara, 1999). Thus it is not surprising that from the perspective of mechanisms, the best studied form of seizure is the seizure activity in the hippocampus. Recent report states that different neuronal populations react differently to SE induction. For some brain areas, most, if not all, the vulnerable cells are lost after an initial insult leaving only relatively resistant cells and little space for further damage or cell loss (Covolan *et al.*, 2006).

Cell Loss

The most frequent lesion in patients with TLE is mesial temporal sclerosis or hippocampal sclerosis, consisting of gliosis and neuronal loss in the CA1, CA3 and the hilus of the dentate gyrus (Houser et al., 1990). This typical pattern of neuronal loss characteristic of hippocampal sclerosis (Kapur et al, 1999; Lewis et al., 2000) can be produced experimentally by repeated or prolonged seizures and results presumably from excitotoxic damage subsequent to excessive activation of glutamate receptors (Olney et al., 1986; Sloviter et al., 1994). There are striking similarities between the pathology produced in experimental animals by prolonged seizures (Sloviter et al., 1991) or head trauma (Coulter et al., 1996) and the pathological changes seen in the hippocampus of many patients with TLE (Meldrum & Bruton, 1992). Seven days and two months post-status epilepticus rats showed significant neuron loss in the preendopiriform nucleus, layer III of the intermediate piriform cortex and layers II and III of the caudal piriform cortex (Chen et al., 2007). There is an extensive loss of dentate hilar neurons (Bausch & Chavkin., 1997) and hippocampal pyramidal cells. Cases have been demonstrated, where some granule cells of experimental animals are highly vulnerable (Sloviter et al., 1996). Seizure-induced astrocytic damage has also been documented (Schmidt-Kastner & Ingvar, 1996). Interestingly, in contrast to the many studies showing cell loss, a study described an increased generation of hippocampal granule cells as a consequence of seizures (Parent et al., 1997). It is hypothesized that the astrocytes in sclerotic tissue have activated molecular pathways that could lead to enhanced release of glutamate by these cells. Such glutamate release excites surrounding neurons and elicits seizure activity (Janigro, 2008). Induction of limbic epilepsy resulted in an increased proliferation of granule cells using bromodeoxyuridine labelling. Therefore, although death of certain cell populations was suggested as a main event during or as a result of epileptogenesis, there is also evidence of neurogenesis. Mechanistically, neuronal loss can occur with either active or passive participation of cellular constituents. This has been referred to as apoptosis

or necrosis (Kerr *et al.*, 1972). Apoptosis is a form of gene-mediated death characterised by specific morphological features: early nuclear chromatin condensation, cytoplasmic compaction with cell shrinkage, endonuclease-mediated DNA fragmentation into oligonucleosomes, apoptotic body formation and well-preserved organelles. In contrast, necrosis resulting from sudden injury with the cell unable to maintain homeostasis is characterized by early cytoplasmic vacuolization before any nuclear changes occurs and is associated with an inflammatory response (Tomei & Cope, 1991). It appears that epileptic neuronal death is primarily but not exclusively apoptotic (Charriaut-Marlangue & Ben-Ari, 1995). Long-term repetitive stimulation of the perforant path induced apoptosis in the granule cells but necrosis in the hilar and pyramidal cells (Sloviter *et al.*, 1996). The surviving granule cells showed dendritic deformations and shrinkage (Isokawa & Mello, 1991).

Axon Sprouting

In addition to the neuronal loss, the second morphological change induced in the hippocampus by seizures is sprouting of dentate granule cell axons which are commonly referred to as mossy fibres. This occurs in both animal models of epilepsy (Bausch & Chavkin, 1997) as well as in human epilepsy (Babb *et al.*, 1991). Denervation of the inner molecular layer secondary to hilar cell loss is believed to constitute the initial stimulus for sprouting (Tauck & Nadler, 1985). The sprouted mossy fibre axons appear to make synaptic contacts with granule cells and GABAergic basket cells. It has been proposed that seizure induced expression of neurotropic genes which is suggested to underlie the sprouting of axons of the granule cell layer (Sutula *et al.*, 1996). It has been established that nerve growth factor (NGF) protein levels in dentate granule cells are increased by seizure activity (Gall & Isackson, 1989).

Gliosis

Reactive gliosis occurs in response to injury, including pilocarpine- induced seizures, in the mature central nervous system (CNS). A salient manifestation of reactive gliosis is an increase in glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a protein subunit of glial intermediate filaments found exclusively in astrocytes in the CNS (Amaducci *et al.*, 1981). Glial proliferation characteristically accompanies neuronal loss seen in Ammon's horn sclerosis and after various insults including SE and contributes to epileptogenesis.

Dendritic Changes

Dendritic degeneration is another common pathological finding in TLE and its animal models (Isokawa et al., 1998). Neurons from the hippocampus and neocortex from patients with chronic focal epilepsy showed dramatic dendritic abnormalities. Dendritic spine loss has been repeatedly reported and has been suggested to be more severe with an increased duration of a seizure disorder (Multani et al., 1994). Dendrites of pyramidal cells have also been reported to have varicose swellings at irregular intervals along their length (Muller et al., 1993). It was established that following initial acute seizures, surviving neurons undergo substantial changes in the morphology and density of dendrites and spines in the chronic phase, during which the gradual development of spontaneous seizure is established (Isokawa et al., 1998). In the pilocarpine animal model of epilepsy, the membrane time constant of neurons, which can assess a cells total surface area and geographic extent of dendritic branches was reported to be significantly reduced in rats that experienced many spontaneous seizures in the chronic phase (Isokawa et al., 1996). This suggests that the higher the frequency of spontaneous seizures, the more severe the local dendritic shrinkage.

Mossy Fibre Sprouting and Impaired Inhibition

Mossy fiber sprouting is a form of synaptic reorganization in the dentate gyrus that occurs in human TLE and animal models of epilepsy. The axons of dentate gyrus granule cells, called mossy fibers, develop collaterals that grow into an abnormal location, the inner third of the dentate gyrus molecular layer. Electron microscopy has shown that sprouted fibers form synapses on both spines and dendritic shafts in the inner molecular layer, which are likely to represent the dendrites of granule cells and inhibitory neurons. One of the controversies about this phenomenon is whether mossy fiber sprouting contributes to seizures by forming novel recurrent excitatory circuits among granule cells. Sprouting mossy fibers synapse almost exclusively with excitatory neurons in the granule cell layer and molecular layer of the dentate gyrus. Lesioning the synaptic input from the entorhinal cortex to granule cells also triggers mossy fiber sprouting and synaptogenesis in adult rats (Laurberg & Zimmer, 1981; Frotscher & Zimmer, 1983). A variety of experimental treatments that produce epilepsy also induce axon sprouting in other brain regions (Perez et al., 1996; McKinney et al., 1997; Esclapez et al., 1999). Repeated intense seizures caused an attenuation of GABA mediated inhibition of the granule cells and in the pyramidal cells of the hippocampus (Coulter et al., 1996). This change cannot be explained by a selective loss of GABAergic inhibitory interneuron, since the GABA immunoreactive neurons were shown to be more resistant to seizure-induced injury than other hippocampal neurons (Sloviter et al., 1987). Preservation of GABAergic cells in surgical specimens from patients with epilepsy was confirmed (Babb et al., 1989). The neurons among the most sensitive to the seizure-induced neuronal death are the mossy cells in the dentate hilus (Sloviter et al., 1989). These cells receive synaptic input from granule cells via collaterals of mossy fibres and from the entorhinal cortex via the perforant path. To account for the paradoxical loss of GABA-mediated inhibition with preservation of GABAergic neurons, the dormant basket cell hypothesis (Sloviter et al., 1987) suggests that the seizure-induced loss of hilar excitatory neurons removes tonic excitatory projection to GABAergic basket cells, the inhibitory interneuron in the dentate hilus. Being deafferented these cells then lie dormant with the end result being disinhibition (Sloviter *et al.*, 1987). Loss of mossy cells which govern lateral inhibition in the dentate area cause functional delamination of the granule cell layer and result in synchronous multilamellar discharges in response to excitatory input (Sloviter *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, there are 3 premises to this theory: 1) the general preservation of the inhibitory network. 2) The loss of excitatory afferents to GABAergic interneuron, 3) decreased inhibition on principal cells.

Impaired Inhibition

Research into seizures has gravitated to mechanisms associated with synaptic transmission because of its critical role in maintaining the balance between excitation and inhibition. As more research has identified the molecular mechanisms of synaptic transmission, it has become appreciated that defects in almost every step can lead to seizures (Babb & Brown, 1987; Sutula et al., 1989). Glutamatergic and GABAergic transmission, as the major excitatory and inhibitory transmitters of the nervous system, respectively, have been examined in great detail. It is important to point out, however, that both glutamate and GABA not have a simple, direct relationship to seizures. One reason is that desensitization of glutamate and GABA receptors can reduce effects, depending on the time course of exposure. In addition, there are other reasons (Coulter et al., 1996). GABAergic transmission can lead to depolarization rather than hyperpolarization if the gradients responsible for ion flow through GABA receptors are altered. For example, chloride is the major ion that carries current through GABA_A receptors and it usually hyperpolarizes neurons because chloride flows into the cell from the extracellular space (Sloviter et al., 1987). However, the K^*Cl^- co-transporters (KCCs) that are pivotal to the chloride gradient are not constant. In development, transporter expression changes and this has led to evidence that one

of the transporters Na-K-Cl cotransporter-1 (NKCC1) which explains seizure susceptibility early in life. The relationship of glutamate to excitation is not always be simple either. One reason is that glutamatergic synapses innervate both glutamatergic neurons and GABAergic neurons in many neuronal systems (Sloviter et al., 1987). Exposure to glutamate could have little net effect as a result, or glutamate paradoxically increases inhibition of principal cells because the GABAergic neurons typically require less depolarization by glutamate to reach threshold. It is surprisingly difficult to predict how glutamatergic or GABAergic modulation will influence seizure generation in vivo, given these basic characteristics of glutamatergic and GABAergic transmission. Repeated intense seizures caused an attenuation of GABA mediated inhibition of the granule cells and in the pyramidal cells of the hippocampus (Coulter et al., 1996). This change cannot be explained by a selective loss of GABAergic inhibitory interneuron, since the GABA immunoreactive neurons were shown to be more resistant to seizure-induced injury than other hippocampal neurons (Sloviter et al., 1987). Preservation of GABAergic cells in surgical specimens from patients with epilepsy was confirmed (Babb et al., 1989). The neurons among the most sensitive to the seizure induced neuronal death are the mossy cells in the dentate hilus (Sloviter et al., 1989).

Pilocarpine Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

Pilocarpine is a potent cholinergic agonist originally isolated from the leaflets of *Pilocarpus microphyllus*. It is commonly used in the treatment of acute glaucoma in humans (Hardman *et al.*, 1996). Single systemic high dose (300-400 mg/kg) pilocarpine injection as a novel animal model of TLE was established (Turski *et al.*, 1983). The systemic administration of this muscarinic cholinergic agonist produced electroencephalographic and behavioral seizures, accompanied by widespread brain damage similar to that observed in autopsied brains of human epileptics. The electroencephalographic findings indicate that one of the most sensitive structures to

the convulsant effect of pilocarpine is the hippocampus, while other structures remain unaffected or only slightly affected at early time points following injection. It is generally accepted that the hippocampus is indeed one of the earliest structures affected following pilocarpine treatment. Later studies confirmed that the hippocampus is the earliest structure to be activated according to electroencephalogaphic recordings (Turski et al., 1983, 1989). One of the main features of the pilocarpine model that makes it very relevant for comparison to the human epileptic condition is the reproducible occurrence of SRS in rats injected with pilocarpine following a delay or silent period of about 2 weeks (Turski et al., 1983, 1989; Cavalheiro et al., 1991; Mello et al., 1993). Spontaneity is one of the prominent signs of human epilepsy, therefore strengthening the clinical importance of this model (Turski et al., 1983; Loscher & Schmidt, 1988). Pilocarpine seizures also provide an opportunity to study the involvement of the cholinergic system in the onset, propagation and pathological consequences of limbic seizures (Clifford et al., 1987). Behaviorally, pilocarpine seizures resemble other models of limbic seizures beginning with facial automatisms, head nodding and progressing to forelimb clonus with rearing and falling (Clifford et al., 1987). In terms of neuropathology, the cell damage that results from seizures was identical whether they are initiated with a high-dose pilocarpine injection or a lower dose of pilocarpine administered with lithium (Clifford et al., 1987). Lithium-pilocarpine is an analogous model to pilocarpine injection alone, except that lithium in combination with pilocarpine has been reported to produce a 20-fold shift in the pilocarpine dose-response curve for producing seizures (Clifford et al., 1987) thereby permitting the use of a much lower dose of pilocarpine. In terms of cell damage reported at the light microscope level, pilocarpine-induced seizures consistently produce damage in the olfactory nucleus, pyriform cortex, entorhinal cortex, thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus, lateral septum, bed nucleus of stria terminalis, claustrum, substantia nigra and neocortex (Turski et al., 1983; Clifford et al., 1987; Turski et al., 1989). In the hippocampus, the CA3 and

CA1 regions are involved and damage has been noted to be greater in ventral as opposed to dorsal hippocampal regions. Interestingly, the highest cholinergic receptor densities are in CA1 and the dentate gyrus, while the region most consistently and severely damaged is CA3 (Clifford *et al.*, 1987). This clearly indicates that the spread of seizure activity beyond the initial focus must entail activation of non-cholinergic pathways. Electron microscopic studies indicate the cellular changes include swelling of dendrites, swelling or vacuolar condensation of neuronal cell bodies and marked dilatation of astroglial elements with relative sparing of axonal components (Clifford *et al.*, 1987). The neuropathology reported with the pilocarpine model is consistent with prolonged seizures produced by other means (Ben-Ari *et al.*, 1985; Kapur *et al.*, 1989; Hajnal *et al.*, 1997) These findings support that pilocarpine SE model is useful in studying the molecular mechanisms of neuropathology and screening neuroprotectants following cholinergic agonist exposure.

ROLE OF NEUROTRANSMITTERS IN EPILEPSY

GABA

GABA is the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS (Sivilotti & Nistri, 1991). Inhibitory inter-neurons that make use of GABA as their neurotransmitter are found throughout the brain, but in any region they comprise a wide range of morphological and functional types that participate in different circuits with principal neurons. Thus, in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus it is possible to distinguish 16 different types of GABAergic interneurons on the basis of their morphology, specific protein content (e.g., calbindin, calretinin, parvalbumin), and pattern of firing in relation to ongoing rhythms and oscillatory firing of pyramidal neurons (Kaila, 1997). Through the mechanism of recurrent inhibitory feedback, GABAergic interneurons in the cortex terminate local sustained burst firing and, through inhibitory surround, limit

the lateral spread of seizure activity. Chemical agents that impair GABAergic inhibition are powerful convulsants.

Precise GABAergic synaptic signaling is critical to the accurate transmission of information within neural circuits and even slight disruptions can produce hypersynchronous activity (Chagnac-Amitai & Connors, 1989). Moreover, changes in ambient GABA can alter tonic inhibition and thus the overall synaptic tone of a brain region (Farrant & Nusser, 2005). The mechanisms of GABA synthesis and degradation are well understood. Glutamate is decarboxylated to GABA via glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD). GABA that is released into the synaptic cleft, is transported in to both astrocytes and interneurons through specific transporters. Transported GABA can be repackaged for subsequent release in interneuronal terminals while astrocytic GABA is usually metabolized via GABA-transaminase (GABA-T). These metabolic cycles are reviewed (Martin & Tobin, 2000; Bak et al., 2006). However, there is an increasing recognition that regulating neurotransmitter metabolism provides another avenue for neuromodulation. In terms of the GABAergic system, the anticonvulsant vigabatrin enhances the GABA content of neurons and glia by blocking its degradation, thereby increasing vesicular concentrations (French, 1999) while the expression of the synthetic enzyme, GAD, is enhanced following a seizure (Feldblum et al., 1990; Esclapez & Houser, 1999). Moreover, both experimental and modeling studies have shown that modulating the intracellular content determines the degree of vesicular GABA release (Engel et al., 2001; Wu et al., 200; Axmacher et al., 2004). Liang et al (2006) showed that blocking neuronal glutamine uptake reduces evoked inhibitory potentials (IPSCs) in a highly usedependent fashion, presumably by limiting glutamate availability within interneurons. Similar data were presented by Fricke et al (2007). Studies using isotopically labeled compounds suggest that the bulk of GABA that is released during neurotransmission is freshly synthesized from glutamine rather than transported from the extracellular space (Waagepetersen et al., 2001). In addition, there is evidence that GAD and the vesicular transporter for GABA (vGAT) form a protein complex (Jin *et al.*, 2003). These data suggest that newly synthesized GABA is preferred substrate for vesicle loading. Consistent with the hypothesis that synaptic inhibition relies on newly synthesized GABA, transported glutamate is used for GABA synthesis (Mathews & Diamond, 2003) and blocking neuronal glutamate transport is associated with seizure activity *in vivo* (Sepkuty *et al.*, 2002). The consequences of this dependence on freshly synthesized GABA, as compared to transported and repackaged transmitter, have not been studied in detail using *in vitro* preparations where better controlled studies of physiological responses can be obtained. There is an extensive literature showing that seizures can be provoked by blocking GABA synthesis with 3-mercaptoproprionic acid (MPA) *in vivo* (Mares *et al.*, 1993). These studies were demonstrating the involvement of GABA in the prevention of the overstimulation of neuronal networks.

GABA Receptors

GABA mediates its actions *via* three distinct receptors: the ionotropic GABA_A and GABA_C receptors and the metabotropic GABA_B receptors (Bormann, 2000). In addition to its CNS functions, the GABAergic system is also present in peripheral tissues, including the gastrointestinal tract (Gilon *et al.*, 1990; 1991; Harty *et al.*, 1991; Krantis *et al.*, 1994). Ionotropic GABA receptors are the most important Cl⁻ channels in the central nervous system CNS, and their expression has also been found in peripheral organs. These receptors mediate a fast inhibitory neurotransmission in the CNS (Akinci & Schofield, 1999). Ionotropic GABA receptors can be categorized into GABA_A and GABA_C receptors based on their subunit compositions and pharmacological properties (Bormann, 2000).

 $GABA_B$ receptors mediate slow prolonged inhibition in the brain by activating postsynaptic G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (GIRKs) and inactivating presynaptic voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. GABA_B receptors also inhibit

adenylate cyclase, leading to diminished activity of PKA signaling pathways (Bowery, 2006). Structurally GABA_B receptors are members of the class C family of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) and are encoded in vertebrates by two genes - GABA_B receptor-1 (GABA_BR1) and GABA_BR2 respectively (Bettler *et al.*, 2004; Couve *et al.*, 2002).

In tissue resected from patients with temporal lobe epilepsy, the number of GABA receptors is reduced in areas of hippocampus showing neuronal cell loss (McDonald et al, 1991; Johnson et al, 1992). Reduced BZD binding to GABA, receptors in mesial temporal lobe of such patients can be detected in vivo by noninvasive positron emission tomography imaging (Savic et al., 1988). These changes are likely secondary to cell loss and not specific for GABA-receptive cells. Recent studies have shown some changes in GABA_A receptors that occur in the neocortex of patients undergoing epilepsy surgery. These patients had TLE with severe damage and sprouting in limbic structures. Increased levels of steroid modulation of GABA, receptor ligand binding in neocortex were detected in patients with TLE. Increase in binding of diazepam- insensitive sites for the BZD ligand $[^{3}H]Ro15-4513$ associated with the $\alpha 4$ GABA receptor subunit was also observed (Van Ness et al., 1995). Therefore, changes in the properties, rather than the number of GABA receptors possibly related to plastic changes in subunit combinations result in an altered regulation of inhibitory function. Human focal epilepsy occurs commonly in the mesial temporal lobe often associated with Ammon's horn sclerosis. This is accompanied by severe gliosis and a sprouting in the molecular layer of the dentate gym (Babb et al., 1989) as well as a dispersion of the granule cell layer (Houser et al., 1990). This loss of neurons in the hippocampal formation is evident in CA3 and hilus, especially hilar mossy cells as evidenced by several neuronal markers including GAD and GABA receptors. One can mimic these changes in animals by producing lesions or using massive stimulation of hippocampal input (Sloviter et al., 1991), kindling paradigms (Cavazos et al, 1991), or systemic kainite (Cronin et al.,

1992) or pilocarpine (Cavalheiro *et al.*, 1991). Like the human condition, these models involve end-folium sclerosis, including hilar interneuron loss and dentate granule cell hyperexcitability. The granule cells normally are inhibited laterally by hilar interneurons, which are excited by mossy cells that innervate them longitudinally. Loss of these mossy cells has been proposed to make the surviving GABAergic basket cells "dormant," thus disinhibiting long stretches of granule cells (Sloviter *et al.*, 1991). In the pilocarpine model, there is loss of hilar cells, including GABAergic interneurons accompanied by decreased levels of mRNA and immunoreactivity of the GABA_A receptor α 5 subunit in CA1/2 (Houser *et al.*, 1995). Loss of α 5 and α 2 mRNA was also observed by another group of investigators (Rice *et al.*, 1996) who demonstrated decreased GABA, synaptic activity in CA1. Therefore, in several of these animal models, there is evidence of reduced GABA-mediated inhibition.

GABA_A Receptors

GABA_A receptors are pentameric in structure, with the five subunits arranged like spokes of a wheel around a central CI⁻ selective pore (Barnard, 2001). Nineteen GABA receptor subunits have been cloned from rats, which include $\alpha 1-6$, $\beta 1-3$, $\gamma 1-3$, $\rho 1-3$, δ , θ , ε , and π (Whiting *et al.*, 1999). The 19 subunits ($\alpha 1-6$, $\beta 1-3$, $\gamma 1-3$, δ , ε , θ , π , $\rho 1-2$) are encoded by 19 distinct genes. Each subunit has four transmembrane segments, with both the amino and carboxy termini located extracellularly. These extracellular segments form the recognition sites (two per channel) for GABA and also, in some channel types, the recognition site (one per channel) for benzodiazepinelike allosteric modulators. The subunit composition determines both the biophysical properties of the receptor–channel complex and its pharmacology, most notably the sensitivity to benzodiazepines (BDZ) (Rudolph & Mohler 2004; Johnston, 2005). A typical benzodiazepine-sensitive GABA_A receptor consists of two $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, or $\alpha 5$ subunits, two $\beta 2$ or $\beta 3$ subunits (or one each) and a $\gamma 2$ subunit.

Classically, GABA_A receptors have been recognized as mediating phasic inhibition through the generation of fast, transient, rapidly desensitizing currents (IPSCs) in postsynaptic neurons in response to synaptically released GABA. More recently, it has been recognized that GABAA receptors also contribute to tonic (extrasynaptic) inhibition, representing the Cl⁻ conductance activated at nonsynaptic sites in response to background concentrations of GABA (Farrant & Nusser, 2005). Phasic and tonic inhibitions are mediated by GABA_A receptors with different subunit composition, GABA affinities and rates of desensitization. The most notable difference in subunit composition is that the receptors mediating tonic inhibition contain the δ subunit, rather than the γ subunit characteristic of synaptic GABA_A receptors (Nusser *et al.*, 1998). Receptors containing $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, or $\alpha 6$ are commonly found nonsynaptically. Pharmacologically, the most notable difference is that receptors with $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 6$, or δ subunits are not potentiated by benzodiazepines or by nonbenzodiazepine benzodiazepine receptor agonists (such as zolpidem), whereas those with $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 5$, or $\gamma 2$ subunits are benzodiazepine sensitive. The benzodiazepine-sensitive α subunits (α 1, α 2, α 3, α 5) differ from the insensitive ones $(\alpha 4, \alpha 6)$ in possessing a histidine residue at position 101.

Genetic studies in humans reveal a range of idiopathic generalized epilepsy syndromes linked to mutations in the GABA_A receptor (Macdonald *et al.*, 2004). It is noted that these syndromes are phenotypically indistinguishable from those associated with mutations in voltage-gated ion channels. For example, a mutation in the GABA_A receptor α 1 subunit is associated with autosomal dominant juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (Cossette *et al.*, 2004); the mutation reduces peak current by decreasing trafficking of the subunit, so that there is deficient surface expression (Macdonald *et al.*, 2004). Mutations involving the γ 2 subunit in two cases associated with generalized epilepsy with febrile seizures plus (GEFS+) and in two cases associated with childhood absence epilepsy with febrile convulsions have been found to alter the kinetic properties of the receptor and also their surface expression (Macdonald *et al.*, *al.*, *al.*,

2004). Three mutations in families with GEFS+ involving the δ subunit (Dibbens *et al.*, 2004) are associated with reduced current, suggesting that impairment of tonic inhibition by extrasynaptic GABA receptors can also produce epilepsy. Studies in genetically modified mice have revealed spontaneous seizures in β 3 knockout mice (DeLorey *et al.*, 1998) supporting the interpretation that the seizures that are a prominent feature of the Angelman syndrome (which, in addition to other genetic abnormalities, lacks the β 3 gene) are due specifically to defects in GABA_A receptors.

GABA_B Receptors

The GABA_B receptor is part of the class C of GPCRs that also includes the mGlu, the Ca²⁺-sensing and the sweet and umami taste receptors among others (Pin et al., 2003). These receptors are dimers, either homodimers linked by a disulphide bond (mGlu and Ca²⁺-sensing receptors) or heterodimers made of two similar, but distinct subunits (the GABA_B and taste receptors). Indeed, the GABA_B receptor was the first GPCR to be identified that requires two distinct subunits to function: the GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} subunits (Jones et al., 1998; White et al., 1998; Kaupmann et al., 2003). Although the GABA_{B1} subunit was soon shown to bind all known GABA_B ligands (both agonists and antagonists) this protein did not form a functional GABA_B receptor when expressed alone (Kaupmann et al., 1997). Only when GABA_{B1} was coexpressed with the homologous GABA_{B2} subunit was a functional GABA_B receptor observed, either in cell lines or in cultured neurons. The GABA_B dimeric entity was confirmed in native tissue (Kaupmann et al., 1998). Indeed, both GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} mRNAs are co-localized in most brain regions. Second, both proteins are found in the same neurons, even in the same subcellular compartments as observed at the electron microscopic level. Moreover, co-immunoprecipitation of GABA_{B1} with a GABA_{B2} antibody could be demonstrated from brain membranes. Eventually, mice lacking either GABA_{B1} or GABA_{B2} share very similar phenotypes and none of the known GABA_B-mediated responses could be measured in either mice (Prosser et al.,

2001; Schuler *et al.*, 2001). Although unusual baclofen mediated inhibition of GIRK channels could be observed in mice lacking $GABA_{B2}$, it is still not known whether this represents a natural response, or is the consequence of the absence of the $GABA_{B2}$ subunit. Taken together, these data demonstrate that the assembly between these two proteins is required to get a functional $GABA_B$ receptor in native tissues.

GABA_B receptors play an important role in maintaining excitatory-inhibitory balance in brain and alterations can lead to seizures (Hossein et al 2008). GABA_B receptors, the metabotropic receptors for GABA, are G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) which regulate neuronal excitability both pre and postsynaptically. The action of GABA at presynaptic GABA_B receptors is to reduce Ca²⁺ influx and thus inhibit neurotransmitter release (Takahashi et al., 1998). These receptors exist on GABAergic terminals (autoreceptors), or on terminals arising from cells containing other neurotransmitters, such as glutamate (heteroreceptors). Postsynaptically, GABA_B receptors are responsible for the generation of the late inhibitory postsynaptic potential (IPSP), via the opening of K⁺ channels and inhibit adenylate cyclase (Bettler et al., 1998). Abnormality in either of these functions could have consequences for the generation and/or prevention of epileptic seizures. Multiple laboratories have demonstrated altered expression of GABA_BR1 and GABA_BR2 in animal models for seizure disorders (Straessle et al., 2003; Princivalle et al., 2003; Han et al., 2006). Han et al. (2006) found that as a result of multiple seizures, there was a long-term decrease in GABA_BR1 (15 days) and GABA_BR2 (30 days) expression in rat hippocampus. Following an injection of kainic acid into the dorsal hippocampus in mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy, Straessle et al. (2003) observed a rapid decline in GABA_BR1 and GABA_BR2 in CA1, CA3c, and hilus. Princivalle et al. (2003) observed that the corticothalamic circuit, using genetic absence epilepsy rats from strasbourg (GARES), found increased GABA_BR1 and GABA_BR2 protein expression in somatosensory cortex, ventrobasal, and reticular thalamic nuclei (Princivalle et al., 2003). Moreover, knockout mice lacking GABA_BR1 exhibit epilepsy, enhanced prepulse inhibition,

impaired memory and die prematurely largely as a result of development of generalized seizures (Prosser *et al.*, 2001; Schuler *et al.*, 2001). Taken together, these animal studies suggest that the changes in the number GABA_B receptors lead to epilepsy, due to changes in transmitter release (presynaptic) and inhibition (postsynaptic). Accordingly, GABA neurons have been alternately proposed to be highly vulnerable or relatively invulnerable after insults known to cause epilepsy (Ribak *et al.*, 1979; Sloviter *et al.*, 1987) and GABA-mediated inhibition is reportedly decreased, in animal models of epilepsy (Dalby *et al* 2001).

GABA_C Receptors

GABA_C receptors, which are a subfamily of GABA_A receptors, are members of the Cys-loop superfamily of ligand-gated ion channels (LGICs), an important group of receptors involved in rapid synaptic transmission and whose malfunction can result in a variety of neurological disorders; hence, understanding their mechanism of action is of considerable pharmacological interest. GABA_C receptors are mostly located in retinal neurons where they play a role in retinal signaling involved in diseases such as macromolecular degeneration (Bormann, 2000). The receptors are activated by the binding of GABA, the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system. GABA_C receptors have distinct pharmacological properties from GABA_A receptors, e.g., they are not inhibited by bicuculline, the classic GABA_A receptor antagonist (Barnard et al., 1998; Chebib et al., 2000). Like all the LGICs belonging to the Cysloop superfamily, GABA_c receptors are composed of five subunits arranged in a pentagonal array around a central ion-permeant pore. Each subunit has an extracellular N-terminal domain (ECD), a transmembrane domain composed of four a-helices, and an intracellular domain. Three subunits (ρ_{1-3}) have been identified; these can all form functional homomeric or heteromeric receptors (Enz, 2001).

Similar to $GABA_A$ receptors, they possess a high permeability to CI^- , but in contrast to $GABA_A$ channels, they are insensitive to bicuculline, barbiturates and

benzodiazepines (Polenzani *et al.*, 1991). The activity of GABA_C receptors is regulated by extracellular agents, such as Zn^{2+} , H⁺, Ca^{2+} (Wang *et al.*, 1995; Kaneda *et al.*, 1997) and also by intracellular factors, such as Ca^{2+} , phosphatases and kinases (Feigenspan & Bormann, 1994*b*; Kusama *et al.*, 1995). Protein phosphorylation is postulated to be an important physiological mechanism for regulating GABA mediated synaptic inhibition (Moss *et al.*, 1992; Moss & Smart, 1996).

Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase

GABA the main inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain, is synthesized by GAD. GAD exists in two isoforms termed GAD65 and GAD67 due to their molecular weights of 65 and 67 kDa, respectively. These enzymes are the products of two independently regulated genes sharing 65% sequence homology in rats (Erlander et al., 1991a; 1991b, Bu et al., 1992). Most GABAergic interneurons express both subtypes of GAD (Houser & Esclapez 1994; Esclapez et al., 1994) which are simultaneously detectable in the rat brain as early as embryonic day 17 (Dupuy & Houser, 1996). GAD67 is found in axonal regions as well as in neuronal cell bodies, whereas GAD65 is mainly associated with synaptic terminals (Kaufman et al., 1991). Therefore it has been suggested that GAD67 mostly provides a pool of GABA for general metabolic activity while GABA synthesized by GAD65 is likely to be more involved in synaptic transmission (Martin & Rimvall, 1993). Mice lacking GAD65 are vital and do not exhibit changes in their brain GABA content though they have an increased susceptibility to seizures (Asada et al., 1996; Kash et al., 1997). During embryogenesis the mRNA coding for GAD67 is regulated by alternative splicing (Bond et al., 1990; Szabo et al., 1994). At least two additional transcripts exist, I-80 and I-86 (summarized as EGAD), distinguished by insertions of 80 or 86 base pair (bp) in GAD67 mRNA, respectively. The two inserts are identical with exception of the 6 bp at the 3'-end of the larger fragment containing an overlapping stop-start codon. The complete coding region of embryonic GAD messages comprises

1,860 (80 bp insert) and 1,866 bp (86 bp insert). Both embryonic transcripts code for a short enzymatically inactive GAD protein of 25 kDa (GAD25) which corresponds to the amino-terminal regulatory region of GAD67 and therefore has putative regulatory functions. Termination-reinitiation at the stop-start codon of I-80 additionally produces an enzymatically active protein of 44 kDa (GAD44) corresponding to the carboxy-terminal catalytic domain of GAD67 that contains the pyridoxal phosphate cofactor binding site (Szabo *et al.*, 1994).

The early finding that baby food deficient in vitamin B6 (a cofactor of the GABA-synthesizing enzyme GAD) caused vitamin-reversible seizures provided one of the first clues that seizures might be caused by reduced synthesis of GABA (Hunt et al., 1954, Bankier et al., 1983). Accordingly, GABA neurons have been alternately proposed to be highly vulnerable or relatively invulnerable after insults known to cause epilepsy (Ribak et al., 1979; Sloviter, 1987) and GABA-mediated inhibition is reportedly altered, in a variety of constantly compared but greatly dissimilar animal models (Dalby & Mody, 2001). The use of GAD immunocytochemistry in kindled and control tissue was used to allow direct anatomic confirmation for measuring changes in GAD-immunoreactivity (GAD-IR) which would represent GABA synthesis for release by the recurrent inhibitory system of the fascia dentata. Immediately after the last kindled seizure, optically detected GAD-IR puncta densities were significantly reduced in stratum granulosum. At 3 or 7 days after the last kindled seizure (Babb et al., 1989). GAD65-/- mice develop spontaneous seizures that result in increased mortality. Seizures can be precipitated by fear or mild stress. Seizure susceptibility is dramatically increased in GAD65 mice backcrossed into a second background, the nonobese diabetic strain of mice enabling genetic electroencephalogram analysis of the seizures. The generally higher basal brain GABA levels in this backcross are significantly decreased by the GAD65 mutation, suggesting that the relative contribution of GABA synthesized by GAD65 to total brain GABA levels is genetically determined (Kash et al., 1997).

Acetylcholine

The cholinergic system plays a crucial role in modulating cortical and in particular hippocampal functions including processes such as learning and memory (Ashe & Weimberger, 1991; Dunnett & Fibiger, 1993; Huerta & Lisman, 1993; Shen *et al.*, 1994; Winkler *et al.*, 1995). Cholinergic actions are involved in the physiopathogenesis of epileptic discharges as suggested by the ability of some cholinergic agents to induce limbic seizures and histopathological changes resembling those seen in patients with TLE (Turski *et al.*, 1989; Liu *et al.*, 1994; Nagao *et al.*, 1996; Dickson & Alonso 1997). Cholinergic stimulation of cortical neurons, including those located within the hippocampal formation, results in excitatory effects that are mediated mainly through the activation of muscarinic receptors (McCormick *et al.*, 1993).

Cholinergic innervation is present in the subiculum, which is a major synaptic relay station between the hippocampus proper and several limbic structures that are involved in cognitive processes (Amaral & Witter, 1989; Lopes da Silva et al., 1990). Subjcular neurons are also involved in the spread of seizure activity within the limbic system (Lothman et al., 1991). To date little is known about the effects of cholinergic agents in the subiculum. The EC is known to be a "gateway" for the bi-directional passage of information in the neocortical hippocampalneocortical circuit (Van Hoesen, 1982; Witter et al., 1989; Lopes da Silva et al., 1990) via a cascade of cortico-cortical projections, the superficial layers of the EC (II and III) receive an extensive input from polymodal sensory cortices (Jones & Powell, 1970; Van Hoesen & Pandya, 1975; Amaral et al., 1983; Deacon et al., 1983; Room & Groenewegen, 1986) that is then conveyed to the hippocampal formation via the perforant path (Steward & Scoville, 1976). In turn, the hippocampal formation projects back on the deep layers of the Entorhinal Cortex (EC) which provide output paths that reciprocate the input channels (Swanson & Cowan, 1977; Swanson & Kohler, 1986; Insausti et al., 1997). In addition, the deep layers of the EC also project massively on the EC

superficial layers (Kohler, 1986) thereby closing an EC-hippocampal loop. Thus, by virtue of its extensive projection systems, the EC network acts powerfully in the generalization of temporal lobe seizures. The EC is also known to receive a profuse cholinergic input from the basal forebrain that terminates primarily in layers II and V (Lewis & Shute, 1967; Mellgren & Srebro, 1973; Milner *et al.*, 1983; Alonso & Kohler, 1984; Lysakowski *et al.*, 1989; Gaykema *et al.*, 1990), recisely those layers that gate the main hippocampal input and output. It is well known that the cholinergic system promotes cortical activation and the expression of normal population oscillatory dynamics. In the EC, *in vivo* electrophysiological studies have shown that the cholinergic theta rhythm is generated primarily by cells in layer II (Mitchell & Ranck, 1980; Alonso & Garcı'a-Austt, 1987; Dickson *et al.*, 1995). In addition, *in vitro* studies have also shown that muscarinic receptor activation promotes the development of intrinsic oscillations in EC layer II neurons (Klink & Alonso, 1997). On the other hand, some evidence indicates that altered activity of the cholinergic system is relevant to epileptogenesis.

Epinephrine and Norepinephrine

The modification of the seizure activity by the noradrenergic system was reported early (Chen *et al.*, 1954). Four major observations have supported an anticonvulsant role for norepinephrine (NE): (1) selective lesioning of noradrenergic neurons (with 6-hydroxydopamine or DSP-4) increases seizure susceptibility to a variety of convulsant stimuli (Arnold *et al.*, 1973; Jerlicz *et al.*, 1978; Mason & Corcoran, 1979; Snead *et al.*, 1987; Trottier *et al.*, 1988; Sullivan & Osorio, 1991; Mishra *et al.*, 1994) (2) direct stimulation of the locus coeruleus (LC), the major concentration of noradrenergic cell bodies in the CNS and the subsequent release of NE reduce CNS sensitivity to convulsant stimuli (Libet *et al.*, 1977; Turski *et al.*, 1989) (3) genetically epilepsy-prone rats (GEPRs), a widely used animal model of epilepsy, have deficient presynaptic NE content, NE turnover, tyrosine hydroxylase

levels, dopamine β -hydroxylase (DBH) levels and NE uptake (Jobe *et al.*, 1984; Dailey & Jobe, 1986; Browning *et al.*, 1989; Dailey *et al.*, 1991) (4) adrenergic agonists acting at the α_2 adrenoreceptor (α_2 -AR) have anticonvulsant action (Loscher & Czuczwar, 1987; Fletcher & Forster, 1988; Jackson *et al.*, 1991). α_2 -AR is known to have a regulatory role in the sympathetic function (Das *et al.*, 2006). The lesioning studies (i.e., chemical destruction of noradrenergic terminals) reduce the amount of NE release, this manipulation also reduces the release of other transmitters released with NE. The neuropeptides galanin and neuropeptide Y (NPY) and the neurotransmitter adenosine (ATP) are released at noradrenergic terminals and have been shown to exert anticonvulsant effects against several convulsant stimuli (Murray *et al.*, 1985; Mazarati *et al.*, 1992; 1998; Dichter *et al.*, 1994; Erickson *et al.*, 1996; Baraban *et al.*, 1997).

Dopamine

The mammalian prefrontal cortex (PFC) receives a substantial dopaminergic innervation from the midbrain ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Bjorklund & Lindvall 1984). Dopamine (DA) is an endogenous neuromodulator in the cerebral cortex and is believed to be important for normal brain processes (Williams & Goldman-Rakic, 1995). There is strong evidence that alterations in dopamine function play a role in pathogenesis of a number of neuropsychiatric diseases including epilepsy (Starr *et al.*, 1996). *In vivo* studies have shown that dopamine increase and decrease spontaneous firing of neocortical neurons (Bunney & Aghajanian, 1976; Reader *et al.*, 1979; Ferron *et al.*, 1984; Bradshaw *et al.*, 1985). Dopamine favour long-lasting transitions of PFC neurons to a more excitable up state. *In vitro* electrophysiological experiments suggest that dopamine has multiple effects on PFC neurons. Both increases (Penit-Soria *et al.*, 1987; Yang & Seamans, 1996; Ceci *et al.*, 1999) and decreases (Geijo-Barrientos & Pastore, 1995) in postsynaptic excitability of pyramidal neurons have been reported following DA D1 receptor activation. In addition, changes in

excitability mediated by DA D2 receptors have been reported (Gulledge & Jaffe, 2001; Tseng & O'Donnell, 2004). The effects of dopamine on synaptic responses are also complex and species-specific. AMPA receptor mediated excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) in layer V pyramidal cells are depressed by a DA D1 receptormediated effect of dopamine (Law-Tho et al., 1994; Seamans et al., 2001). NMDA responses have been reported to be both enhanced (Seamans et al., 2001) and depressed (Law-Tho et al., 1994). EPSCs in layers II/III are enhanced by dopamine in rats (Gonzalez-Islas & Hablitz, 2003) but decreased in primates (Urban et al., 2002). The cerebral cortex contains interconnected local and distant networks of excitatory and inhibitory neurons. Stability of activity in such networks depends on the balance between recurrent excitation and inhibition (Durstewitz et al., 2000; Shu et al., 2003). A shift of the balance toward excitation leads to the generation of epileptiform activity. The presence of massive recurrent excitatory connections that depend on inhibition for regulation has been implicated in the susceptibility of the neocortex and the hippocampus to develop epileptiform activity and seizures (McCormick & Conteras, 2001). Dopamine is known to modulate epileptiform discharges both in vivo (Alam & Starr 1993) and in vitro (Suppes et al., 1985; Alam & Starr 1993; 1994; Siniscalchi et al., 1997; Cepeda et al., 1999). In vivo studies in different models of epilepsy have suggested that dopamine have a pro-convulsant effect mediated by DA D₁ receptors and an anti-convulsant effect via DA D₂ receptors (Starr et al., 1996). Dopamine-mediated recruitment of neurons in local excitatory circuits and synchronization of activity in these neurons underlie these effects of dopamine in neocortex. Local excitatory neocortical networks are complexes of interconnected pyramidal neurons.

Several anti-epileptic drugs increase extracellular levels of dopamine and/or serotonin in brain areas involved in epileptogenesis. Behavioural and electrocorticographic studies in rats have shown that DA controls hippocampal excitability via opposing actions at DA D1 and DA D2 receptors. Seizure

37

enhancement is presumed to be a specific feature of D1 receptor stimulation, whereas DA D2 receptor stimulation is anticonvulsant (Alam & Starr, 1993). Decreased DA D2 receptor binding in the brainstem were reported in other neurological diseases like diabetes.

Serotonin

Central 5-HT_{1A} receptors function both as somatodendric presynaptic autorecptors in the raphe nuclei as postsynaptic receptors in terminal field areas such as the hippocampus and many have different functional and regulatory characteristics, depending on the structures innervated (Barnes et al., 1999). In the raphe nuclei activation of 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptors produces inhibition of serotonergic neurons and decreases 5-HT release and neurotransmission. In contrast, postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptor activation in the hippocampus increases 5-HT neurotransmission (Clarke et al., 1996). The 5-HT_{IA} somatodendric autorecptors and postsynaptic receptors differ in their adaptive response to prolonged stimulation during long term treatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) such as fluoxetine, which has antiseizure effects in several models (Hernandez et al., 2002). The fluoxetine effect is not dependent on GABA receptors, mediated by multiple receptor subtypes and shows regional variation (Pasini et al., 1996). Rats treated over the long term with fluoxetine showed desensitation of 5-HT_{1A} somatodendric autoreceptors in the dorsal raphe nucleus but not of postsynaptic 5-HT_{1A} receptors in the hippocampus (Le Poul *et al.*, 2000).

5-HT_{1A} receptor activation elicits a membrane hyper polarization response related to increase potassium conductance (Beck *et al.*, 1991) and has an anticonvulsant effect in various experimental *in vivo* as well as *in vitro* seizure models. Including hippocampal kindled seizures in cats, intrahippocampal kainic acid induced seizures in freely moving rats and picrotoxin-bicuculline and kainic acid induced seizures in rat hippocampal slice preparations. The anticonvulsant effects of

5-HT_{IA} receptor activation differ from region to region and from model to model. 5-HT is reported to inhibit low Mg^{2+} -induced epileptiform activity, by reduction of NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory postsynaptic potentials in the subiculum and entorhinal cortex but not on areas CA3 and CA1 of hippocampus (Behr *et al.*, 1996).

The genetically epilepsy prone rat model (GEPR) illustrates 5-HT effects on seizure susceptibility. GEPRs have decreased 5-HT_{1A} receptor density in the hippocampus compared to non epileptic control rats (Statnick *et al.*, 1996). In addition the SSR1 sertraline produces a dose dependent reduction in the intensity of audiogenic seizures in GEPRs, correlating with increased extracellular thalamic 5-HT concentrations (Yan *et al.*, 1995). However the model is complex and other neurotransmitters play a role, as 5-HT receptor activation increases release of catecholamines (Yan *et al.*, 1998). 5-HT_{1B} receptor was reported to inhibit rat ventral tegmental GABA release and 5-HT_{1B/1D} activation increases nucleus accumbens dopamine release (Yan *et al.*, 2001).

Other receptor subtypes have received less attention. One study suggested an excitatory role of 5-HT₃ receptors in a rat kindling model (Wada *et al.*, 1997). Blockade of a number of receptors- 5-HT₃ and 5-HT_{2A/C} was reported to not alter the reduction in seizure severity and increase in the threshold produced by fluoxetine (Watanabe *et al.*, 1998) Several knock out mouse models suggest a relation between 5-HT, hippocampal dysfunction and epilepsy. 5-HT_{1A} knockout mice display lower seizure thresholds and higher lethality in response to kainic acid administration. Furthermore, 5-HT_{1A} knockout mouse demonstrate impaired hippocampal dependent learning and enhanced anxiety related behaviours. Interactions between serotonergic and other neurotransmitters contribute to the behavioural phenotype (Sarnyai *et al.*, 2000). 5-HT_{2C} receptor knockout mice showed a combination of obesity and sound induced seizures. Other receptor types are not altered in this model suggesting that the clinical effects are receptor subtype specific (Heiser *et al.*, 1998). In contrast activation of 5-HT_{2C} receptors potentates cocaine induced seizures. The up-regulation

of 5-HT_{2c} receptors were reported in the brain stem which induce sympathetic stimulation were reported.

Glutamate

Glutamate cause convulsions when administered focally or systemically to experimental animals. Glutamate exerts its excitatory action *via* ligand-gated ion channels (NMDA and non-NMDA receptors) to increase sodium and calcium conductance. Reciprocal regulatory interactions exist between the activation of glutamatergic receptors and other transmitter systems, ion transport, gene activation and receptor modification. The flexibility and complexity of these interactions place glutamate-mediated transmission in a pivotal position for modulating the excitatory threshold of pathways involved in seizure generation. All classes of NMDA receptor antagonists (competitive NMDA antagonists, channel site antagonists, glycine site antagonists, polyamine site antagonists), as well as competitive and noncompetitive AMPA/kainate antagonists, display wide-spectrum anticonvulsant properties in acute and chronic animal epilepsy models, with varying degrees of behavioral side effects, ranging from minimal for some of the glycine site or competitive NMDA antagonists, to extensive for some of the high affinity open-channel NMDA antagonists.

Transgenic mice with an editing-deficient AMPA receptor subunit, GluR2, display early onset of epilepsy. The GluR2 subunit confers an almost complete block of calcium conductance in homomeric or heteromeric AMPA receptors. Both the GluR2 receptor level and the RNA editing process are reduced significantly and the corresponding AMPA-evoked calcium current in pyramidal neurons increased significantly in accordance with the enhanced seizure susceptibility in these mice (Brusa *et al.*, 1995). Neuronal (EAAC-1) and glial (GLT-1 and GLAST) glutamate transporters facilitate glutamate and aspartate reuptake after synaptic release. A down regulation of glutamate transporters would be compatible with enhanced excitatory activity. Transgenic mice with GLT-1 knockout display spontaneous epileptic activity

(Tanaka *et al.*, 1997) and mice treated chronically with antisense probes to EAAC-1 shows reduced transporter levels and increased epileptic activity (Rothstein *et al.*, 1996). The reported changes in glutamate receptors and transporters subsequent to sustained or chronic epilepsy are less consistent and frequently transient in nature; some of these changes reflect patterns of cell loss. A functional enhancement of NMDA receptors is observed in amygdala-kindled rats and in resected tissue from humans with TLE (Mody *et al.*, 1998). The molecular alterations in the NMDA receptor responsible for this functional up regulation are not clearly defined but probably involve altered phosphorylation. Changes in the editing of the mGluR2 AMPA subunit been reported in resected hippocampi from some patients with refractory epilepsy (Grigorenko *et al.*, 1997). The mRNA levels of multiple AMPA subunits are also altered in kindled rats and in rats after sustained seizure activity evoked by kainate or pilocarpine.

Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) are classified into three functional groups on the bases of their sequence homology, second messenger effectors and pharmacology (Dingledine & Conn 2000). Group I comprises mGluR1 and mGluR5, which are linked *via* G proteins to activation of phospholipase C. Group II mGluR2 and mGluR3 and Group III mGluR4, mGluR6, mGluR7, mGluR8 are both negatively linked to adenylyl cyclase activation. Activation of Group I mGluR enhances neuronal excitability by several mechanisms (blockade of accommodation to a steady current, potentiation of the effects of NMDA and AMPA and depolarization); accordingly, agonists acting on Group I receptors have convulsant activity (Tizzano *et al.*, 1995). Conversely, Group I antagonists selective for mGluR1 have anticonvulsant activity in several experimental seizure models (Chapman *et al.* 1999; 2000; Thomsen *et al.*, 1994). Activation of Group II and Group III receptors by reasonably selective agonists appears to have mixed convulsant/ anticonvulsant action, although a prolonged anticonvulsant action seems to predominate (Tang *et al.*, 1997; Tizzano *et al.*, 1995). Down-regulation of mGluR8 in pilocarpine epileptic rats was reported early (Kral *et*

al., 2003). The anticonvulsant effect of metabotrophic glutamate 8 receptor agonist in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy was reported (Jiang *et al.*, 2007).

L-Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain and serves a number of functions in the CNS (Nicholls & Attwell, 1990). This dicarboxylic amino acid is a precursor to the inhibitory amino acid neurotransmitter γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) for the Krebs cycle intermediate a-ketoglutarate and for the amino acid glutamine. Glutamate also functions as a detoxification agent for ammonia products in the brain. In addition to the many metabolic roles of glutamate, the most significant function of glutamate in the brain is its function as the primary excitatory neurotransmitter (Mayer & Westbrook, 1987). As a neurotransmitter, extracellular glutamate levels must be maintained at controlled levels. Although transporters exist to move glutamate into the brain across the blood-brain-barrier, the majority of glutamate is synthesized *de novo* from glucose, glutamine or aspartate (Lattera *et al.*, 1999). Glutamate is stored in synaptic vesicles. The signaling actions of glutamate are mediated at the neuronal membrane through specialized receptor macromolecules. The binding of glutamate to specific sites on its receptor molecule causes a conformational change that initiates signal transduction cascades in the neuron. Glutamate receptors are broadly categorized based on the signaling cascade they trigger. Ionotropic glutamate receptors are coupled to ion permeable channels which, under physiological conditions, depolarize neurons. In contrast, metabotropic receptors are coupled to guanosine triphosphate binding proteins (G proteins) and second messenger systems that modulate synaptic transmission (Dingledine et al., 1999).

The ionotropic glutamate receptors are post-synaptic, ligand-gated ion channels. Three types of ionotropic glutamate receptors have been categorized and named according to selective ability of NMDA, a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate (AMPA) or kainate (KA) to activate them (Dingledine *et al.*, 1999). The AMPA receptor contributes to the early, fast component of the excitatory

post-synaptic potential (EPSP). As a low affinity glutamate receptor, the AMPA receptor is typically permeable to the monovalent cations, sodium (Na^{\dagger}) and potassium (K^+). However, AMPA receptors that lack a GluR2 subunit are also permeable to the divalent cation, Ca^{2+} (Wisden & Seeburg, 1993). This ligand-gated channel demonstrates little voltage dependence and currents are very brief (a few milliseconds) due to the low glutamate affinity and a high rate of desensitization (Boulter et al., 1990; Dingledine et al., 1999). KA receptors are very similar in function to AMPA receptors. Like AMPA receptors, KA receptors are voltageindependent, monovalent cation permeable channels with low affinity and fast kinetics. KA receptor-mediated EPSPs have smaller peak amplitudes and slower decay kinetics than those derived from AMPA receptors (Frerking & Nicoll, 2000). The NMDA receptor is quite different from the AMPA and KA subtypes of glutamate receptor. First, in addition to their permeability to Na⁺ and K⁺, NMDA receptors have high permeability to Ca^{2+} (Dingledine *et al.*, 1999). NMDA receptors also have slower kinetics attributed to a much higher affinity for glutamate (Conti & Weinberg, 1999). The conductance through NMDA receptors can last several hundred milliseconds and constitutes a slower, later phase of the EPSP (Conti & Weinberg, 1999). Metabotropic receptors (mGluRs) are the other major category of glutamate receptors which is Gprotein coupled. There are eight types of metabotropic glutamate receptors that are further classified according to the second messenger systems to which they are linked. These receptors are found both on the pre-synaptic and post-synaptic membranes. Presynaptic mGluRs decrease neurotransmitter release, while mGluRs on the postsynaptic membrane regulate the function of ligand-gated ion channels including all three subtypes of ionotropic glutamate receptors (Anwyl, 1999). Thus, metabotropic glutamate receptors can act to modulate synaptic transmission in the CNS.

Calcium ion homeostasis

Calcium (Ca²⁺) plays a fundamental role in the cell as a second messenger governing cellular functions such as differentiation and growth, membrane excitability, exocytosis and synaptic activity. Neurons possess specialized homeostatic mechanisms to ensure tight command of cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels so that multiple independent Ca²⁺-mediated signaling pathways can exist in the normal cell (Arundine & Tymianski, 2003). In excitotoxicity, excessive stimulation of glutamate receptors and an increase in extracellular glutamate concentration can lead to the disregulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Arundine & Tymianski, 2003). An overwhelming increase in free intracellular calcium concentration activates a self-destructive cellular cascade involving many calcium-dependent enzymes, such as phosphatases (eg, calcineurin), proteases and lipases. Lipid peroxidation also causes production of free radicals which damage vital cellular proteins and lead to neuronal death (Choi, 1988; Michaels & Rothman, 1990).

The NMDA receptor mediates the vast majority of Ca^{2+} influx during excitatory neurotransmission (Ozawa, 1993). In addition, AMPA and KA receptors of certain subunit composition are permeable to Ca^{2+} (Jonas & Bumashev, 1995). Two transport systems exist to pump free intracellular Ca^{2+} out of the neuron into the extracellular space. Because Ca^{2+} extrusion acts against a large Ca^{2+} concentration gradient, these systems are energy-dependent and are, therefore highly susceptible to ischemic injury. The ATP-driven Ca^{2+} pump ($Ca^{2+} - ATPase$) expends one molecule of ATP for each Ca^{2+} ion extruded and is modulated by calmodulin, fatty acids and protein kinases (Carafoli, 1992). The second transport system, the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger, is indirectly coupled to ATP driven Na⁺- K⁺ exchanger. This electrogenic exchange system is triggered by increases in Ca^{2+} and extrudes one Ca^{2+} for every two or three Na⁺ that enters the neuron. Calcium buffering and sequestration can also reduce free intracellular Ca^{2+} levels. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER)

functions as a Ca²⁺ store. Calbindin D-28k, one of the major CaBPs, is present at high cytosolic concentrations in neurons such as purkinje cells and hippocampal granule cells. Together with its high cytosolic concentration, the ability of calbindin to bind up to four Ca^{2+} ions at a time suggests that it plays an important role in Ca^{2+} buffering (Mattson et al., 1995). Recent research suggests that the absence of calcium buffer proteins results in marked abnormalities in cell firing (Bastianelli et al., 2003). The calcium-binding proteins are present mainly in GABAergic interneurons, thus their disturbance could result in an alteration of inhibitory mechanisms (Krsek et al., 2004). Hippocampal neurons rich in the main Ca^{2+} -binding protein, calbindin D-28k, appear to be relatively resistant to degeneration in a variety of acute and chronic disorders (Sloviter, 1989; Hauser & Annegers, 1991; Magloczky et al., 1997). Calbindin-like immunoreactivity is present in all dentate granule cells and some, but not all, CAI and CA2 pyramidal cells in rat hippocampi. In area dentata, calbindin immunoreactivity is normally present in a small number of interneurons of the molecular and granule cell layers and in a small population of presumed basket cells in or below the granule cell layer. Recent studies suggest that there is a loss of calbindin from granule cells of the dentate gyrus and select CAI neuron populations in mouse models and in rat kindling models of epilepsy (Kohr et al., 1991). Thus, the possible role of Ca^{2+} as a second messenger mediating some of these changes in hippocampal CA neurons, dentate granule neurons and interneurons is an important area of investigation.

Epilepsy and Treatment

Antiepileptic drug therapy is ineffective to control seizures in a significant fraction of people (~25%) afflicted with epilepsy (Litt *et al.*, 2001; McKeown & McNamara, 2001). Besides, antiepileptic drugs have side effects and do not influence the course of the disease. Although surgical resection of the epileptic hippocampus is efficacious for controlling seizures in many cases of drug-resistant TLE (Clusmann *et al.*, 2002; Engel, 2003), this approach is associated with significant cognitive deficits

(Nunn *et al.*, 1999; Martin *et al.*, 2002; Richardson *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, developing alternative therapeutic approaches that prevent or restrain epileptogenic changes and SRMS after an IPI have considerable significance.

Neuroprotection following SE should encompass not only the prevention of neuronal death, but also preservation of neuronal and network function. This is critical because these aims are not necessarily equivalent; prevention of neuronal loss, for example, does not inevitably prevent epileptogenisis. Anticonvulsant drugs prevent or terminate seizures. In so doing, these agents act on the emergent properties of the epileptogenic network to alter or diminish their function (Walker, 2007). This involves modification of specific neuronal components that result in sufficient elevation of seizure threshold that prevents the usual initiating mechanisms from activating the network. Such an action can totally prevent the seizure or result in blockade of specific behavioural components of the seizure thereby reducing seizure severity (Graumlich et al., 1999; Faingold, 1999). Long-lasting changes in neuronal networks are observed following repetitive experiences, including behavioural conditioning and repeated seizures. Seizure repetition can induce neurogenesis in susceptible brain sites, resulting in structural and functional network changes. Structural changes are partially mediated by neurotrophic factors and excitation increases and burst firing in network neurons can result.

By classifying epilepsy syndromes such as seizure type, age of onset, EEG evidence and associated impairments clinicians can begin to rationalise their approach and define the therapeutic options for each patient. When to start and/or stop drug treatment in epilepsy is a major issue, which requires detailed knowledge of the prognosis of the disorder. For 20-30% of sufferers, epilepsy is a chronic and disabling condition, refractory to drug treatment, which has immense social impact. Although currently available drugs are able to prevent seizures, there remains a clear medical need for new antiepileptic drugs. Experiments in intact animals provide a complementary approach for the application of mechanistic information obtained in *in*

46

vitro investigations. *In vivo* techniques allow the exploration of the regional selectivity of these mechanisms, since it has become quite clear that the anticonvulsant effects of certain drugs involve actions on a combination of specific currents and cellular properties selectively expressed in specific brain networks (Kao & Coulter, 1997). Whether such actions observed with acute anticonvulsant drug treatment continue during the duration of treatment is unknown, since it is becoming clear that chronic treatment with a number of drugs that modify neuronal properties often results in compensatory mechanisms that lead to tolerance or to additional chronic effects that contribute to the action of the drug (Chen *et al.*, 1999).

Epilepsy and cognitive impairment

Neuropsychological impairment is an important co-morbidity of chronic epilepsy (Elger et al., 2004). Patients with epilepsy often experience cognitive dysfunction. Multiple factors can adversely affect cognition in epilepsy, including the etiology of the seizures, cerebral lesions acquired before the onset of seizures, seizure type, age at onset of epilepsy, seizure frequency, duration, severity, interictal physiologic dysfunction, structural cerebral damage caused by repetitive or prolonged seizures, hereditary factors, psychosocial factors and sequelae of treatment for epilepsy, including antiepileptic drugs AEDs and epilepsy surgery (Saling et al., 1993; Helmstaedter & Kurthen 2001; Jones-Gotman, 2000; Elger et al 2004 Aldenkamp & Arends, 2004; Dodrill, 2004). All these interrelated factors make complex contributions to cognitive deficits (Helmstaedter & Kurthen 2001). AEDs affect cognition by suppressing neuronal excitability or enhancing inhibitory neurotransmission. Patients and even some clinicians, tend to blame cognitive problems on AEDs because they are more identifiable than other factors. However, AED effects should not be overrated. Psychosocial problems, which are common, can be overlooked as a source of cognitive impairment. The stigma of epilepsy and the fear of having seizures in public can lead to low self-esteem, social isolation, and

depression, all of which can negative affect cognitive function. Similarly, subclinical epileptiform activity is another important contributor to cognitive dysfunction that can go unrecognized, especially in patients with infrequent seizures. A rich literature has characterized relationships between adequacy of mental status and a variety of clinical epilepsy factors including etiology, age of onset, seizure type and severity, duration, antiepilepsy medications and other factors (Saling *et al.*, 1993; Jones-Gotman, 2000; Helmstaedter & Kurthen 2001; Jokeit & Ebner, 2002; Aldenkamp & Arends, 2004; Dodrill, 2004; Koop *et al.*, 2004, Marsh *et al.*, 2006). In addition, cognitive profiles have been derived for several syndromes of epilepsy and efforts have been undertaken to identify the shared versus unique cognitive abnormalities evident across these syndromes (Lassonde *et al.*, 2000; Nolan *et al.*, 2003; Elger *et al.*, 2004; Henkin *et al.*, 2005; Riva *et al.*, 2005; Hommet *et al.*, 2006; Sart *et al.*, 2006;).

The nature, timing and course of cognitive impairments in epilepsy remains an issue of substantial interest and concern, particularly the degree to which chronic medication-resistant epilepsy lead to progressive cognitive impairment (Pitkanen & Sutula 2002). While evidence to this effect has been reviewed (Dodrill, 2004), the early cognitive substrate upon which subsequent chronic epilepsy exert its effects is an important consideration. The possibility that early onset or childhood epilepsy adversely alter a child's cognitive substrate in a greater than expected fashion despite their increased plasticity is an issue of clinical interest.

Indirect evidence implicating an adverse neuro-developmental effect of childhood onset epilepsy has come from studies of adults with chronic epilepsy grouped by age of onset categories where fairly robust relationships have been reported between earlier age of onset of recurrent seizures and cognitive abnormality. This relationship, reported early in the last century (Fox, 1924), confirmed in studies of adult patients with diverse seizure types (Dikmen *et al.*, 1975, 1977; Dodrill & Matthews, 1992; Glosser *et al.*, 1997) and observed in neuropsychological studies of younger patients with complex partial and other types of seizures (Leary *et al.*, 1981;

Schoenfeld *et al.*, 1999; Cormack *et al.*, 2007). In addition, greater than expected neuropsychological abnormalities have been reported in adults with the syndrome of mesial TLE (Hermann *et al.*, 1997), a syndrome defined by a focal neuropathological substrate and early onset of recurrent seizures or IPI (Engel, 1996). These findings suggest that early onset epilepsy, including localization-related syndromes of epilepsy such as mesial temporal lobe epilepsy, is associated with widespread influence on brain development and structure.

In the case of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy, quantitative volumetric magnetic resonance (MR) imaging studies have reported abnormalities in neural regions involved in the genesis and propagation of seizures, including the hippocampus (Jack et al., 1992; Quigg et al., 1997; Woermann et al., 1998; Tasch, et al., 1999), amygdale (Kalviainen et al., 1996), entorhinal cortex (Bernasconi et al., 1999), fornix (Kuzniecky et al 1999), thalamus and basal ganglia (DeCarli et al., 1998), and temporal lobe (Breier et al., 1996; Marsh et al., 1997; Lee et al., 1997; Moran et al., 2001). Additional investigations have reported abnormalities in more wide ranging volumes of gray and white matter in extratemporal lobar (Marsh et al., 1997), regional (Sandok et al 2000) or total brain morphometrics (Lee et al., 1997; Sisodiya et al., 1997) These distributed volumetric abnormalities, interesting in their own right, are also consistent with the widespread cognitive abnormalities that can be observed in chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. The potential impact of early versus late age of seizure onset on quantitative MRI volumetrics in TLE has however, rarely been systematically investigated, surprisingly given the neuropsychological literature reviewed above as well as animal studies demonstrating that seizures in the immature brain adversely affect brain growth and development (Wasterlain & Plum, 1973; Dwyer & Wasterlain 1998; Wasterlain et al., 1999).

However, more direct evidence of the neurodevelopmental impact of recurrent seizures on cognition has been provided by controlled studies of children and adolescents with chronic but substantially shorter duration epilepsy. Studies such
as these have also reported considerable neuropsychological impairment (Farwell et al., 1985; Roeschl et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2002) consistent with an early adverse neurodevelopmental impact on cognition. However, even these effects could be a combination of pre-epilepsy onset (etiological) insults, factors which have contributed to the development of epilepsy and simultaneously contributed to abnormal mental status. In order to derive perhaps the clearest perspective of the natural course of cognitive status in epilepsy, it is important to characterize the earliest status of the cognitive substrate and to that end; investigation of children with new onset epilepsy contribute to this literature. To date, a modest number of studies have examined cognition in children with new onset epilepsy (Bourgeois et al., 1983; Williams et al., 1998; Stores et al., 1992; Kolk et al., 2002; Oostrom et al., 2003). Three of the five studies identified cognitive impairments at epilepsy onset and these mixed results are attributable, at least in part, to the variable age ranges, test batteries and epilepsy characteristics across studies. Also, interesting and very pertinent to this topic are reports of academic underachievement prior to and/or at the onset of idiopathic/cryptogenic epilepsy (Oostrom et al., 2003; Holmes & Lenck-Santini, 2006; Shatskikh et al., 2006) suggestive of an antecedent neurobiological insult of uncertain etiology.

Various animal models of epilepsy showed cognitive, learning and memory impairments. Holmes and his co-workers have studied the role of interictal epileptiform abnormalities in cognitive impairment. Most of the studies were performed in adult animals and suggest that epileptiform discharges in older age groups can impair cognitive abilities through interference with awake learning and memory, as well as memory consolidation during sleep (Williams *et al.*, 1998; Oostrom *et al.*, 2003; Holmes & Lenck-Santini, 2006). The effects appear to be more pronounced if the spikes are very frequent and widespread. In a series of elegant studies, Holmes and co-workers showed that the electrical induction of spikes in the hippocampus impairs recognition and spatial memory in rats by disrupting the ability

Literature Review

of hippocampal place cells to recognize the position of the animal (Shatskikh *et al.*, 2006; Zhou *et al.*, 2007). Genetically epileptic model rats, Ihara epileptic rat (IER/F substrain), have neuropathologic abnormalities and develop generalized convulsive seizures when they reach the age of ~5 months (Okaichi *et al.*, 2006). Young IER/F rats experiences showed severe learning impairments, genetically programmed microdysgenesis in the hippocampus (Okaichi *et al.*, 2006). Pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epileptic rats showed deficit in learning tests like Morris water maze demonstrated the impairment in spatial learning during epilepsy (Reas *et al.*, 2007) and rotarod performance demonstrated the impairment in the motor function and coordination (Amee *et al.*, 2009).

Some anti-epileptic medications can slow down processing of information in some children, while other anti-epileptic medications can induce fatigue that decreases the child's ability to learn (Sung & Kwon, 2008). These are transient behavioural abnormalities and falling numbers of patients continuing to take epileptic drugs during long-term treatment. Psychotic reactions have been carefully documented both in patients receiving standard and new anti-epilepsy drugs, and in up to 6% of patients after epilepsy surgery (Jeffrey et al., 2009). As many psychotic episodes are associated with a dramatic cessation of seizures, it is not surprising that behavioural abnormalities are more often seen in patients receiving higher, more effective doses of drugs (Schmidt, 2009). Because of the side effects of chemical drugs, drugs of plant origin are gaining importance and are being investigated for remedies of a number of disorders. Since the introduction of adaptogen concept, several plants have been investigated, which were used earlier as tonics due to their adaptogenic and rejuvenating properties in traditional medicine. Bacopa monnieri has been reported to possess anxiolytic, antidepressant and memory enhancing activity (Bhattacharya & Ghosal, 1998; Sairam et al., 2002; Das et al., 2002).

Bacopa monnieri (Linn.) Pennel

Bacopa monnieri (Linn.) belongs to the family Scrophulariaceae. It is a prostrate, juicy, succulent, glabrous annual herb rooting at the nodes with numerous ascending branches. Leaves are simple, opposite, decussate, sessile, obovate-oblong or spatulate, entire, fleshy, obscurely veined and punctate. Flowers are pale blue or whitish, axillary, solitary, arranged on long slender pedicels. Fruits are ovoid, acute, 2-celled, 2-valved capsules and tipped with style base. Seeds are minute and numerous (Warrier *et al.*, 1993). This plant are growing in grasslands occurring in aquatic sites, sand and wet soil occupying in the edges of freshwater or brackish pools and streams and lake beds. Distributed in the major part of the plains of India, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Nepal, Sri Lanka, subtropical US, tropical Asia, Africa and Australia (Russo & Borrelli, 2005). Bacopa monnieri is commercially cultivated for medicinal purpose.

Active Constituents

Earlier workers have isolated a number of chemical compounds from *Baopa monnieri*. *Baopa monnieri* contains alkaloids such as hydrocotyline, brahmine and herpestine (Dutta & Basu, 1963). Glycoside such as asiaticoside and thanakunicide. Flavonoids such as apigenin and luteonin. Saponins such as D-mannitol, Acid A, Monnierin, and Bacosides. Bacoside A is considered the major active component, first identified by Chatterji *et al* (1963), with Bacoside B being an optical isomer of Bacoside A (Singh *et al* 1998). Chemical structure of Bacoside A, B and C are represented as 3-0- α -L-arabinopyranosyl-20-0- α -L- arabinopyranosyl-jujubogenin, 3-0-[α -L-arabinopyranosyl (1-2) α -L- arabinopyranosy] pseudojujubogenin and 3-0-[β -D-glucopyranosyl (1-3){ α -L- arabinofuranosyl (1-2)}) α -L- arabinopyranosy] pseudojujubogenin respectively (Saraswati *et al.*, 1996).



Structure of Bacoside A

Ethnopharmacology

It is used in traditional Indian medicine, the Ayurveda, for the treatment of anxiety and in improving intellect and memory for several centuries (Singh & Dhawan, 1997). In addition to memory boosting activity, it is also claimed to be useful in the treatment of cardiac, respiratory and neuropharmacological disorders like insomnia, insanity, depression, psychosis, epilepsy and stress (Russo & Borrelli, 2005). It was reported to possess anti-inflammatory, analgesic, antipyretic, sedative, free radical scavenging and anti-lipid peroxidative activities (Kishore & Singh, 2005; Anbarasi, *et al.*, 2005) The plant is reported to have shown barbiturate hypnosis potentiation effect. The plant is anticancerous and improves learning ability. It is used as a tranquilliser. The plant is astringent, bitter, sweet, cooling, laxative, intellect promoting, anodyne, carminative, digestive, antiinflammatory, anticonvulsant, depurative, cardiotonic, bronchodialator, diuretic, emmenagogue, sudorfic, febrifuge and tonic (Basu & Lamsal, 1947; Rastogi, *et al.*, 1994). The pharmacological properties of *Bacopa monnieri* were studied extensively and the activities were

attributed mainly due to the presence of characteristic saponins called as Bacosides (Singh & Dhawan, 1997). In animal studies, both purified Bacosides and extracts of Bacopa monnieri standardized for Bacosides have been found to enhance several aspects of mental function and learning ability (Singh & Dhawan, 1982; Singh, 1988; Singh & Dhawan, 1997) Additional brain effects of Bacopa monnieri demonstrated in animal research include reduction of both anxiety and depression (Bhattacharya & Ghosal, 1998; Sairam et al., 2002). Biochemically, these nervous-system effects have been attributed to an enhancement of the effects of the neurotransmitters acetylcholine and (Bhattacharya, et al., 2000; Stough et al., 2001) possibly, serotonin or GABA (Dey & Datta, 1966; Ganguly & Malhtora 1967). Bacopa monnieri extracts also appear to have significant antioxidant activity in the brain (Bhattacharya, et al., 2000) and other effects that help protect brain cells (Russo et al., 2003). Animal research has also reported that Bacopa monnieri extracts can relax the muscles that control the blood vessels, the intestine and the airways of the respiratory system (Dar & Channa, 1997; Channa et al., 2003; Dar & Channa, 1999) and can help both prevent and heal ulcers in the stomach (Sairam, et al., 2001). Traditional herbal references recommend 5 to 10 grams per day of the powdered herb. Human research has used 300 to 450 mg per day of an extract standardized to contain 55% Bacosides. Bacopa monnieri appears to be well tolerated when taken in typical amounts (Singh & Dhawan, 1997), although one double-blind study reported significantly more symptoms of dry mouth, nausea, and muscle fatigue in participants taking Bacopa monnieri (Stough et al., 2001).

Biological Activity

The herb has been described in Ayurvedic texts since around 800 BC and recorded as a treatment for a range of mental disorders in the 'Carak Samhita' (Singh & Dhawan, 1997), which, according to the literature, was written in the 6th century AD (Russo & Borrelli, 2005). Ayurvedic medicine classifies *Bacopa monnieri* as

Literature Review

belonging to a group of plant medicines known as medhya rasayana that improve mental health, intellect and memory (medhya) and promote longevity and rejuvenation (rasayana) (Singh & Singh, 1980). Hence Bacopa monnieri shares its Sanskrit name, Brahmi, with another herbal nervous system restorative Centella asiatica. Learning ability in rats has been significantly enhanced by Bacopa monnieri extract as it facilitated acquisition, consolidation and retention of three newly learned behavioural responses at an oral dosage of 40mg/kg three times daily (Singh & Dhawan, 1982). In this study, effects on cognitive function were measured by foot shock motivated brightness discrimination reaction, active conditioned flight reaction (jump to avoid shock) and continuous avoidance response (shock avoidance by lever pulling) tests. Bacopa monnieri facilitated all parameters of memory acquisition and retention. In a subsequent study the same authors investigated the constituents responsible for Bacopa's effect and demonstrated that the isolated Bacosides A and B were effective in enhancing memory in rats in learning tasks involving both positive and negative reinforcement (Singh & Dhawan, 1997). Additionally, this study demonstrated that the Bacosides produced changes in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex (areas critical to memory function) and hypothalamus regions of the brain and caused enhanced levels of protein kinase activity and increases in protein levels in these regions. This indicated positive implications for improved neurotransmission and repair of damaged neurons via enhanced regeneration of nerve synapses (Singh & Dhawan, 1997). The neuroprotective effects of Bacopa monnieri extract, was tested, its protection against the beta-amyloid protein and glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in primary cortical cultured neurons. From this study, the mode of action of neuroprotective effects of Bacopa monnieri appeared to be the results of its antioxidant effect to suppress neuronal oxidative stress and the acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activities. Singh and Dhawan observed the effects of isolated Bacopa monnieri saponins on memory. Administration of Bacosides to mice attenuated experimentally induced anterograde amnesia and improved memory as measured by a

well validated learning task- the Morris Water maze test (Kishore & Singh, 2005). The triterpenoid saponins and their Bacosides are responsible for *Bacopa monnieri's* ability to enhance nerve impulse transmission. The Bacosides aid in repair of damaged neurons by enhancing kinase activity, neuronal synthesis and restoration of synaptic activity and ultimately nerve impulse transmission. Loss of cholinergic neuronal activity in the hippocampus is the primary feature of Alzheimer's disease. Based on animal study results, Bacosides appear to have antioxidant activity in the hippocampus, frontal cortex and striatum. Animal research has shown *Bacopa monnieri* extracts modulate the expression of certain enzymes involved in generation and scavenging of reactive oxygen species in the brain.

Antioxidant Capacity

The antioxidant activity of Bacopa monnieri has been reported in a number of laboratory studies (Singh & Singh, 1980; Negi et al., 2000; Bhattacharya, et al., 2000; Sairam, et al., 2001; Sumathy, et al., 2002; Russo et al., 2003b; Russo et al., 2003a). Antioxidant effects of Bacopa monnieri in areas of the brain that are key memory areas such as hippocampus, frontal cortex and striatum have been documented by Bhattacharya et al. (Bhattacharya, et al., 2000) in rat brain. Bacopa monnieri was shown to protect the brain (Sumathy, et al., 2002) and liver (Sumathy, et al., 2001), from morphine induced inhibition of antioxidant enzyme systems. Russo and Borrelli (2005) demonstrated a free radical scavenging activity which protected against cytotoxicity and DNA damage in human fibroblasts. Further research by Russo et al (2003a) also demonstrated that Bacopa monnieri significantly reduced oxidation and DNA damage in cultured rat astrocytes induced by a nitric oxide donor. Furthermore, Anbarasi et al. (2005) demonstrated that isolated Bacoside A protected rat brain tissue from various parameters of oxidative stress caused by chronic cigarette smoke exposure. One of the foremost theories of brain ageing asserts that free radical damage results in both ageing-related changes in healthy brains (Trollor & Valenzuela, 2001)

Literature Review

and in neurodegenerative pathology, such as Alzheimer's disease (Singh et al., 2004). Good antioxidant status is associated with better memory performance in the aged (Perrig et al., 1997) and antioxidant therapy has been targeted as a promising dementia strategy (Jorm, 2002). Thus, the demonstrated antioxidant effects of Bacopa monnieri, particularly in brain tissue, support its potential as a therapy in neurodegenerative pathologies and age-related cognitive decline. Stress elicits a defensive response in living organisms. The defense response involves several mechanisms including stress gene expression, enhanced antioxidant protection and enhanced toxin clearance. Bacopa monnieri has been shown to facilitate each of these adaptive resources by modulation of Hsp 70 expression and enhancement of activity of both superoxide dismutase and cytochrome P450 enzymes in stressor exposed rat brain. Thus, Bacopa monnieri facilitate the capacity of the brain to withstand stress and help the brain to function under adverse conditions. These findings support the afore-mentioned medhya rasayana classification of Bacopa monnieri in ancient Ayurveda in that they imply a brain tonic and adaptogenic effect (adaptogenic meaning improved resistance to stress). This indicate some similarities with Panax ginseng, which is considered to be a major adaptogen and tonic, enhancing resistance to stress in numerous experimental situations as well as clinical trials (Mills & Bone, 2000; Blumenthal, 2003).

Epilepsy and Bacopa monnieri

The mechanism of action behind the memory and cognition enhancing effects of *Bacopa monnieri* is still uncertain, as its multiple active constituents have multifunctional properties, making its pharmacology complex. But the antioxidant properties of *Bacopa monnieri* have been well documented (Basu *et al.*, 1967). Glutamate is one of the chief excitatory amino acids that mediates excitotoxic neuronal degeneration. Treatment with *Bacopa monnieri* extract reduced the increase in glutamate dehydrogenase activity to near-control levels. Hence, it is suggested that *Bacopa monnieri* has a definite role in decreasing glutamate excitotoxicity. *Bacopa monnieri* treatment induce membrane dephosphorylation and a concomitant increase in mRNA turnover and protein synthesis. It can also enhance protein kinase activity in the hippocampus, which is critically involved in learning and memory (Sumathy *et al.*, 2002). The water maze experiment conducted by Reas *et al.* (2007) to study the neurobiological mechanisms that underlie spatial learning and memory function in epileptic rats. The hippocampal formation is critical for computing place representations. The Morris water maze experiment demonstrated the impairment in spatial learning during epilepsy. Escape latency was increased in epileptic rats as compared with control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A increase the performance in Morris water maze (Reas *et al.*, 2008).

Amee et al. (2009) found increased, period of immobility in the forced swim test in epileptic rats compared to control. In the forced swim test, the space for rat's movement was restricted from which they cannot escape. Immobility in rats is considered to be a state of lower mood or hopelessness which the rodent experience when they are forced to swim in a constrained space from they cannot escape. This is believed to indicate a failure or reduced attempts towards escape directed behaviour from persistent stress. It also causes the development of passive behaviour that disengages the animal from coping up with stressful stimuli. Studies by Mazrati et al. (2008) also support that rats afflicted with pilocarpine induced epilepsy exhibited increased immobility time under forced swim test. This form of immobility which is a state of despair is reported to be reduced by a broad spectrum of anti-depressant drugs (Menard & Treit, 1999). Bacopa monnieri treatment once daily over a period of 15 days decreased the period of immobility in the epileptic rats which is indicative of its anti-depressant property. But studies by other workers revealed that Bacopa monnieri administration also acts as an anti-depressant (Bhattacharya & Ghosal, 1998; Bhattacharya et al., 1999; Sairam et al., 2002; Das et al., 2002). Blumenthal (2003) have suggested shared neurobiological processes leading both to seizures and to

Literature Review

behavioral, emotional and cognitive disturbance which could possibly explain the how Bacopa monnieri is effective as an anti-convulsant and an anti-depressant. It is reported that the isolated Bacosides A and B were effective in enhancing memory in rats in learning tasks involving both positive and negative reinforcement (Singh & Dhawan, 1997; Singh et al., 1998). Additionally Bacosides produced changes in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex (areas critical to memory function) and hypothalamus regions of the brain and caused enhanced levels of protein kinase activity and increases in protein levels in these regions. This indicated positive implications for improved neurotransmission and repair of damaged neurons via enhanced regeneration of nerve synapses (Singh & Dhawan, 1997). Previous studies showed decreased Rotarod performance demonstrated the impairment in the motor function and coordination in the epileptic rats, suggesting impairment in their ability to integrate sensory input with appropriate motor commands to balance their posture and at the same time adjust their limb movements on the metallic rod and is indicative of cerebellar dysfunction (Blumer et al., 2004; Amee et al., 2009). Treatment using Bacopa monnieri and its active component Bacoside A improved cerebellar function (Amee et al., 2009). Study from our laboratory implicated a role for serotonin and 5-HT_{2C} receptors in the modulation of neuronal network excitability and seizure propagation. These neurofunctional deficits are one of the key contributors to motor deficits and stress associated with epilepsy. It is suggested that Bacopa monnieri extract treatment reverses the 5-HT_{2C} receptor mediated motor dysfunction in epilepsy (Amee et al., 2009). Activation of mGlu in pilocarpine induced epileptic rats (Kral et al., 2003) has been reported to have anticonvulsant effect (Attwell et al., 1998; Gasparini et al., 1999; Jiang et al., 2007). Consistent with these reports study from our lab also showed a down-regulation of the mGlu gene expression during epileptic condition. Treatment with Bacopa monnieri extract caused a reversal to near control level giving protection against epilepsy (Paulose et al., 2008).

The present work is to understand the alterations of total GABA, GABA_A and GABA_B receptors in the brain regions of pilocarpine induced epileptic rats. The work focuses on the evaluation of the antiepileptic activity of extracts of *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine *in vivo*. The molecular changes of the GABA receptors in the epileptic model administered with *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were also studied. These studies will help us to elucidate the functional role of GABA receptors in epilepsy.

CHEMICALS USED AND THEIR SOURCES

Biochemicals

Mesulergine, ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid (EDTA), Tris HCl, calcium chloride, atropine methyl bromide, carbamazepine and pilocarpine were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, USA. All other reagents were of analytical grade purchased locally. HPLC solvents and chemicals were of HPLC grade obtained from SRL, India and Sigma Chemical Co, St. Louis, USA.

Radiochemicals

4-amino-n-[2, 3-³H] butyric acid (Specific activity-84.0 Ci/mmol) was purchased from Amersham Bioscience, USA. Baclofen, (-)-[butyl-4-³H (N)] (Specific activity-42.9 Ci/mmol) and Bicuculline methyl chloride, (-)-[methyl-³H] (Specific activity-82.9 Ci/mmol) were purchased from NEN Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, MA, USA.

Molecular Biology Chemicals

Tri-reagent kit was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, USA. ABI PRISM High Capacity cDNA Archive kit, Primers and Taqman probes for Real-Time PCR were purchased from Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA. GABA_{Aά1} (Rn00788315_m1), GABA_{Aά5} (Rn00568803_m1), GABA_{Aγ3} (Rn00577639_m1), GABA_{Aδ} (Rn00568740_m1), GABA_B (Rn00578911_m1), and GAD (Rn00562748_m1) primers were used for the study.

Confocal Dyes

Rat primary antibody for $GABA_{A\acute{a}1}$ (No-31775) and rhodamine coated secondary antibody (No-AP307R) were purchased from Chemicon, USA.

Animals

Adult male Wistar rats of 250-300g body weight purchased from Amrita Institute of Medical Sciences, Cochin were used for all the experiments. They were housed in separate cages under 12 hrs light and 12 hrs dark periods and were maintained on standard food pellets and water *ad libitum*.

Plant Material

Specimens of *Bacopa monnieri* were collected from Cochin University area. The plants were taxonomically identified and authenticated by Mr. K.P. Joseph, Head of the Dept. of Botany (Retd), St. Peter's College, Kolenchery.

Preparation of Bacopa monnieri Plant Extract

Crude whole plant extract was used to study the anti-epileptic effect in pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epilepsy. *Bacopa monnieri* plant extract was prepared by the procedure of Paulose *et al.* (2008). Fresh, whole *Bacopa monnieri* plant (6–8 months old) was collected (in the month of March) and washed. Leaves, roots and stems of *Bacopa monnieri* plant were cut into small pieces and dried in shade. About 100 g fresh plant dried in shade yielded 15 g powder. Homogenate was extracted at required concentration (300 mg fresh plant/Kg body weight) and used to study the anti-epileptic effect in pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epilepsy (Amee *et al.*, 2009).

Preparation of Bacoside A

Bacoside A was a generous gift from the Natural Remedies Pvt Ltd. Veerasandra Industrial Area, Bangalore, India and the extraction procedure was follows. The whole plant of *Bacopa monnieri* was dried in shade and then powdered plant material was extracted with distilled water. The aqueous extract was discarded and the residual plant material was extracted thrice with 90% ethanol. The residue obtained after removing the solvent was dried in vacuum and macerated with acetone to give a free-flowing powder. The extract of *Bacopa monnieri* contained 40-50% bacoside estimated as bacoside A. The estimation method involves acid hydrolysis of bacoside, which yields quantitatively a transformed aglycone-ebelin lactone which contained a conjugated triene system and was estimated by UV spectrophotometer at 278 nm (Pal & Sarin, 1992).

Epilepsy Induction

Adult male Wistar rats, weighing 250 to 300 g, were housed for 1 to 2 weeks before experiments were performed. Experimental animals were injected with pilocarpine (350 mg/Kg i.p.), preceded by 30 min with atropine methyl bromide (1 mg/Kg i.p.) to reduce peripheral pilocarpine effects. Within 20 to 40 min after the pilocarpine injection, essentially all of the animals developed *status epilepticus* (SE). Behavioural observation continued for 5 hrs after pilocarpine injection. Pilocarpine induced seizures were graded according to the Racine scale using stage 1-5: Stage 0-in which the rats showed no convulsion; stage 1- in which rats showed Facial Automatism; stage 2- Head nodding, stage 3- unilateral forelimb clonus, stage 4-bilateral forelimb clonus, stage- 5, rearing, falling and generalized convulsions. The occurrence of stage 3-5 was considered as one complete seizure. Animals recovered from this initial treatment within 2 to 3 days and were observed for the next 3 weeks. Animals were monitored by video recording to evaluate the development of seizure discharge. Over 80% of the animals were found to have recurrent partial and

generalized seizures after 3-4 weeks after the initial pilocarpine injection. No seizures were observed in control animals (Reas *et al.*, 2007; Amee *et al.*, 2009; Jobin *et al.*, 2010a).

Determination of Anti-Epileptic Potential of Bacopa monnieri

Experimental Animals were Divided into Following Groups

- a) Group 1: Control
- b) Group 2: Epileptic
- c) Group 3: Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri
- d) Group 4: Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A
- e) Group 5: Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine

Animal Groups

The rats were initially divided into two groups- Control and Epileptic. The epileptic group was injected with pilocarpine according to the previously established protocols as described earlier (Reas *et al.*, 2008). The control group received saline instead of pilocarpine. The epileptic group showed spontaneous recurrent seizures approximately 20 minutes after pilocarpine injection. Those rats that did not show spontaneous seizures after pilocarpine treatment were excluded form the study group. The rats were singly housed and maintained for 24 days with standard food and water *ad libitum* after pilocarpine treatment. After 24 days the rats were subjected continuous video monitoring for 72 hrs. The behaviour and seizures were observed. Those experimental rats that did not show seizures were excluded from the study group. The experimental group was again divided into four. The second group that did not receive the treatment was epileptic. Extract of *Bacopa monnieri* was given orally to the third group of epileptic rats in the dosage of 300 mg/ Kg body weight/day.

of 150mg/ Kg body/ day for 15 days. Carbamazepine was given orally to the fifth group of epileptic rats in the dosage of 150 mg /Kg body weight/ day for 15 days. After 15 days of treatment rats were sacrificed (Jobin *et al.*, 2010a).

Tissue Preparation

Control and experimental rats were sacrificed by decapitation. The brain regions (cerebral cortex, cerebellum and brainstem) and body parts were dissected out instantly over ice according to the procedure of Glowinski and Iversen (1966). Hippocampus was dissected out immediately over ice according to the procedure of Heffner *et al.*, (1980). The tissues were stored at -80°C for various experiments. All animal care and procedures were in accordance with Institutional and National Institute of Health guidelines.

Acetylcholine Esterase Assay

Acetylcholine esterase asssay was done using the spectrophotometric method of Ellman *et al.*, (1961). The homogenate (10%) was prepared in 30mM sodium phosphate buffer pH-7.0. One ml of 1% Triton x 100 was added to the homogenate to release the membrane bound enzyme and centrifuged at 10,000xg for 30 minutes at 4°C. Different concentrations of acetylthiocholine iodide were used as substrate. The mercaptan formed as a result of the hydrolysis of the ester reacts with an oxidising agent 5, 5' -dithiobis (2-Nitrobenzoate) absorbs at 412 nm (Jobin *et al.*, 2010b).

Estimation of Circulating Insulin by Radioimmunoassay

Principle of the Assay

The assay was done according to the procedure of BARC radioimmunoassay kit. The radioimmunoassay method was based on the competition of unlabelled insulin in the standard or samples and [¹²⁵I] insulin for the limited binding sites on a

specific antibody. At the end of incubation, the antibody bound and free insulin were separated by the second antibody-polyethylene glycol (PEG) aided separation method. Measuring the radioactivity associated with bound fraction of sample and standards quantitates insulin concentration of samples.

Assay Protocol

Standards, ranging from 0 to 200µU/ml, insulin free serum and insulin antiserum (50µl each) were added together and the volume was made up to 250µl with assay buffer. Samples of appropriate concentration from experiments were used for the assay. They were incubated overnight at 2°C. Then 50µl [¹²⁵I]insulin was added and incubated at room temperature for 3 hrs. 50µl second antibody was added along with 500µl of PEG. The tubes were then vortexed and incubated for 20 minutes and they were centrifuged at 1500xg for 20 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated out and the radioactivity in the pellet was determined in a gamma counter.

A standard curve was plotted with B/B_o on the Y-axis and insulin concentration/ml on the X-axis of a log-logit graph. B/B_o was calculated as:

Corrected average count of standard or sample

× 100

Corrected average count of zero standard

Insulin concentration in the samples was determined from the standard curve plotted using MultiCalc[™] software (Wallac, Finland).

Estimation of Circulating Triiodothyronine (T3) by Radioimmunoassay

Principle of the Assay

The assay was done according to the procedure of BARC radioimmunoassay kit. The radioimmunoassay method was based on the competition of unlabelled endogenous T3 with [¹²⁵I]T3 for the limited binding sites on the antibody (Ab1) made specially for T3. The antibody was in the form of a complex with second antibody (Ab2). At the end of incubation, the T3 (Ag) bound to the antibody- second antibody complex (Ag-Ab1-Ab2) and free T3 was separated by the addition of PEG. The amount bound to the antibody complex in the assay tubes were compared with values of known T3 standards and the T3 concentration in the samples were calculated.

Assay Protocol

Standards, ranging from 0.15 to 2.5ng, T3 free serum, $[^{125}I]T3$ and antiserum complex were added together and the volume was made up to 275µl with assay buffer. Samples of appropriate concentration from experiments were used for the assay. They were incubated at 37°C for 45 minutes. The PEG was added to all tubes and they were centrifuged at 1500xg for 20 minutes. The supernatant was aspirated out and the radioactivity in the pellet was determined in a gamma counter.

A standard curve was plotted with B/B_0 on the Y-axis and T3 concentration (ng/ml) on the X-axis of a log-logit graph. B/B_0 was calculated as:

Corrected average count of standard or sample

× 100

Corrected average count of zero standard

T3 concentrations in the samples were determined from the standard curve plotted using MultiCalcTM software (Wallac, Finland).

Malate Dehydrogenase Activity

Malate Dehydrogenase was assayed according to Mehelar *et al.* (1948). Crude sample was prepared by making a 5% homogenate of the muscle in phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 using polytron homogenizer. The homogenate was centrifuge at 1000xg for 10 minutes. The supernatant was collected and centrifuged at 10,000xg for 20 minutes. The reaction mixture contained phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, NADH, oxaloactate and enzyme. The reaction mixture of 1ml was assayed at 340nm in the spectrophotometer by measuring the decrease in optical density due to oxidation of NADH measured at 15 second interval for 1 minute at room temperature. One unit of enzyme activity was equal to the change in OD of 0.1 for 100 seconds at 334nm. Kinetic parameters such as Vmax and Km were calculated from the data of MDH activity measured at substrate concentration 0.0125 - 0.2 mM (Jobin *et al.*, 2010b).

Quantification of Epinephrine and Norepinephrine in the Experimental Groups of Rats

The epinephrine and norepinephrine were assayed according to the modified procedure of Paulose *et al.* (1988). The heart of experimental groups of rats was homogenised in 0.4N perchloric acid. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 5000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C in a Sigma 3K30 refrigerated centrifuge and the clear supernatant was filtered through 0.22 μ m HPLC grade filters and used for HPLC analysis.

Epinephrine and norepinephrine contents were determined in high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with electrochemical detector (ECD) (Waters, USA) fitted with CLC-ODS reverse phase column of 5 μ m particle size. The mobile phase consisted of 50mM sodium phosphate dibasic, 0.03M citric acid, 0.1mM

EDTA, 0.6mM sodium octyl sulfonate, 15% methanol. The pH was adjusted to 3.25 with orthophosphoric acid, filtered through 0.22 μ m filter (Millipore) and degassed. Waters model 515, Milford, USA, pump was used to deliver the solvent at a rate of 1 ml/minute. The neurotransmitters and their metabolites were identified by amperometric detection using an electrochemical detector (Waters, model 2465) with a reduction potential of +0.80 V. Twenty microlitre aliquots of the acidified supernatant were injected into the system for quantification. The peaks were identified by relative retention times compared with external standards and quantitatively estimated using an integrator (Empower software) interfaced with the detector. Data of the experimental and control rats were statistically analysed and tabulated.

Quantification of GABA

GABA content in the brain regions of control and experimental rats were quantified by displacement method using the procedure of Kurioka *et al.*(1981) where the incubation mixture contained 1nM [³H]GABA with and without GABA at a concentration range of 10^{-9} M to 10^{-4} M. The unknown concentrations were determined from the standard displacement curve using appropriate dilutions and calculated for µmoles/g wt. of the tissue.

GABA RECEPTOR STUDIES USING [³H] RADIOLIGANDS

GABA Receptor Binding Assays

 $[^{3}H]GABA$ binding to GABA receptor was assayed in Triton X-100 treated synaptic membranes according to the procedure of Kurioka *et al.* (1981). Crude synaptic membranes were prepared using sodium free 10mM Tris buffer pH 7.4. Each assay tube contained a protein concentration of 100µg. In saturation binding experiments, 5-40 nM of $[^{3}H]GABA$ was incubated with and without excess of unlabelled 100µM GABA for 20 min at 5°C and terminated by centrifugation at 35000xg for 20 min. [³H]GABA in the pellet was determined by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Specific binding was determined by subtracting non-specific binding from the total.

GABA_A Receptor Binding Assays

[³H]bicuculline binding to GABA_A receptor was assayed in Triton X-100 treated synaptic membranes according to the procedure of Kurioka et al (1981). Crude synaptic membranes were prepared using sodium free 10mM Tris buffer pH 7.4. Each assay tube contained a protein concentration of 100µg. In saturation binding experiments, 5-40 nM [³H]bicuculline was incubated with and without excess of unlabelled 100µM bicuculline for 20 min at 5°C and terminated by centrifugation at 35000xg for 20 min. [³H]bicuculline in the pellet was determined by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Specific binding was determined by subtracting non-specific binding from the total.

GABA_B Receptor Binding Assays

 $[{}^{3}H]$ baclofen binding to GABA_B receptors were assayed in Triton X-100 treated synaptic membranes according to the procedure of Kurioka *et al.* (1981). Crude synaptic membranes were prepared using sodium free 10mM Tris buffer (pH 7.4). Each assay tube contained a protein concentration of 100µg. In saturation binding experiments, 5-40 nM of $[{}^{3}H]$ baclofen was incubated with and without excess of unlabelled 100µM baclofen for 20 min at 5°C and terminated by centrifugation at 35000xg for 20 min. $[{}^{3}H]$ baclofen in the pellet was determined by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Specific binding was determined by subtracting non-specific binding from the total.

Protein Determination

Protein was measured by the method of Lowry *et al.*, (1951) using bovine serum albumin as standard. The intensity of the purple blue colour formed was proportional to the amount of protein which was read in Spectrophotometer at 660nm.

Linear Regression Analysis for Scatchard plots

The data was analysed according to Scatchard (1949). The specific binding was determined by subtracting non-specific binding from the total. The binding parameters, maximal binding (B_{max}) and equilibrium dissociation constant (K_d), were derived by linear regression analysis by plotting the specific binding of the radioligand on X-axis and bound/free on Y-axis. The maximal binding is a measure of the total number of receptors present in the tissue and the equilibrium dissociation constant is the measure of the affinity of the receptors for the radioligand. The K_d is inversely related to receptor affinity.

GENE EXPRESSION STUDIES

Preparation of RNA

RNA was isolated from the different brain regions such as cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental rats using the Tri reagent from Sigma Aldrich.

Isolation of RNA

Tissue (25-50 mg) homogenates were made in 0.5 ml Tri Reagent and was centrifuged at 12,000xg for 10 minutes at 4° C. The clear supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and it was allowed to stand at room temperature for 5 minutes. 100µl of chloroform was added to it, mixed vigorously for 15 seconds and allowed to stand at room temperature for 15 minutes. The tubes were then centrifuged at 12,000xg for 15 minutes at 4°C. Three distinct phases appear after centrifugation. The bottom red

organic phase contained protein, interphase contained DNA and a colourless upper aqueous phase contained RNA. The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube and 250µl of isopropanol was added and the tubes were allowed to stand at room temperature for 10 minutes. The tubes were centrifuged at 12,000xg for 10 min at 4°C. RNA precipitate forms a pellet on the sides and bottom of the tube. The supernatants were removed and the RNA pellet was washed with 500µl of 75% ethanol, vortexed and centrifuged at 12,000xg for 5 min at 4°C. The pellets were semi dried and dissolved in minimum volume of DEPC-treated water. 2 µl of RNA was made up to 1 ml and absorbance was measured at 260nm and 280nm in spectrophotometer (Shimadzu UV-1700 pharmaSPEC). For pure RNA preparation the ratio of absorbance at 260/280 was 2. The concentration of RNA was calculated as one absorbance 260 = 40µg.

cDNA Synthesis

Total cDNA synthesis was performed using ABI PRISM cDNA Archive kit in 0.2ml microfuge tubes. The reaction mixture of 20µl contained 0.2µg total RNA, 10X RT buffer, 25X dNTP mixture, 10X Random primers, MultiScribe RT (50U/µl) and RNase free water. The cDNA synthesis reactions were carried out at 25° C for 10 minutes and 37° C for 2 hours using an Eppendorf Personal Cycler. The primers and probes were purchased from Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA designed using Primer Express Software Version (3.0).

Real -Time PCR Assay

Real Time PCR assays were performed in 96-well plates in a ABI 7300 Real Time PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems). To detect gene expression, a TaqMan quantitative 2-step reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to quantify mRNA levels. First-strand cDNA was synthesized with use of a TaqMan RT reagent kit, as recommended by the manufacturer. PCR analyses were conducted with gene-specific primers and fluorescently labeled TaqMan probe, designed by Applied Biosystems. Endogenous control, β -actin, was labelled with a reporter dye (VIC). All reagents were purchased from Applied Biosystems. The probes for specific gene of interest were labeled with FAM at the 5' end and a quencher (Minor Groove Binding Protein - MGB) at the 3' end. The Real-Time data was analyzed with Sequence Detection Systems software version 1.7. All reactions were performed in duplicate.

The TaqMan reaction mixture of 20µl contained 25ng of total RNA-derived cDNAs, 200nM each of the forward primer, reverse primer and PCR analyses were conducted with gene-specific primers and fluorescently labelled Taqman probes of GABA_{Aå1} (Rn00788315_m1), GABA_{Aå5} (Rn00568803_m1), GABA_{Aγ} (Rn00577639_m1), GABA_{Aδ} (Rn00568740_m1), GABA_B (Rn00578911_m1), and GAD (Rn00562748_m1). Endogenous control (β-actin) was labeled with a reporter dye (VIC). 12.5µl of TaqMan 2X Universal PCR Master Mix was taken and the volume was made up with RNAse free water. Each run contained both negative (no template) and positive controls.

The thermocycling profile conditions were as follows:

50°C	 2 minutes	Activation	
95℃	 10 minutes	Initial Denaturation	
95°C	 15 seconds	Denaturation	40 cycles
50°C	 30 seconds	Annealing	
60°C	 1 minutes	Final Extension	

Fluorescence signals measured during amplification were considered positive if the fluorescence intensity was 20-fold greater than the standard deviation of the baseline fluorescence. The $\Delta\Delta$ CT method of relative quantification was used to determine the fold change in expression. This was done by first normalizing the resulting threshold cycle (CT) values of the target mRNAs to the CT values of the internal control β -actin in the same samples (Δ CT = CT_{Target} - CT_{β-actin}). It was further normalized with the control ($\Delta\Delta$ CT= Δ CT - CT _{Control}). The fold change in expression was then obtained (2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}).

Confocal Studies

Control and experimental rats were deeply anesthetized with chloral hydrate. The rat was transcardially perfused with PBS (pH- 7.4) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS (Chen et al., 2007). After perfusion the brains were dissected and immersion fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 1 hr and then equilibrated with 30% sucrose solution in PBS (0.1 M). 10 µm sections were cut using Cryostat (Leica, CM1510 S). The sections were treated with PBST (PBS in 0.05% Triton X-100) for 20 min. Brain slices were incubated overnight at 4 °C with rat primary antibody for GABAAdil (No- 31775, diluted in PBST at 1: 1000 dilution). After overnight incubation, the brain slices were rinsed with PBST and then incubated with rhodamine coated secondary antibody (No-AP307R, diluted in PBST at 1: 1000 dilution) or Rhodamine dye (No:AP307R Chemicon, diluted in PBST at 1: 1000 dilution). The sections were observed and photographed using confocal imaging system (Leica SP 5). The Pixel intensity of each image was calculated using LAS software from Lyca (Savitha et al., 2009a, b). The specificity of the immunocytochemical procedure is validated by negative controls to ensure that the labeling method accurately identifies the antibody bound to the specific GABA_{A α 1} receptor subunit. The given pixel value is the net value which is deducted from the negative control pixel values.

BEHAVIOURAL STUDIES

Radial Maze Test

Radial maze behavioral testing was conducted under normal room lighting using an eight armed radial maze elevated 100 cm from the floor. Each arm of the maze (11.5 cm wide) was extended 68.5cm from an octagonally shaped central platform (40 cm across). Black Plexiglas walls (11.5 cm high) were placed for the first 20 cm of each arm to prevent the rat crossing from one arm to another without returning to the central platform. Circular food wells (1.3 cm deep, 3.2 cm diameter) were located 2.5cm from the end of each arm. The maze was centered in an enclosed room where lighting and spatial cues (e.g., posters, door and boxes) remained constant throughout the course of the experiment. Arms were baited by placing one raisin in each food well.

Rats were placed on the maze 3 days prior to the start of formal acquisition testing in order to habituate them to the apparatus. On the first day of habituation, 4 food pellets were scattered along the length of each arm. The rats were then systematically confined to each arm for 1 min to ensure their exposure to the entire maze. On the second day of habituation, the previous day's procedure was repeated except that the animals were not confined to each arm following 5 min of exploration. On the third day, one food pellet was placed in the food well at the end of each arm and a second was placed halfway down each arm. Once the rats were habituated to the maze, testing began. Trials began by placing a single rat in the center of the maze facing away from the experimenter. The trial ended when the rat had obtained all 4 pellets or 5min had elapsed, whichever occurred first. Rats were run until they achieved criterion performance for task acquisition. Criterion was attained when the rat collected 3 out of the 4 food pellets within their first 4 arm entries within a trial (while still completing the trial) with this level of performance being maintained for 5 consecutive criterion performance. The number of trials up to and including the last of

these 5 criterion performance formed the "number of trials to criterion" measure. Experimental subjects were tested under blind conditions. The time of testing was consistent from day to day for each subject but testing of the various treatment groups was distributed randomly throughout the day. Performance was recorded during daily behavioral trials according to the terminology in previous studies (Jarrard, 1980; Lopes da Silva et al., 1986; Leung et al., 1990). Entry into an unbaited arm was scored as a reference error and reentry into a baited arm was scored as a working error.

Y-Maze Test

The Y-maze was made of grey wood, covered with black paper and consisted of three arms with an angle of 120 degrees between each of the arms. Each arm was 8 cm width ×30 cm length ×15 cm height. The three identical arms were randomly designated: Start arm, in which the rat started to explore (always open); Novel arm, which was blocked at the 1st trial, but open at the 2nd trial; and the other arm (always open). The maze was placed in a separate room with enough light. The floor of the maze was covered with sawdust, which was mixed after each individual trial in order to eliminate olfactory stimuli. Visual cues were placed on the walls of the maze.

The Y-maze test consisted of two trials separated by an inter-trial interval (ITI). The first trial (training) was of 10 minutes duration and allowed the rat to explore only two arms (start arm and the other arm) of the maze, with the third arm (novel arm) blocked. After a 1 hour ITI (Ma *et al.*, 2007), the second trial (retention) was conducted, during which all three arms were accessible and novelty vs. familiarity was analyzed through comparing behavior in all three arms. For the second trial, the rat was placed back in the maze in the same starting arm, with free access to all three arms for 5 minutes. The time spent in each arm was analyzed. Data was expressed as percentage of performance in all three arms during the five minutes of test (Akwa *et al.*, 2001, Jobin, *et al.*, 2010).

Grid Walk Test

Deficits in descending motor control were examined by assessing the ability to navigate across a 1 m long runway with irregularly assigned gaps (0.5-5 cm) between round metal bars. Crossing this runway requires that animals accurately place their limbs on the bars. In baseline training and postoperative testing, every animal had to cross the grid for at least three times. The number of footfalls (errors) was counted in each crossing for 3 minute and a mean error rate was calculated (Z'Graggen *.et al.*, 1998).

Narrow Beam Test

The narrow beam test was performed according to the descriptions of Haydn and Jasmine (1975). A rectangular 1.2-cm wide beam, 1.05m long and elevated 30 cm from the ground was used for the study. After training, normal rats were able to traverse the horizontal beams with less than three footfalls. When occasionally their feet slipped off the beam, they were retrieved and repositioned precisely. The time the rats could remain balanced on the beam was counted.

Open-field Behavior Test

Evaluation of open-field behavior was done according to the procedure of Laurie and Gary (1982). Extraneous noise was minimized during testing, and the observer was the only person present. The observer hand carried the rat from its cage to the open field. At the beginning of testing, the rat was placed in the center of an open field enclosure constructed of corrugated cardboard 1 m X 0.75 m X 0.75 m with 4 walls and floor but no ceiling. The rat was observed for 2.5 minutes after being placed in the open field and its behavior was evaluated and recorded every 6 seconds. Each 6-second period was scored according to the predominant behavior seen during that period, even if more than one behavior was observed. During testing the observer sat as far from the open field as possible so as not to disturb the rat and made no sudden movements or noises. Between trials, fecal pellets and urine were removed

from the open field. Behaviors are classified into 4 mutually exclusive categories: grooming, sniffing, resting, and staring. Grooming is self directed behavior in which the rat scratches itself, bites its fur, or cleans its whiskers. Sniffing is exploratory behavior in which the rat changes location, with rapid movement of its nose and whiskers. Resting is a passive behavior in which the rat does not move and has a relaxed body posture. Staring is a behavior in which the rat has a tense body posture and seems to be looking at something.

Statistics

Statistical evaluations were done by ANOVA using InStat (Ver.2.04a) computer programme. Linear regression Scatchard plots were made using SIGMA PLOT (Ver 2.03). Sigma Plot software (version 2.0, Jandel GmbH, Erkrath, Germany). Competitive binding data were analysed using non-linear regression curve-fitting procedure (GraphPad PRISMTM, San Diego, USA). Empower software were used for HPLC analysis. Relative Quantification Software was used for analyzing Real-Time PCR results.

Results

Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of control and experimental rats

Seizure frequency per 4 hours over 72 hours video recording period showed a significant increase (p<0.01) in epileptic group. Treatment with, *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine significantly (p<0.01) reduced the seizure frequency when compared to epileptic group (Table-1, Figure- 1-4).

Acetylcholine esterase activity in the muscle of control and experimental rats

 V_{max} of acetylcholine esterase significantly increased (p<0.01) in the muscle of epileptic rats compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment significantly reversed the V_{max} (p<0.01) to near control. K_m showed no significant change in the experimental groups (Table-2).

Acetylcholine esterase activity in the heart of control and experimental rats

 V_{max} acetylcholine esterase significantly decreased (p<0.01) in the heart of epileptic group compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment significantly reversed the V_{max} (p<0.01) to near control. K_m showed no significant change in the experimental groups (Table-3).

Malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle of control and experimental rats

 V_{max} of malate dehydrogenase significantly increased (p<0.01) in the muscle of epileptic group compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment significantly reversed the V_{max} (p<0.01) to near control. Km significantly decreased (p<0.01) in the epileptic rats compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01) and Bacoside- A (p<0.05) treatment significantly reversed the Km (p<0.01) to near control (Table-4).

Epinephrine and Norepinephrine content in the heart of control and experimental rats

Epinephrine and norepinephrine content showed no significant changes in the serum of epileptic, *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated rats (Table-5).

T3 content in the serum of control and experimental groups of rats

T3 content in the serum of the epileptic rats was significantly (p<0.001) increased compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) treatment significantly reversed the T3 content to near control (Table-6, Figure-5).

Circulating insulin level in the serum of control and experimental rats

Insulin content in the serum was significantly (p<0.001) increased in the epileptic rats compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) treatment significantly reversed the insulin content to near control (Table-7, Figure-6).

I. GABA CONTENT IN DIFFERENT BRAIN REGIONS OF CONTROL AND EXPERIMENTAL RATS

1. Cerebral cortex

GABA content in the Cerebral Cortex was significantly (p<0.001) decreased in epileptic rats compared to control. GABA content was significantly reversed to near control by the treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-8, Figure-7).

Results

2. Hippocampus

GABA content in the hippocampus was significantly (p<0.001) decreased in epileptic rats compared to control. GABA content was significantly (p<0.01), reversed to near control by the treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine (Table-9, Figure-8).

3. Cerebellum

GABA content in the Cerebellum was significantly (p<0.001) decreased in epileptic rats compared to control. GABA content was significantly (p<0.01), reversed to near control by the treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine (Table-10, Figure-9).

4. Corpus striatum

GABA content in the corpus striatum was significantly (p<0.001) decreased in epileptic rats compared to control. GABA content was significantly reversed to near control by the treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-11, Figure-10).

5. Brain stem

GABA content in the brain stem was significantly (p<0.001) decreased in epileptic rats compared to control. GABA content was significantly reversed to near control by the treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) (Table-12, Figure-11).

II. BRAIN GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE CONTROL AND EXPERIMENTAL RATS

A. CEREBRAL CORTEX

1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [3H]GABA binding against GABA in the cerebral cortex showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic group compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant increase in *Bacopa monnieri*, (P<0.01) Bacoside A (P<0.05) and Carbamazepine (P<0.01) treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-13, Figure-12).

2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the cerebral cortex showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant increased in *Bacopa monnieri*, (P<0.01) and Bacoside A (P<0.05) treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-14, Figure-13).

3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the cerebral cortex showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in the B_{max} of epileptic rats compared to controls. K_d showed significant increase (P<0.05) in epileptic group compared to

control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control significantly, without showing any significant change in K_d (P<0.01) (Table-15, Figure-14).

4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdi in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\acute{a}1}$ receptor subunit mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly up regulated GABA_{A\acute{a}1} receptor subunit to near control (Table-16, Figure-15).

5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdd in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GABA_{Aά5} receptor subunit mRNA showed significant up regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly down regulated GABA_{Aά5} receptor subunit to near control (Table-17, Figure-16).

6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Ay3} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ receptor subunit mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GABA_{A\gamma3} gene expression to near control (Table-18, Figure-17).

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\delta}$ receptor subunit mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001) reversed the GABA_{A\delta} gene expression to near control (Table-19, Figure-18).

8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_B in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_B$ receptor mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside-A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GABA_B gene expression to near control (Table-20, Figure-19).

9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GAD mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GAD gene expression to near control (Table-21, Figure-20).

B. HIPPOCAMPUS

1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the hippocampus showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) reversal in *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-22, Figure-21).

2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the hippocampus showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) reversal in *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated groups compared to epileptic rats (Table-23, Figure-22).

3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the hippocampus showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic group compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant reversal in *Bacopa monnieri*, (P<0.05) and Bacoside A (P<0.01) treated groups compared to epileptic rats (Table-24, Figure-23).

4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aé1} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GABA_{Aá1} mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GABA_{Aá1} gene expression to near control (Table-25, Figure-24).
5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdds in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{Aa5}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed the GABA_{Aa5} gene expression to near control (Table-26, Figure-25).

6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Av3} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GABA_{A\gamma3} gene expression to near control (Table-27, Figure-26).

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\delta}$ mRNA showed significant up regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed the GABA_{A\delta} gene expression to near control (Table-28, Figure-27).

8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_B in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_B$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_B gene expression to near control (Table-29, Figure-28).

9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GAD mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the hippocampus of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed GAD gene expression to near control (Table-30, Figure-29).

C. CEREBELLUM

1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the cerebellum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.001) of epileptic group compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant reversal in *Bacopa monnieri* (P<0.001), Bacoside A (P<0.01) and Carbamazepine (P<0.01) treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-31, Figure-30).

2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the cerebellum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} (P<0.01) of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed no significant change in the experimental rats (Table-32, Figure-31).

3. Scatchard analysis of $[{}^{3}H]$ baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the cerebellum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed no significant change in the experimental rats (Table-33, Figure-32).

4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAái in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}1}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacocide A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}1} gene expression to near control (Table-34, Figure-33).

5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdds in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GABA_{Aå5} mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{Aå5} gene expression to near control (Table-35, Figure-34).

6. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{Ay3}$ mRNA showed significant up regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{Ay3} gene expression to near control (Table-36, Figure-35).

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{A5} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\delta}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacocide A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed GABA_{A\delta} gene expression to near control (Table-37, Figure-36).

8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_B in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_B$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed GABA_B gene expression to near control (Table-38, Figure-37).

9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GAD mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the cerebellum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed GAD gene expression to near control (Table-39, Figure-38).

D. CORPUS STRIATUM

1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the corpus striatum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.01) of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) reversal in *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-40, Figure-39).

2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the corpus striatum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) increase in *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-41, Figure-40).

3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the corpus striatum showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant increase in *Bacopa monnieri* (P<0.05), Bacoside A (P<0.05), and Carbamazepine (P<0.01) treated group compared to control and epileptic rats (Table-42, Figure-41).

4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Aé1} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GABA_{Aå1} mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{Aå1} gene expression to near control (Table-43, Figure-42).

5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAás in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GABA_{A α 5} mRNA showed significant up regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{A α 5} gene expression to near control (Table-44, Figure-43).

6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_{Av3} in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{A\gamma3} gene expression to near control (Table-45, Figure-44).

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\delta}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001) reversed GABA_{A\delta} gene expression to near control (Table-46, Figure-45).

8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_B in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_B$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001) reversed GABA_B gene expression to near control (Table-47, Figure-46).

9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GAD mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the corpus striatum of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001), reversed GAD gene expression to near control (Table-48, Figure-47).

E. BRAIN STEM

1. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the brain stem showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d (P<0.05) of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) reversal in Bacoside A treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-49, Figure-48).

2. Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the brain stem showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} and K_d of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant reversal in *Bacopa monnieri*, (P<0.001) *Bacoside* A (P<0.01) and Carbamazepine (P<0.001) treated group compared to epileptic rats (Table-50, Figure-49).

3. Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the control and experimental rats

Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen against baclofen in the brain stem showed a significant decrease (P<0.001) in B_{max} of epileptic rats compared to control rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the B_{max} to near control. K_d showed significant (P<0.01) reversal in *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated group compared to control and epileptic rats (Table-51, Figure-50).

4. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdi in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}1}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed $GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}1}$ gene expression to near control (Table-52, Figure-51).

5. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAdds in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}5}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{A\dot{\alpha}5} gene expression to near control (Table-53, Figure-52).

6. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABAAy3 in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\gamma3}$ mRNA showed significant up regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{A\gamma3} gene expression to near control (Table-54, Figure-53).

7. Real Time-PCR analysis of $GABA_{A\delta}$ in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_{A\delta}$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001) and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GABA_{Aδ} gene expression to near control (Table-55, Figure-54).

8. Real Time-PCR analysis of GABA_B in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of $GABA_B$ mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were significantly (p<0.001 reversed GABA_B gene expression to near control (Table-56, Figure-55).

9. Real Time-PCR analysis of GAD in the control and experimental rats

Gene expression of GAD mRNA showed significant down regulation (p<0.001) in the brain stem of epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.001), Bacoside A (p<0.001 and Carbamazepine (p<0.01) were significantly reversed GAD gene expression to near control (Table-57, Figure-56).

III. BEHAVIORAL STUDY

1. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on Y-Maze performance

Number of visits and time spent in the novel arm decreased significantly (p<0.001) in the epileptic group compared to control. Lower percentage of arm visits between the novel arm and the start arm and decreased time spent in the novel arm compared to the other two arms within the epileptic rats showed their decreased exploratory behaviour which have considerable role in the motor learning. Time spends in the novel arm and number of visit to the novel arm was increased in the

epileptic rats treated with Bacopa *monnieri* and Bacoside A (Table-58, 59; Figure-57, 58).

2. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on criterion performance in radial arm maze

There was significant increase (p<0.001) in the number of trials required to achieve five consecutive criterion performances in the epileptic rats compared to control. The number of trials up to and including the last of these 5 criterion performance formed the "number of trials to criterion" measure. Increased numbers of trials to criterion performance was indicating the learning and memory deficit in epileptic rats. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A reversed these changes to near control (Table-60, Figure-59).

3. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on reference errors in radial arm maze

There was significant increase (p<0.001) in the number of reference errors to achieve five consecutive criterion performances in the epileptic rats compared to control. Number of reference errors to achieve five consecutive criterion performances was significantly decreased in epileptic rats administered with *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-61, Figure-60).

4. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on working errors in radial arm maze

There was significant increase (p<0.001) in the number of working errors to achieve five consecutive criterion performances in the epileptic rats compared to control. Number of working errors to achieve five consecutive criterion performances was significantly decreased in epileptic rats administered with *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-62, Figure-61).

5. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on grid walk test

There was significant increase (p<0.001) in the foot falls in epileptic rats compared to control. Foot falls were significantly decreased in epileptic rats administered with *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-63, Figure-62).

6. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on narrow beam test

There was significant decrease in the retention of balance on the narrow beam (p<0.001) in epileptic rats compared to control. Balance on the narrow beam was significantly increased in epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri* (p<0.01), Bacoside A (p<0.01) and Carbamazepine (p<0.05) (Table-64, Figure-63).

7. Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on open field test

In epileptic rats resting behavior significantly increased (p<0.01) and sniffing behavior decreased (p<0.01) compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine significantly increased the sniffing and decreased the resting behaviour (Table-65).

IV. CONFOCAL STUDIES

1. GABA_{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the Cerebral cortex of Control and experimental rats

GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit antibody staining in the Cerebral cortex showed a significant decrease (p<0.01) in the pixel intensity of GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit in epileptic rats compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated epileptic rats showed a significant reversal (p<0.01) of decreased GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit staining in the cerebral cortex compared to epileptic rats (Table-66, Figure-64).

2. GABA_{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the Hippocampus of Control and experimental rats

GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit antibody staining in the hippocampus showed a significant decrease (p<0.01) in the pixel intensity of GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit in epileptic rat compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated epileptic rats showed a significant reversal (p<0.01) of the decreased GABA_{Aa1} receptor subunit staining in the hippocampus compared to epileptic rats (Table-66, Figure-65).

3. GABA_{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the cerebellum of Control and experimental rats

 $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit antibody staining in the cerebellum showed a significant decrease (p<0.01) in the pixel intensity of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in epileptic rat compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated epileptic rats showed a significant reversal (p<0.01) of the decrease in $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit staining in the cerebellum compared to epileptic rats (Table-66, Figure-66).

4. GABA_{Aal} receptor antibody staining in the corpus striatum of Control and experimental rats

 $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit antibody staining in the corpus striatum showed a significant decrease (p<0.01) in the pixel intensity of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in epileptic rat compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated epileptic rats showed a significant reversal (p<0.01) of the decreased $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit staining in the corpus striatum compared to epileptic rats (Table-66, Figure-67).

5. GABA_{Aa1} receptor antibody staining in the brain stem of Control and experimental rats

 $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit antibody staining in the brain stem showed a significant decrease (p<0.01) in the pixel intensity of $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit in epileptic rat compared to control. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treated epileptic rats showed a significant reversal (p<0.01) of the decreased $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit staining in the brain stem compared to epileptic rats (Table-66, Figure-68).

DISCUSSION

SEIZURE LATENCY AND MAGNITUDE OF DRUG EFFECT

Increase in the seizure onset latency and decrease in the duration of seizures of various antiepileptic drugs were reported earlier (Eric *et al.*, 2002). In our study epileptic rats showed increased seizure frequency. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine, reduced the number of seizures per hour compared to the epileptic rat groups. The severities of the seizures in the treated rat groups were also decreased. These results are suggestive evidence of the ability of the *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A in reducing the spontaneous seizures, which showed their antiepileptic property.

PERIPHERAL ACETYLCHOLINE ESTERASE, MALATE DEHYDOGENASE, T3 AND INSULIN CHANGES DURING TEMPORAL LOBE EPILEPSY

The most common etiologic factors of epilepsy that can predispose a person to epilepsy are head traumas, neoplasms, degenerative diseases, infections, metabolic diseases, ischemia and hemorrhages (Vinters *et al.*, 1993). Certain brain areas such as temporal and frontal lobes are more susceptible to produce epileptic seizure activity than the other regions. However, there are also patients with unresolved etiology of epilepsy (Hauser, 1997). Epilepsy is a seizure disorder. A seizure is an event that involves loss of consciousness and motor (muscular) control. A person with a seizure disorder often experiences repetitive muscle jerking called convulsions. The condition is caused by a sudden change in electrical activity in the brain. Generalized tonicclonic seizure is a seizure involving the entire body, also called a grand mal seizure. Such seizures frequently involve muscle rigidity, violent muscle contractions and loss of consciousness (Martinelli *et al.*, 1978). Epilepsy typically cause myoclonic twitches, usually caused by sudden muscle contractions; they also can result from brief lapses of contraction (Fumisuke, 2009). We have investigated acetylcholine esterase (AChE) activity in the heart and muscle, malate dehydrogenase (MDH) activity in the muscle, T3, insulin content in the serum and epinephrine and norepinephrine in the heart of the control and experimental rats. Our results showed that AChE and MDH activity increased in the muscle and decreased in the heart of the epileptic rats compared to control. Circulating Insulin and triiodothyronine (T3) content were increased in the serum of the epileptic rats.

Acetylcholine induced seizure-like activity in chronically epileptic rats (Wonnacott, 1997). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are widespread ligand-gated ion channels that mediate fast cholinergic transmission at both the peripheral and central nervous systems. In addition to their involvement in neuromuscular and autonomic ganglia synaptic transmission, they play an important role in cognitive and addictive processes (Lena & Changeux, 1998). Furthermore, their dysfunction has been linked to a number of human diseases, including congenital myasthenia, schizophrenia, epilepsy and neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Lena & Changeux, 1998; Hogg et al., 2003). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are present in many tissues in the body and are the best studied of the ionotropic receptors. The neuronal receptors are found in the central nervous system and the peripheral nervous system. The neuromuscular receptors are found in the neuromuscular junctions of somatic muscles; stimulation of these receptors causes muscular contraction (Lorkovi et al., 1995). Seizures are initiated by the excessive neuronal activity in the brain which is transmitted through the peripheral nervous system and stimulate the release of ACh into the neuromuscular junction. Acetylcholine released into the neuromuscular junction from the presynaptic neurons initiate the muscle contraction. On the other hand ACh inhibit heart beat and epinephrine and norepinephrine initiate it (Zaugg & Schaub, 2005). AChE activity has been used as a marker for cholinergic activity (Finla et al., 2008). The enzyme acetylcholine esterase converts acetylcholine into the inactive metabolites choline and

Discussion

acetate. AChE is abundant in the synaptic cleft, and its role in rapidly clearing free acetylcholine from the synapse is essential for proper muscle function. AChE plays a very important role in the ACh-cycle, including the release of ACh (Kouniniotou-Krontiri & Tsakiris 1989). The duration of ACh at the synaptic cleft is critically dependent on AChE activity (Cooper *et al.*, 2003). Our study showed increased AChE activity in the muscle and decreased activity in the heart of the epileptic rats. Increased cholinergic activity in the neuromuscular junction makes the muscle more susceptible to seizures.

Malate dehydrogenase is an enzyme in the citric acid cycle that catalyzes the conversion of malate into oxaloacetate using NAD⁺ and vice versa. Malate dehydrogenase MDH is also involved in gluconeogenesis, the synthesis of glucose from smaller molecules. The activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and MDH was estimated as indicators of anaerobic metabolism (Renato et al., 2008). As previously reported, mitochondrial MDH binds to purified complex I of the electron transport system and mitochondrial function is a key determinant of both excitability and viability of neurons (Achmunjal et al., 2005). Brain mitochondrial membrane was more fluidized in epileptic animals with a possible consequence of mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) dysfunction. Studies showed that impairment of MRC function along with structural alterations suggest novel pathophysiological mechanisms important for chronic epileptic condition (Achmunjal et al., 2005). Alcoholic extract of Bacopa monnieri was tested for its protective role on morphineinduced brain mitochondrial enzyme status in rats. The level of the brain mitochondrial enzymes was significantly lower in the morphine-treated group when compared with control animals. These enzymes were maintained at normal level when Bacopa monnieri extract was administered before the administration of morphine (Sumathy et al., 2002). Our study showed increased MDH activity in the muscle of the epileptic rats indicative of the increased metabolic rate in the muscle of the

epileptic rats. Administration of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A decreased the enzyme activity to near control level.

Insulin facilitates the entrance of glucose into the muscle cells (Park *et al.*, 1955). The only mechanism by which cells take up glucose is by facilitated diffusion through a family of hexose transporters. In muscle tissue the major transporter used for uptake of glucose is glucose transporter-4 (GLUT4) which was made available in the plasma membrane through the action of insulin (Duehlmeier *et al.*, 2007). Insulin regulates glucose uptake into these cells by recruiting membrane vesicles containing the GLUT4 glucose transporters from the interior of the cells to the cell surface, where it allows glucose to enter cells by facilitated diffusion (Heidi *et al.*, 2002). Once in the cytoplasm, the glucose is phosphorylated and thereby trapped inside cells. The effect of insulin on GLUT4 distribution is reversible. Within an hour of insulin exclusion, GLUT4 was removed from the membrane and restored intracellular in vesicles were ready to be re-recruited to the surface by insulin (Chandrasagar *et al.*, 2008). Our study showed increased insulin content in the serum of the epileptic rats. Increased insulin content in the serum of epileptic rats facilitates the rapid intake of glucose into the muscle cells.

T3 is the major metabolic hormone which has effect on basal metabolic rate (BMR) (Acheson *et al.*, 1984). The thyroid gland secretes mostly thyroxine (T4) and very little T3. Most of the T3 that drives cell metabolism is produced by action of the enzyme named 5'-deiodinase, which converts T4 to T3. T3 is the metabolically active thyroid hormone. In adult life, it exerts a profound effect on basal metabolic rate, increasing respiration rate and simultaneously lowering metabolic efficiency (Jin *et al.*, 2006). It mainly acts through the coordinated and synergistic modulation of both nuclear and mitochondrial genome expressions giving rise to a complex network of factors and cellular events (Silvestri *et al.*, 2008). Increased plasma T3 level is an indicator of increased BMR (Bernt *et al.*, 2008). In our study epileptic rats showed increased T3 content in the serum compared to control and treatment using *Bacopa*

monnieri and Bacoside A decreased the T3 content to near control. Treatment of rats with T3 resulted in a significant decrease in body weight (Lloyd *et al.*, 1983), while the heart weight increased which indicated that T3 and T4 thyrotoxicosis results in impaired energy metabolism in heart mitochondria (Katyare & Billimoria, 1989). T3 has the ability to uncouple oxidation of substrates from ATP production, resulting in reduced ATP production and an astounding production of heat (Lanni *et al.*, 2003, 1999). Muscle glycogen is also more rapidly depleted and less efficiently stored during hyperthyroidism, which create muscle weakness.

Thus our study showed increased excitability and energy metabolism in epileptic rats. It is suggested that repetitive seizures resulted in increased metabolism and excitability in epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment decreased the seizures frequency in the epileptic rats there by reducing the impairment on peripheral nervous system (Jobin *et al.*, 2010b).

GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX

GABA neurons constitute 20–30% of all neurons in the cerebral cortex and perform critical roles in modulating cortical functional output (Cherubini & Conti, 2001; Krimer & Goldman-Rakic, 2001). During development, GABA neurons modulate neocortical neuroepithelial cell proliferation, neuronal migration and circuit formation (Owens & Kriegstein, 2002; Ben-Ari *et al.*, 2004). Abnormalities in GABA neuron function occur in a variety of developmental disorders including epilepsy, schizophrenia, anxiety and autism (Benes, 2000; Treiman, 2001; Levitt *et al.*, 2004). GABA, the principal inhibitory neurotransmitter in the cerebral cortex, maintains the inhibitory tones that counter balances neuronal excitation. When this balance is perturbed, seizures ensue (Gregory & Mathews, 2007). GABA is formed within GABAergic axon terminals and released into the synapse, where it acts at one of two types of receptor GABA_A and GABA_B (Labrakakis *et al.*, 1997). GABA_A receptor binding influences the early portion of the GABA mediated inhibitory postsynaptic

potential, whereas GABA_B binding influences the late portion. GABA_A receptor activation in neurons induced a complex physiological response, namely the activation of a CI conductance in concert with a blockade of the resting K⁺ outward conductance results in hyperpolarisation. Both responses were mediated by the activation of GABA_A receptors, since they were both mimicked by the GABA_A receptor agonist muscimol and antagonized by picrotoxin and bicuculline (Labrakakis et al., 1997). A balance of excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission is required for normal functioning of the central nervous system. GABAergic neurons provide inhibitory control in the brain and have an important role in selective neuronal degeneration following ischemia and epilepsy (Mileson et al., 1992; Sperk et al., 2004). In addition to augmentation of endogenous protective mechanisms following different pathophysiological conditions, alterations in the kinetics and pharmacology of GABA_A receptors is associated with the development of spontaneous seizure activity (Coulter, 2001; Treiman, 2001; Nishimura et al., 2005). Our results showed decreased GABA receptor binding and gene expression in the cerebral cortex of the epileptic rats showing the decreased GABA receptor distribution. Imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission in key brain areas are implicated in the pathophysiology of TLE, in which there is a decrease in the GABA mediated inhibition. TLE seizures reflect excess excitation, which result from local inhibitory circuit dysfunction. Reduction of GABA mediated inhibition and decreased activity of GAD has been reported in studies of human epileptic brain tissue. Impairment of GABA functions produces seizures, whereas enhancement results in an anticonvulsant effect (MacDonald & Barker, 1979; Schulz & Macdonald, 1981). Support for a chronic loss of GABAergic function in epileptogenic human cortex has been based on biochemical assays of tissue resected for relief of focal seizure (Lloyd et al., 1981, 1984). Altered GABA_A receptor function has been described in the cerebral cortex and thalamus of two inbred strains of rats that exhibit spontaneous spike and wave

seizures and are recognized as genetic models of absence epilepsy (Coenen et al., 2003).

GAD is an enzyme that catalyzes the decarboxylation of glutamate to GABA. GAD is the rate limiting enzyme of GABA synthesis and it is used as a marker for GABAergic activity (Sophie *et al.*, 1990). It is reported that in both epileptic and histologically damaged cortex, there are significant decreases in GAD and GABA binding (Lloyd *et al.*, 1981). Our study showed down regulation of GAD mRNA in the cerebral cortex of the epileptic rats compared to control. GAD plays a very important role in maintaining excitatory inhibitory balance of the central nervous system (Quan *et al.*, 2003). Analysis of GAD activity was used as a marker of over all GABAergic activity and was found to be lower in epileptic mice. The enzymatic activity of GAD is the rate limiting step in the production of GABA and GAD serve as a marker of inhibitory neurons. Moreover, preliminary findings indicate that the decrease in GABA is associated with reduced GABA synthesis rather than increased degradation (Mason *et al.*, 2001).

The incidence of psychiatric diseases in epileptics is significantly higher than in the general population (Robertson *et al.*, 1986; Mendez *et al.*, 1986; Kanner & Soto, 1998; Mendez *et al.*, 1993). Depressive and anxiety disorders are the most common psychiatric diseases in these patient groups. Recent studies employing magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) suggest that unipolar depression is associated with reductions in cortical GABA levels (Sanacora *et al.*, 1999, 2000). Antidepressant and mood-stabilizing treatments also appear to raise cortical GABA levels and to ameliorate GABA deficits in patients with mood disorders (Krystal *et al.*, 2002). Anxiety disorders have long been associated with disturbances of GABA function because of the ability of the benzodiazepine anxiolytics to facilitate brain GABA neurotransmission (Honig, *et al.*, 1988). Interestingly, as with plasma studies MRS also reveals lowered concentrations of GABA in occipital cortex in panic disorder (Goddard, *et al.*, 2001) and in subjects with alcohol dependence (Behar, *et* al., 1999). We observed a significant decrease in the B_{max} of GABA receptors and GABA content in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats compared to control. GABA receptors and GAD gene expression patterns were similar to the receptor binding studies. Treatment using Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A increased the receptor binding and up regulated the receptor subunit gene expression in the epileptic rats. Our studies and previous studies from our lab showed that *Bacopa monnieri* treatment to epileptic rats reduced the number of seizures per hour which is suggestive of its anticonvulsant property (Reas et al., 2008). The increasing brain GABA content and administration of centrally active GABA-mimetic agents have been used as an effective therapeutic approach for the treatment of epilepsy (Olsen & Avoli, 1997). However, it has also been suggested that the use of drugs that continually alter synaptic transmission does not represent the best strategy to control seizure expression (Gale 1992). Prolonged administration of drugs enhancing GABA action lead to reduced GABAergic function (Gyenes et al., 1988) and alterations in GABAA receptors (Calkin & Barnes, 1994; Yu & Ticku, 1995) as well as tolerance and dependence, especially to sedative and anticonvulsant effects of drugs such as benzodiazepines. Therefore instead of using the drugs like benzodiazepines, administration of herbal medicine like Bacopa monnieri have significant role in the management of epilepsy.

GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS

TLE is a common form of drug-refractory epilepsy (Engel, 1998). Hippocampal sclerosis, the main neuropathological feature of TLE is characterized by massive neuronal loss and gliosis in CA1, CA3 and hilus, while most granule cells of the dentate gyrus are preserved. It is associated with axon and synaptic reorganization of surviving neurons. Reorganized axons include sprouting of excitatory mossy fibres, inhibitory GABAergic neurons and fibres with other neurotransmitters such as neuropeptide Y and somatostatin (Mathern *et al.*, 1997). Occurrence of epileptic

seizures is the consequence of an imbalance in the neurotransmission systems in favour of neuronal hyperexcitation. In our study GABA receptor binding and gene expression were considerably decreased in the hippocampus of the epileptic rats. Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A treatment helped to enhance the GABA receptor in the epileptic rats. The plasticity of inhibitory GABA_A receptor-mediated synaptic inhibition is considered to contribute to hyper-excitability in the dentate gyrus granule cells layer in TLE patients. Indeed, the dentate gyrus critically regulates seizures by making synchronous activities from entorhinal cortex were able to invade the hippocampus. However, a failure in the gating function of the dentate gyrus can generate robust paroxysmal discharges (Lothman et al., 1992; Behr et al., 1998). The presence of the markers of the GABAergic phenotype in the glutamate-releasing granule cells (Crawford & Connor, 1973) of the dentate gyrus suggests that GABA could be synthesized, vesiculated and released from the same neurons (Gutiérrez, 2002). These markers are highly expressed during development, down-regulated and barely detectable in the adult rat, but reappear after strong excitation, especially after seizures (Sandler & Smith, 1991; Schwarzer & Sperk, 1995; Sloviter et al., 1996; Lehman et al., 1996;). Accordingly, cellular electrophysiological studies have shown that mossy fibre activation produces, in addition to monosynaptic glutamate receptormediated responses, monosynaptic $GABA_{A}R$ -mediated synaptic potentials/currents in their target cells, pyramidal cells and interneurons of CA3, when the GABAergic markers are highly expressed (Walker et al., 2001; Gutiérrez et al., 2003; Bergersen et al., 2003).

Degeneration of CA3-pyramidal neurons in hippocampus of rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy leads to persistent reductions in hippocampal GAD interneuron numbers indicating loss of GAD expression in a majority of interneurons (Ashok *et al.*, 2000). There could be a direct link between the loss of functional inhibition and reduction in GAD positive interneuron numbers. Therefore, strategies that restore GAD interneuron numbers to levels observed in intact hippocampus is beneficial for

both restoring the functional inhibition and ameliorating hyperexcitability (Ashok *et al.*, 2000). Our results showed a significant down regulation of GAD gene expression in the hippocampus of the epileptic rats and the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A reversed this change to near control. GAD plays a very important role in maintaining excitatory-inhibitory balance of the central nervous system (Quan *et al.*, 2003). Analysis of GAD activity was used as a marker of over all GABAergic activity and was found to be lower in epileptic mice. Failure of GABergic inhibition or enhancement of excitatory neurotransmission contributed to seizure initiation, especially at or near the site of seizure initiation (Balters & Francesco, 2002). Thus it is clear that the decreased GABA receptors along with decreased GAD gene expression in the hippocampus have an important role in TLE.

Thus our results suggest that decreased GABA content, GABA receptors and GAD activity in the hippocampus encompass an important role during seizure initiation. We conclude from our studies that *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment potentiates a beneficial effect against epilepsy by reversing the alterations in general GABA, GABA_A and GABA_B receptor binding, GABA_A receptor subunits and GAD gene expression that occur during epilepsy, resulting in an increased GABA mediated inhibition in the over stimulated hippocampal neurons. Increased GABA receptors along with increased GAD activity prevent the seizure by ensuring hyper polarisation in the hippocampal neurons.

GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE CEREBELLUM

Cerebellum is a region of the brain that plays an important role in the integration of sensory perception, memory consolidation, coordination and motor control. In order to coordinate motor control, there are many neural pathways linking the cerebellum with the cerebral motor cortex and the spinocerebellar tract (Roberta & Peter, 2003). There is currently enough anatomical, physiological and theoretical evidence to support the hypothesis that cerebellum is the region of the brain for

Discussion

learning, basal ganglia for reinforcement learning and cerebral cortex for unsupervised learning (Doya, 1999). The cellular basis of motor learning has been mostly attributed to long term depression (LTD) at excitatory parallel fiber (PF)-Purkinje cell (PC) synapses. LTD is induced when PFs are activated in conjunction with a climbing fiber (CF), the other excitatory input to PCs. Recently, by using whole-cell patch-clamp recording from PCs in cerebellar slices, a new form of synaptic plasticity was discovered. Stimulation of excitatory CFs induced a long-lasting rebound potentiation (RP) of γ -amino-butyric acid A (GABA_A) receptor mediated inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) (Peer *et al.*, 2009; Bibiana *et al.*, 2008). As in LTD, induction of RP requires transient elevation of intracellular calcium concentration due to activation of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (Kano, 1996; Chitoshi & Yoshiro, 2004; Siqiong *et al.*, 2008). Activity of inhibitory synapses also seems to be necessary for RP to occur. Memory deficit is a major problem in TLE patients (Isabelle, 2006; Indre, 2000).

In our study, [³H]GABA, [³H]bicuculline and [³H]baclofen binding were significantly decreased in the cerebellum of epileptic rats. GABA_A receptor subunits GABA_{Aå1}, GABA_{Aå5} and GABA_{Að}, were down regulated in the cerebellum of the epileptic rats compared to control. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A were increasing the GABA receptor binding and GABA receptor subunit gene expression. Alterations in GABA_A receptor subunit expression and composition in epilepsy are well documented in human (Loup *et al.*, 2000, 2006) and in animal models (Peng *et al.*, 2004; Gilby *et al.*, 2005; Nishimura *et al.*, 2005; Roberts *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2006). The changes in GABA_A receptor subunit contribute to the changes in inhibitory function that underlie epileptogenesis and occurrence of chronic recurrent seizures (Jean-Marc, 2008). In the mouse pilocarpine model of TLE, a profound decrease in δ subunit from synaptic to perisynaptic sites, where it assembled with the α 4 subunit, which is normally associated with the δ subunit (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). A down-regulation of the α 5 subunit also occurs in CA1 pyramidal cells of

pilocarpine-treated rats (Houser & Esclapez, 2003), resulting in a loss of diazepamsensitive tonic inhibition seen upon blockade of GABA reuptake. Despite this change, tonic inhibition is enhanced in pyramidal cells, suggesting compensatory up regulation of other extrasynaptic GABA_A receptors, possibly containing the α 4 subunit (Jean-Marc, 2008). These studies showed that during epilepsy the subunits of GABA_A receptors showed different subunit combination with varying inhibitory potential.

Thus it is suggested that decreased GABA receptor in the cerebellum plays an important role in the motor and memory deficit and the GABA receptor enhancing property of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A which ameliorate this abnormalities. The receptor analysis and gene expression studies implicated a role for GABA receptors in the modulation of neuronal network excitability and cerebellar motor learning. Our results put forward that changes in the GABAergic activity, motor learning and memory deficit are induced by the occurrence of repetitive seizures. *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment prevents the occurrence of seizures there by reducing the impairment on GABAergic activity, motor learning and memory deficit (Jobin *et al.*, 2010a).

GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE CORPUS STRIATUM

Striatum is anatomically the most prominent nucleus of the basal ganglia and many of the proposed functions of the basal ganglia have been linked to synaptic processing among cells in the striatum. These functions include possible roles in focusing cortical activity (Mallet *et al.*, 2005; Ouyang et al., 2007) and procedural and habit learning (Hikosaka *et al.*, 2002; Morris *et al.*, 2004; Graybiel, 2005; Frank & Claus, 2006). The striatum is thought to play an important role in the spreading of epilepsy from cortical areas to deeper brain structures. Cortical neurons generate synchronous electrical activity under a variety of physiological and pathological conditions (Gray *et al.*, 1989; Nicolelis *et al.*, 1995; Bragin *et al.*, 1999; Grenier *et al.*, 2003). In particular, epilepsy is a heterogeneous disorder that includes multiple

Discussion

conditions, the common trait of which is paroxysmal cortical synchronization (Amzica & Steriade, 1999, 2000; McKeown & McNamara, 2001; McCormick, 2002). Such a synchronous activity, which is characterized by repetitive action potential firing of cortical neurons, will synaptically affect striatal neurons and, as a consequence, will influence the downstream nuclei of the basal ganglia and the thalamus, which impinge back on the cortex. Epileptiform activity in the cortex evoke synchronized depolarizing bursts accompanied by action potentials in striatal projection neurons. All classes of striatal neurons receive prominent inhibitory GABAergic inputs. These inhibitory interactions are likely to be essential for striatal processing. GABA receptors are found at pre or postsynaptic locations in almost all neuronal elements in the striatum (Fujiyama, et al., 2000; Waldvogel et al., 2004). In our study GABA receptor binding and gene expression were decreased in the epileptic rats. It is found that GABA_A receptor blockade, not only increased neuronal spiking in the striatum, as was expected in light of the earlier studies in rodents, but also induced the development of striking changes in striatal local field potentials (LFPs) and in the simultaneously recorded motor cortical EEG activity (Olivier & Thomas, 2008). Studies demonstrated that ambient GABA in the monkey striatum strongly inhibits firing activity of striatal neurons and limits synchronous striatal and cortical activity. GABAergic inputs to striatal interneurons also originate from several sources and GABA receptor blockade at these sites, counteracting an ambient GABAergic tone that contributed to the changes in neuronal spiking. Cholinergic interneurons receive GABAergic input predominately from Medium Spiny Neurons collaterals (Martone et al., 1992). It is suggested that GABAergic inhibition in the striatum is one of the mechanisms that normally prevent excessive movements (Marsden et al., 1975; Crossman et al., 1988; Nakamura et al., 1990; Yoshida et al., 1991). It is possible that reduced inhibition in the striatum contribute to movement disorders such as some forms of dystonia (Fredow & Loscher, 1991; Loscher & Horstermann, 1992; Nobrega et al., 1995; Kreil & Richter, 2005) or myoclonus (Darbin et al., 2000). GABAergic

inhibition in the striatum also act to inhibit seizure generation (Dematteis et al., 2003) or propagation (Sasaki et al., 2000; Benedek et al., 2004; Biraben et al., 2004; Bouilleret et al., 2005). Modulations of striatal GABA levels therefore represent a pharmacological target of interest in the treatment of movement disorders and seizures. Our results showed decreased GABA receptors in the striatum of the epileptic rats. This decreased GABA receptors facilitate the rapid spread of seizure originate in the temporal lobe to different part of the brain which leads to seizure generation. Evidence has accumulated that GABA is involved in the regulation of other neuronal systems, such as dopaminergic (Dray, 1979; O'Neill, 1986) and cholinergic (Ferkany & Enna, 1980; Scatton & Bartholini, 1982) neurons. Local injection of GABA agonists into the midbrain provided seizure protection without a widespread augmentation of GABA-mediated activity throughout the brain and without impairing either alertness or motor function. Synapses in the striatum appear to represent an important control mechanism for inhibiting the propagation of generalized convulsions (ladarola & Gale, 1982). Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A treatment were found to enhance the GABA receptor binding and gene expression in the striatum, giving a protection against the spreading of epileptic seizure through this root. Bacopa monnieri extract appeared to promote cell survival compared to neuronal cells growing in regular culture medium. Further study showed that Bacopa monnieri treated neurons expressed lower level of reactive oxygen species suggesting that Bacopa monnieri restrained intracellular oxidative stress which in turn prolonged the lifespan of the culture neurons. Bacopa monnieri extract also exhibited both reducing and lipid peroxidation inhibitory activities (Limpeanchob et al., 2008). The data indicated that *Bacopa monnieri* has potential to modulate the activities of heat shock protein, Hsp70, P450 and SOD thereby possibly allowing the brain to be prepared to act under adverse conditions such as stress (Kar et al., 2002).

Our results suggest that decreased GABA receptors in the striatum encompass an important role in the spreading of seizure through the striatum during epilepsy. We conclude from our studies that *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment potentiates a therapeutic effect against epilepsy by reversing the alterations in general GABA, GABA_A receptor binding and GABA_A receptor subunits gene expression that occur during epilepsy, resulting an increased GABA mediated inhibition in the over stimulated striatal neurons.

GABA RECEPTOR ALTERATIONS IN THE BRAIN STEM

Neurological functions located in the brainstem include those necessary for survival. The brainstem is the pathway for all fiber tracts passing up and down from peripheral nerves and spinal cord to the highest parts of the brain. GABA is a major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain stem. In our study GABA content was significantly decreased in the brain stem of the epileptic rats compared to control. Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA, [³H]bicuculline and [³H]baclofen in the brain stem of the epileptic rat showed significant decrease in B_{max} (P<0.001) compared to control. Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_A receptor subunits such as GABA_{Aâ1}, GABA_{Aâ5} and GABA_{Aδ} were down regulated in the brain stem of the epileptic rats. Confocal imaging study confirmed the decreased GABA_A receptor in the epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment reversed these changes near to control.

Synaptically released GABA activates postsynaptic GABA_A receptors, which increase the membrane permeability to chloride, evoking a hyperpolarizing inhibitory postsynaptic current (IPSC). Synaptic release increases the concentration of GABA to a relatively high level (millimolar range) within the synapse (Farrant & Nusser, 2005). The brief current evoked by synaptic release of GABA from presynaptic terminals is referred to as "phasic" inhibition. In monkeys made epileptic by cortical application of alumina gel, a highly significant numerical decrease of GAD-positive nerve terminals occurred at sites of seizure foci indicating a functional loss of GABAergic inhibitory synapses (Ribak *et al.*, 1979). Loss of such inhibition at seizure foci could lead to

epileptic activity of cortical pyramidal neurons. Long-term GABA_A receptor alterations occur in hippocampal dentate granule neurons of rats that develop epilepsy after status epilepticus in adulthood (Zhang *et al.*, 2004). Abnormalities of GABAergic function have been observed in genetic and acquired animal models of epilepsy. Reductions of GABA mediated inhibition and decreased activity of glutamate decarboxylase has been reported in studies of human epileptic brain tissue. Our study showed that GABA receptors were decreased in the brain stem of the epileptic rats and treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A increased the GABA receptor density providing an antiepileptic effect.

Thus our results support that decreased GABA receptors and GAD activity in the brain stem comprise an important role in the TLE seizures. We concluded that *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment giving a beneficial effect by reversing the alterations in general GABA, GABA_A, GABA_B receptor binding, GABA_A receptor subunits and GAD gene expression.

DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF GABA_A SUBUNITS IN THE BRAIN REGIONS

We have investigated the gene expression of GABA_A receptor subunits such as GABA_{Aά1}, GABA_{Aά5}, GABA_{Aγ} and GABA_{Aδ} in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of control and experimental rats. GABA_{Aά5} receptor subunit in the cerebral cortex and corpus striatum, GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit in the hippocampus, GABA_{Aγ} receptor subunit in the cerebellum and brain stem were up regulated in the epileptic rats compared to control. Other receptor subunits were down regulated in the brain regions of the epileptic rats compared to control. This showed the differential expression of GABA_A receptor subunits in the brain regions of the epileptic rats.

Differential expression of $GABA_A$ receptor subunit is a common phenomenon in epileptic condition (Paolo et al., 1999; Porter et al., 2005) and they represent a

aspect of homeostatic synaptic plasticity and contribute to the maior excitation/inhibition (E/I) balance under physiological conditions and upon pathological challenges (Fritschy, 2008). The kinetics and pharmacological properties of GABA_A receptors depend on subunit composition (Fritschy, 2008) and where subunits are assembled on plasma membranes of neurons. In the CNS, a functional GABA_A receptor requires a combination of two α , two β and one γ subunit, but the γ subunit can be replaced by δ , ε , or π (Gilby *et al.*, 2005; Nishimura *et al.*, 2005). Inclusion of specific subunits can affect not only channel kinetics but also localization of GABA_A receptor. GABA_A receptor, in the combination $\alpha 6\beta 2/3\delta$ are located on nonsynaptic plasma membranes, have high affinity for GABA, do not desensitize in the presence of GABA and contribute mainly to tonic inhibition of neurons. $\alpha 1\beta 2/3\gamma 2$ receptors have low affinity for GABA, show more pronounced desensitization to GABA and are concentrated at synaptic junctions where they mediate strong, phasic inhibition, because a high concentration of GABA is present only briefly (Jean-Marc, 2008).

Alterations in GABA_A receptor subunit expression and composition in epilepsy are well documented in human (Loup *et al.*, 2000, 2006) and in animal models (Peng *et al.*, 2004; Gilby *et al.*, 2005; Nishimura *et al.*, 2005; Roberts *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2006).The changes in GABA_A receptor subunit contribute to the changes in inhibitory function that underlie epileptogenesis and occurrence of chronic recurrent seizures (Jean-Marc, 2008). In the mouse pilocarpine model of TLE, a profound decrease in δ subunit immunoreactivity was observed, correlating with a redistribution of the γ 2 subunit from synaptic to perisynaptic sites, where it assembled with the α 4 subunit, which is normally associated with the δ subunit (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). A down-regulation of the α 5 subunit also occurs in CA1 pyramidal cells of pilocarpine-treated rats (Houser & Esclapez, 2003), resulting in a loss of diazepamsensitive tonic inhibition seen upon blockade of GABA reuptake (Jean-Marc, 2008). compensatory up regulation of other extrasynaptic $GABA_A$ receptors, possibly containing the $\alpha 4$ subunit (Jean-Marc, 2008). These studies showed that during epilepsy the subunits of $GABA_A$ receptors showed different subunit combination with varying inhibitory potential. Our study showed that differential expression of $GABA_A$ receptor subunits in the brain regions of epileptic rats plays an important role in the excitation/inhibition balance and the affinity to the GABA.

BEHAVIOURAL DEFICITS IN EPILEPTIC RATS

We have evaluated the behavioural response of epileptic rats in Radial arm maze, Y-maze and memory enhancing property of Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A (Katz & Chudler, 1980; Woo et al., 2008). Also, we have investigated the performance of control and experimental rats on narrow beam test, grid walk test and open field test. Radial arm maze is a tool to examine the neural influence of pharmacological compounds on memory (Indre et al., 2000; Caterina et al., 2003). Ymaze is used to evaluate the spatial learning in different rat models (Murugesan, 2005). The performance of epileptic rats in the radial arm maze and Y-maze were impaired. The number of trials to attain five consecutive criterion performances increased significantly in the epileptic rats. Increased numbers of trials to criterion performance was indicated the learning and memory deficit in epileptic rats. Treatment using Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A considerably reduced the number of trials to attain the criterion performance. Lower percentage of arm visits between the novel arm and the start arm and decreased time spend in the novel arm compared to the other two arm within the epileptic rats showed their decreased exploratory behaviour which have considerable role in the motor learning (Jobin et al., 2010a). Also, in open field behavioural test epileptic rats showed increased resting behaviour and decreased sniffing behaviour. This is related to the decreased GABA receptors in the brain regions which plays an important role in the motor learning (Yuji et al., 2007). Time spent in the novel arm and number of visit to the novel arm was

increased in the epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A. Epileptic rats showed increased number of foot slips in grid walk test and decreased time spent in narrow beam test compared to control. This indicated the motor dysfunction in the epileptic rats. Moreover *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment improved the motor performance of the epileptic rats (Jobin *et al.*, 2010a).

Hippocampal theta rhythm contributes to learning and memory by promoting plasticity at excitatory synapses. IPSCs have been shown to be depressed during the expression of excitatory LTP in CA1 pyramidal cells (Stelzer et al., 1994) and this LTD of GABAergic inhibition underlie the EPSP-to-spike coupling associated with LTP (Lu et al., 2000). Studies showed that theta-patterned activity also induces plasticity at GABAergic synapses. Physiological relevance of LTP at GABA synapses is an activity-dependent regulation of excitability of pyramidal cells. In addition, since inhibitory interneurons contribute to pacing of theta oscillations in the hippocampus (Chapman, 1999a, b) theta-dependent strengthening of GABA synapses serve to reinforce their role in hippocampal theta activity. Finally, rhythmic activation of excitatory and inhibitory inputs to pyramidal cells appears necessary to cooperatively promote plasticity of GABA synapses. Such cooperative induction of plasticity at inhibitory synapses provide a novel mechanism through which hippocampal excitability is modulated adaptively in an activity-dependent manner and thus participate in the processes mediating learning and memory. Long-term potentiation is a widely accepted model of synaptic plasticity that is thought to underlie in learning and memory processes (Bliss & Collingridge, 1993; Martin & Morris, 2002).

Long term depression of excitatory transmission at cerebellar parallel fibre Purkinje cell synapses is a form of synaptic plasticity crucial for cerebellar motor learning (Ito, 2002; Jean *et al.*, 2002). The efficacy of transmission at certain parallel fibre Purkinje cell synapses undergoes LTD following correlated transmission at these synapses and climbing fibre–Purkinje cell synapses (Ito, 2002). Purkinje cells express a high density of GABA_B receptor, a Gi/o protein coupled receptor for the inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA (Jones et al., 1998; Kaupmann et al., 1998; Kuner et al., 1999). Interestingly, GABA_B receptors are concentrated on the annuli of parallel fibreinnervated dendritic spines (lge et al., 2000; Kulik et al., 2002) where LTD occurs. When the neighbouring interneurons are stimulated at a relatively high frequency, GABA_B receptors in the dendritic spines receive 5-10 µm GABA spilt over from the synapses of the interneurons (Dittman & Regehr, 1997). GABA_B receptors have enough high affinity to sense this level of GABA (Sodickson & Bean, 1996). GABA_B receptors activated by spilt-over GABA could possibly influence the signalling of mGluR1, a Gq/11 protein-coupled receptor, because these receptors colocalize at the annuli of Purkinje cell dendritic spines (Kulik et al., 2002; Lujan et al., 2007) and are likely to form complexes (Tabata et al., 2004). mGluR1 signalling is an essential factor for inducing LTD (Conquet et al., 1994; Shigemoto et al., 1994; Ichise et al., 2000; Ito, 2002); this signalling leads to the facilitated endocytosis of AMPA receptor at parallel fibre-Purkinje cell synapses (Matsuda et al., 2000; Wang & Linden, 2000; Chung et al., 2003). Therefore, possible influence of GABA_B receptor on mGluR1 could modulate the induction of LTD.

The administration of a crude extract of *Bacopa monnieri* to epileptic rats decreased the trial to attain the criterion performance in the radial arm maze to control levels. These results indicated the memory enhancing property of *Bacopa monnieri* in epileptic rats. It is also reported to facilitate the acquisition, consolidation, retention and recall of learned tasks (Glosser *et al.*, 1997) and improve the speed at which visual information is processed. *Bacopa monnieri* extracts and isolated Bacosides have been extensively investigated in several studies for their neuropharmacological effects and a number of reports are available confirming their neuroprotective action (Basu & Lamsal, 1947; Sairam, *et al.*, 2002). Preliminary studies established that the treatment with crude extract and with the alcoholic extract of *Bacopa monnieri* plant (Singh *et al.*, 1988) enhanced learning ability in rats. Nigel *et al.*, (2003) have suggested shared neurobiological processes leading both to seizures and to

Discussion

behavioural, emotional and cognitive disturbance which could possibly explain how *Bacopa monnieri* is effective as an anti-convulsant and an anti-depressant. It is reported that the isolated Bacosides A and B were effective in enhancing memory in rats in learning tasks involving both positive and negative reinforcement (Singh & Dhawan, 1997; Singh, *et al.*, 1988). Additionally Bacosides produced changes in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex (areas critical to memory function) and hypothalamus regions of the brain and caused enhanced levels of protein kinase activity and increases in protein levels in these regions. This indicated positive implications for improved neurotransmission and repair of damaged neurons *via* enhanced regeneration of nerve synapses (Singh & Dhawan, 1997).

Previous studies showed decreased rotarod performance which demonstrated the impairment in the motor function and coordination in the epileptic rats, suggesting impairment in their ability to integrate sensory input with appropriate motor commands to balance their posture and at the same time adjust their limb movements on the metallic rod and is indicative of cerebellar dysfunction (Blumer et al., 2004; Amee et al., 2009). Treatment using Bacopa monnieri and its active component Bacoside A improving cerebellar function (Amee et al., 2009). Our study showed impaired performance of epileptic rats in radial arm maze, Y-maze, narrow beam test, grid walk test and open field behavioural response demonstrated decreased motor learning and memory. This is correlated to the decreased GABA receptor mediated long term potentiation in the brain regions. Long term potentiation plays an important role in motor learning and memory. The GABA receptor analysis and gene expression along with the behavioural studies implicated a role for these receptors in the modulation of neuronal network excitability and behaviour. Thus it is suggested that decreased GABA receptor in the brain regions plays an important role in the motor and memory deficit and the GABA receptor enhancing property of Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A ameliorate this abnormalities.

Thus our results suggest that GABAergic system is impaired during epilepsy. We observed a decreased GABA content, GABA receptor binding and gene expression in the brain regions of the epileptic rats which showed the deficit in GABA mediated inhibition. Decreased GABA receptor functional regulation leads to seizures in epileptic rats. Epileptic rats show impairment in the behavioral tests, for assessing the motor learning and memory. Treatment using *Bacopa monnieri* and bacoside A decreased the seizure frequency in the epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri* and bacoside A increased the GABA content, GABA receptor binding and gene expression. Increased GABA receptors in the brain regions is suggested to prevent the occurrence of seizures in epileptic rats. The memory enhancing property of *Bacopa monnieri* and bacoside A is suggested to be acting through GABA receptors.

- Pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epileptic rats were used as a model to study the alterations of total GABA, GABA_A subunits and GABA_B receptor and their functional regulation by *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A.
- Antiepileptic activity of whole plant extract of *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine were evaluated for seizure frequency over 72 hours video recording.
- 3) Acetylcholine esterase activity has been used as a marker for cholinergic activity. In epileptic rats the acetylcholine esterase activity was increased in the muscle and decreased in the heart. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment reversed activity of acetylcholine esterase to near control.
- 4) Malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle, circulating insulin and T3 level in the serum were measured to analyze the metabolic changes due to recurring seizures in epileptic rats. These were increased in the epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment reversed these changes to near control.
- GABA content was decreased in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brainstem. Treatment with, *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed GABA content to near control.
- 6) GABA receptor functional status was analyzed by Scatchard analysis using [³H]GABA. During epilepsy total GABA receptor binding was decreased in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brainstem. Treatment with *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the receptors to near control.
- 7) GABA_A receptor functional status was analyzed by Scatchard analysis using [³H]bicuculline. During epilepsy GABA_A receptors binding was decreased in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brainstem. Treatment with *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the receptors to near control.
- 8) GABA_B receptor functional status was analyzed by Scatchard analysis using [³H]baclofen. During epilepsy GABA_B receptors binding was decreased in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brainstem. Treatment with *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine reversed the receptors to near control.
- 9) Real Time PCR studies using the mRNA of GABA_A subunits, GABA_B receptors and GAD were used to confirm the receptor binding studies. In cerebral cortex and corpus striatum GABA_A receptor subunits GABA_{Aά1}, GABA_{Aγ3} and GABA_{Aδ}, were down regulated; GABA_{Aά5} receptor subunit was up regulated and GABA_B receptor and GAD were down regulated in epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment to epileptic rats reversed these changes to near control.

122

- 10) Real Time PCR studies in the hippocampus showed that the GABA_A receptor subunits GABA_{Aά1}, GABA_{Aά5} and GABA_{Aγ3} were down regulated; GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit was up regulated; GABA_B receptor and GAD were down regulated in epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment to epileptic rats reversed these changes to near control.
- 11) Real Time PCR studies in the cerebellum and brain stem showed that the GABA_A receptor subunits GABA_{Aά1}, GABA_{Aά5} and GABA_{Aδ}, were down regulated; GABA_{Aγ3} receptor subunit was up regulated; GABA_B receptor and GAD were down regulated in epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment to epileptic rats reversed the changes to near control.
- 12) Behavioural tests were done using Y-maze, radial arm maze, grid walk test, narrow beam test and open field test to assess the motor learning and memory in epileptic rats. Epileptic rats showed impaired behavioral response. There was deficit in cognition, memory and motor learning in epileptic rats. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment to epileptic rats reversed the behavioural performance to near control.
- 13) Confocal study of the $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of the epileptic rats showed decreased expression. *Bacopa monnieri*, Bacoside A and Carbamazepine treatment to epileptic rats reversed the changes to near control.

Thus from our results, we conclude that GABA receptor functional balance play an important role in the pathophysiology of temporal lobe epilepsy. Decreased GABA receptors status in the brain regions has an important role in motor learning and memory deficit of pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epilepsy. *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A treatment to epileptic rats was effective in reversing the GABA receptor functional regulation to near control. Our results suggested that motor function and cognition enhancing property of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A in epileptic rats mediated through GABA receptors. This has immense clinical significance in the therapeutic management of epilepsy.

Conclusion

important regulatory role in GABAergic system has an the pathophysiology of pilocarpine induced temporal lobe epilepsy in rats. Acetylcholine esterase activity was increased in the muscle and decreased in the heart of epileptic rats. Serum insulin and T3 were increased in epileptic rats. Increase in malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle showed increased excitability and metabolism in epileptic rats due to repetitive seizures. Administration of Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A decreased the seizure frequency of the epileptic rats and improved the peripheral functional status. GABA content was decreased in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of the epileptic rats. Receptor binding studies showed decreased total GABA, GABA_A and GABA_B receptors in the brain regions of the epileptic rats. Real Time PCR amplification of the GABA_A receptor subunits and confocal study of the GABA_{Aal} in cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, corpus striatum and brain stem of the epileptic rats confirmed the receptor data. Treatment using Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A reversed the decreased GABA binding in the epileptic rats to near control reducing the seizure occurrence. Behavioural studies by radial arm maze test, Y maze test, grid walk test, narrow beam test and open field test showed deficit in spatial learning, motor control and memory. Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A administration improved the behavioural performance of the epileptic rats. GABA receptor subtypes kinetic parameters and their gene expression along with behavioural studies showed their functional role in motor learning, cognition and memory. Thus, we conclude from our studies that GABA receptor subtypes have a functional regulatory role in epileptic seizures. Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A treatment to epileptic rats showed functional reversal of GABA receptors and the metabolism in the management of epilepsy.

- Acharya MM, Hattiangady B, Shetty AK. (2008). Progress in neuroprotective strategies for preventing epilepsy. Progress in Neurobiology, 84: 363-404.
- Acharya MM, Katyare SS. (2005). Structural and functional alterations in mitochondrial membrane in picrotoxin-induced epileptic rat brain. Exp Neurol, 192: 79–88.
- Acheson K, Jéquier E, Burger A, Danforth E. (1984). Thyroid hormones and thermogenesis: The metabolic cost of food and exercise. Metabolism, 33: 262-265.
- Achmunjal M, Katyare SS. (2005). Protective role of Bacopa monniera on morphineinduced brain mitochondrial enzyme activity in rats. Fitoterapia, 192: 79-88.
- Akinci MK, Schofield PR. (1999). Widespread expression of GABA(A) receptor subunits in peripheral tissues. Neurosci Res, 35:145–153.
- Akwa Y, Ladurelle N, Covey DF, Baulieu EE. (2001). The synthetic enantiomer of pregnenolone sulfate is very active on memory in rats and mice, even more so than its physiological neurosteroid counterpart: distinct mechanisms?. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98: 14033-14037.
- Alam AM, Starr MS. (1993). Dopaminergic modulation of pilocarpine-induced motor seizures in the rat: the role of hippocampal D2 receptors. Neuroscience, 53: 425-431.
- Alam AM, Starr MS. Bimodal. (1994). Effects of dopamine D2 receptor agonists on zero Mg2+ -induced epileptiform activity in the rat cingulate cortex slice. Exp. Brain Res, 102: 75–83.αα

- Aldenkamp A, Arends J. (2004). The relative influence of epileptic EEGdischarges, short nonconvulsive seizures, and type of epilepsy on cognitive function. Epilepsia, 45: 54-63.
- Al-Hussain S, Al-Ali S. (1995). A Golgi study of cell types in the dentate gyrus of the adult human brain. Cell Mole Neurobiol, 15: 207–220.
- Alonso A, Garci'a-Austt E. (1987). Neuronal sources of theta rhythm in the entorhinal cortex of the rat. II. Phase relations between unit discharges and theta field potentials. Exp Brain Res, 67: 502–509.
- Alonso A, Ko"hler C. (1984). A study of the reciprocal connections between the septum and the entorhinal area using anterograde and retrograde axonal transport methods in the rat brain. J Comp Neurol, 225: 327–343.
- Amaducci L, Forno KI, Eng LF. (1981). Glial fibrillary acidic protein in cryogenic lesions of the rat brain. Neuroscience Lett, 21: 27-32.
- Amaral DG, Insausti R, Cowan WM. (1983). Evidence for a direct projection from the superior temporal gyrus to the entorhinal cortex in the monkey. Brain Res, 275: 263–277.
- Amaral DG, Witter MP. (1989). The three dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: a review of the anatomical data. Neuroscience, 31: 571-591.
- Amee K, Nandhu MS, Paulose CS. (2009). Upregulation of 5-HT2C receptors in hippocampus of pilocarpine-induced epileptic rats: Antagonism by Bacopa monnieri Epilepsy and behavior, doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.07.031.

- Amzica F, Steriade M. (1999). Spontaneous and artificial activation of neocortical seizures. J Neurophysiol, 82: 3123–3138.
- Amzica F, Steriade M. (2000). Neuronal and glial membrane potentials during sleep and paroxysmal oscillations in the neocortex. J Neurosci, 20: 6648–6665.
- Anbarasi K, Vani G, Balakrishna K, Desai CS. (2005). Creatine kinase isoenzyme patterns upon chronic exposure to cigarette smoke: protective effect of Bacoside A. Vascul Pharmacol, 42: 57–61.
- Anwyl R. (1999). Metabotropic glutamate receptors: electrophysiological properties and role in plasticity. Brain Res Rev, 29: 93-120.
- Armstrong DD. (2005). Epilepsy-induced microarchitectural changes in the brain. Pediatr Dev Pathol, 8: 607–614.
- Arnold PS, Racine RJ, Wise RS. (1973). Effects of atropine, reserpine, 6hydroxydopamine and handling on seizure development in the rat, Exp Neurol, 40: 457- 470.
- Arundine M, Tymianski M. (2003). Molecular mechanisms of calcium-dependent neurodegeneration in excitotoxicity. Cell Calcium, 34: 325-337.
- Asada H, Kawamura Y, Maruyama K, Kume H, Ding R, Ji FY, Kanbara N, Kuzume H, Sanbo M, Yagi T, Obata K. (1996) Mice lacking the 65 kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65) maintain normal levels of GAD67 and GABA in their brains but are susceptible to seizures. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 229: 891–895.
- Ashe J, Weimberger NM. (1991). Acetylcholine modulation of cellular excitability via muscarinic receptors: functional plasticity in auditory cortex. In: Activation and

Acquisition: Functional Aspects of the Basal Forebrain Cholinergic System, edited by R. T. Richardson. Boston: Birkha⁻⁻user, P:189 –246.

- Ashok KS, Dennis AT. (2000). Fetal Hippocampal Grafts Containing CA3 Cells Restore Host Hippocampal Glutamate Decarboxylase-Positive Interneuron Numbers in a Rat Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. The Journal of Neuroscience, 20: 8788-8801.
- Attwell PJ, Singh Kent N, Jane DE, Croucher MJ, Bradford HF. (1998). Anticonvulsant and glutamate release-inhibiting properties of the highly potent metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist (2S, 2R,3R)-2-(2,3dicarboxycyclopropyl) glycine (DCG-IV). Brain Res, 805: 138–143.
- Austin JE, Buckmaster PS. (2004). Recurrent excitation of granule cells with basal dendrites and low interneuron density and inhibitory postsynaptic current frequency in the dentate gyrus of macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol, 476: 205–218.
- Avoli M, Louvel J, Pumain R, Köhling R. (2005). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of epilepsy in the human brain. Prog Neurobiol, 97: 166–200.
- Axmacher N, Stemmler M, Engel D, Draguhn A, Ritz R. (2004). Transmitter metabolism as a mechanism of synaptic plasticity: a modeling study. J Neurophysiol, 91:25-39.
- Babb TL, Brown WJ. (1987). Pathological findings in epilepsy. In: Engel JJr (ed) Surgical treatment of the epilepsies. Raven Press, New York, P: 511-540.

- Babb TL, Kupfer WR, Pretorius JK, Isokawa-Akesson M, Levesque MF. (1991). Synaptic recurrent excitation of granule cells by mossy fibers in human epileptic hippocampus. Neuroscience, 42: 351-363.
- Babb TL, Pretorius JK, Kupfer WR, Crandall PH. (1989). Glutamate decarboxylaseimmunoreactive neurons are preserved in human epileptic hippocampus. J Neurosci, 9: 2562-2574.
- Bak LK, Schousboe A, Waagepetersen HS. (2006). The glutamate/GABA-glutamine cycle: aspects of transport, neurotransmitter homeostasis and ammonia transfer. J Neurochem, 98: 641–653.
- Balters E & Francesco M. (2002). New research on epilepsy and behaviour. In Keith. J Holaway (ed). Nova Publishers, New York, P: 76-89.
- Bankier A, Turner M, Hopkins IJ. (1983). Pyridoxine-dependent seizures—a wider clinical spectrum. Arch Dis Child, 58: 415–418.
- Baraban SC, Hollopeter G, Erickson JC, Schwartzkroin PA, Palmiter RD. (1997). Knock-out mice reveal a critical antiepileptic role for neuropeptide Y. J Neurosci, 17: 8927–8936.
- Barnard EA, Skolnick P, Olsen RW, Moher H, Sieghart W, Biggio G, Braestrup C,
 Bateson A, Langer SZ. (1998). International union of pharmacology. XV.
 Subtypes of γ-Aminobutyric AcidA receptors: classification on the basis of subunit structure and receptor function. Pharmacol Rev, 50: 291–314.
- Barnard EA. (2001). The molecular architecture of GABAA receptors Pharmacology of GABA and glycine neurotransmission. In: Möhler H (eds). Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology. Vol. 150. Berlin, Springer, P: 94–100.

- Barnes CA, Mcnaughton BL, Mizumori SJY, Leonard BW, Lin LH. (1990). Comparison of spatial temporal characteristics of neuronal activity in sequential stages of hippocampal processing. Prog. Brain Res, 83: 287–300.
- Bartolomei F, Khalil M, Wendling F, Sontheimer A, Regis J, Ranjeva JP, Guye M,
 Chauvel P. (2005). Entorhinal cortex involvement in human mesial temporal
 lobe epilepsy: an electrophysiologic and volumetric study. Epilepsia, 46: 677– 87.
- Bastianelli E. (2003). Distribution of calcium-binding proteins in the cerebellum. Cerebellum, 2: 242-262.
- Basu N, Rastogi RP, Dhar ML. (1967). Chemical examination of Bacopa mienniera Westst: Part III-Bacoside B. Indian J Chem, 5: 84–95.
- Basu NK, Lamsal P. (1947). Investigation on Indian medicinal Plants. II. Hydrocotyle asiatica, Quart. J Pharm, 20: 137-140.
- Bausch SB, Chavkin C. (1997). Changes in hippocampal circuitry after pilocarpineinduced seizures as revealed by opioid receptor distribution and activation. J Neuroscience, 17: 477-492.
- Bausch SB, McNamara JO. (1999). Experimental partial epileptogenesis. Curr Opin Neurol, 12: 203-209.
- Beck SG, Choi KC. (1991). 5-Hydroxytryptamine hyperpolarizes CA3 hippocampal pyramidal cells through an increase in potassium conductance. Neurosci Lett, 133: 93-96.
- Behar KL, Rothman DL, Petersen KF, Hooten M, Delaney R, Petroff OA, Shulman GI, Navarro V, Petrakis IL, Charney DS, Krystal JH. (1999). Preliminary

References

evidence of low cortical GABA levels in localized 1H-MR spectra of alcoholdependent and hepatic encephalopathy patients. American Journal of Psychiatry, 156: 952–954.

- Behr J, Heinemann U. (1996). Effects of serotonin on differnt patterns of low Mg 2+ induced epileptiform activity in the subiculum of rats studied in vitro. Brain Res, 737: 331-334.
- Behr J, Lyson KJ, Mody I. (1998). Enhanced propagation of epileptiform activity through the kindled dentate gyrus. J Neurophysiol, 79:1726–1732.
- Ben-Ari Y, Cossart R. (2000). Kainate, a double agent that generates seizures: two decades of progress. Trends Neurosci, 23: 580–587.
- Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I, Represa A, Gozlan H. (2004). Interneurons set the tune of developing networks. Trends Neurosci, 27: 422-7.
- Ben-Ari Y. (1985). Limbic seizure and brain damage produced by kainic acid: mechanisms and relevance to human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuroscience, 14: 373-403.
- Benbadis SR, Katagal P, Klem GH. (1996). Unilateral blinking: a lateralizing sign in partial seizures. Neurology, 46: 45-48.
- Benbadis SR. (2001). Epileptic seizures and syndromes. Neurol Clin, 19: 251-270.
- Benedek K, Juhasz C, Muzik O, Chugani DC, Chugani HT. (2004). Metabolic changes of subcortical structures in intractable focal epilepsy. Epilepsia, 45: 1100–1105.

- Benes FM. (2000). Emerging principles of altered neural circuitry in schizophrenia. Brain Res Brain Res Rev, 31: 251–269.
- Bergersen L, Ruiz A, Bjaalie JG, Kullmann DM, Gundersen V. (2003). GABA and GABAA receptors at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. Eur J Neurosci, 18: 931–941.
- Bernasconi N, Bernasconi A, Andermann F, Dubeau F, Feindel W, Reutens DC. (1999). Entorhinal cortex in temporal lobe epilepsy: a quantitative MRI study. Neurology, 52: 1870–6.
- Bernt R, Børge M, Olivier C, Juli B, Magdalene L, Claus B. (2008). Metabolic adjustments in breeding female kittiwakes (Rissa tridactyla) include changes in kidney metabolic intensity. J Comp Physiol B, 178: 779-784.
- Bertram EH. (1997). Functional anatomy of spontaneous seizures in a rat model of epilepsy. Epilepsia, 38: 95–105.
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Bowery N. (1998). GABAB receptors: drugs meet clones. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 8: 345–350.
- Bettler B, Kaupmann K, Mosbacher J, Gassmann M. (2004). Molecular structure and physiological functions of GABA (B) receptors. Physiol Rev, 84: 835–867.
- Bhattacharya SK, Bhattacharya A, Kumar A, Ghosal S. (2000). Antioxidant activity of Bacopa monniera in rat frontal cortex, striatum and hippocampus. Phytother Res, 14: 174-9.
- Bhattacharya SK, Ghosal S. (1998). Anxiolytic activity of a standardized extract of Bacopa monniera an experimental study. Phytomedicine, 5: 77–82.

- Bhattacharya SK, Kumar A, Ghosal S. (2000). Effect of Bacopa monniera onanimal models of Alzheimer's disease and perturbed central cholinergic markers of cognition in rats. In: Siva Sanka DV (eds). Molecular Aspects of Asian Medicine. PJD Publications, New York, P: 215-229.
- Bibiana S, Benedetto S, Piergiorgio S. (2008). Learning-related long-term potentiation of inhibitory synapses in the cerebellar cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105: 769-774.
- Biraben A, Semah F, Ribeiro MJ, Douaud G, Remy P, Depaulis A. (2004). PET evidence for a role of the basal ganglia in patients with ring chromosome 20 epilepsy. Neurology, 63: 73–77.
- Bjorklund A, Lindvall O. (1984). Dopamine-containing systems in the CNS. In: Bjorklund A & Hokfelt T (eds). Handbook of Chemical Neuroanatomy:Classical Transmitter in the Rat. Elsevier, Amsterdam, P: 55– 122.
- Bliss TV, Collingridge GLA. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature, 361 :31-39.
- Blumenthal ME. (2003). The American Botanical Council (ABC) Clinical Guide to Herbs. The American Botanical Council.Austin, Texas, P; 309-415.
- Blumer D, Montouris G, Davies K. (2004). The interictal dysphoric disorder: recognition, pathogenesis, and treatment of themajor psychiatric disorder of epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav, 5: 826–40.

- Bond RW, Wyborski RJ, Gottlieb DI. (1990). Developmentally regulated expression of an exon containing a stop codon in the gene for glutamic acid decarboxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87: 8771–8775.
- Bormann J. (2000). The 'ABC' of GABA receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 21: 16-9.
- Bouilleret V, Semah F, Biraben A, Taussig D, Chassoux F, Syrota A, Ribeiro MJ. (2005). Involvement of the basal ganglia in refractory epilepsy: an 18F-fluoro-L-DOPA PET study using 2 methods of analysis. J Nucl Med, 46: 540–547.
- Bourgeois BF, Prensky AL, Palkes HS, Talent BK, Busch SG. (1983). Intelligence in epilepsy: a prospective study in children. Ann Neurol, 14: 438–44.
- Bowery NG. (2006). GABAB receptor: a site of therapeutic benefit. Curr Opin Pharmacol, 6: 37–43.
- Bradshaw CM, Sheridan RD, Szabadi E. (1985). Excitatory neuronal responses to dopamine in the cerebral cortex: involvement of D2 but not D1 dopamine receptors. Brit J Pharmacol, 86: 483–490.
- Bragin A, Engel J, Wilson CL, Fried, I, Buzsaki G. (1999). High-frequency oscillations in human brain. Hippocampus, 9: 137–142.
- Breier JI, Leonard CM, Bauer RM, Roper S, Lucas TH, Gilmore RL. (1996). Quantified volumes of temporal lobe structures in patients with epilepsy. J Neuroimaging, 6: 108–14.
- Browning RA. (1985). Role of the brain-stem reticular formation in tonic clonic seizures: lesions and pharmacological studies. Fed Proc, 44: 2425–2431.

- Brusa R, Zimmermann F, Koh DS, Feldmeyer D, Gass P, Seeburg PH, Sprengel R. (1995). Early onset epilepsy and postnatal lethality associated with an editing deficient GluRB allele in mice. Science, 270: 1677–1680.
- Bu DF, Erlander MG, Hitz BC, Tillakaratne NJ, Kaufman DL, Wagner-McPherson CB, Evans GA, Tobin AJ. (1992). Two human glutamate decarboxylases, 65kDa GAD and 67-kDa GAD, are each encoded by a single gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89: 2115–2119.
- Buckmaster PS, Dudek FE. (1997). Neuron loss, granule cell axon reorganization and functional changes in the dentate gyrus of epileptic kainate treated rats. J Comp Neurol, 385: 385–404.
- Buhl EH, Dann JF. (1990). Basal dendrites are a regular feature of hippocampal granule cells in flying fox hippocampus. Neurosci Lett, 116: 263–268.
- Buhl EH, Otis TS, Mody I. (1996). Zinc-induced collapse of augmented inhibition by GABA in a temporal lobe epilepsy model. Science, 271:369–373.
- Bunney BS, Aghajanian GK. (1976) Dopamine and norepinephrine innervated cells in the rat prefrontal cortex: pharmacological differentiation using microiontophoretic techniques. Life Sci, 19: 1783–1792.
- Calkin PA, Barnes EM. (1994). GABAA agonists down-regulate GABAA/benzodiazepine receptor polypeptides from the surface of chick cortical neurons. J Biol Chem, 269: 1548–53.
- Carafoli E. (1992). The plasma membrane calcium pump. Structure, function, regulation. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1101: 266-267.

- Caterina M, Hernandez HH, Alvin VT. (2003). Spontaneously hypertensive rats: further evaluation of age-related memory performance and cholinergic marker expression. J Psychiatry Neurosci, 28: 197–209.
- Cavalheiro EA, Leite JP, Bortolotto ZA, Turski WA, Ikonomidou C, Turski L. (1991). Long-term effects of pilocarpine in rats: structural damage of the brain triggers kindling and spontaneous recurrent seizures. Epilepsia, 32: 778-782.
- Cavazos JE, Golarai G, Sutula TP. (1991). Mossy fiber synaptic reorganization induced by kindling: time course of development, progression, and permanence. J Neurosci, 11: 2795-2803.
- Ceci A, Brambilla A, Duranti P, Grauert M, Grippa N, Borsini F. (1999). Effect of antipsychotic drugs and selective dopaminergic antagonists on dopamineinduced facilitatory activity in prelimbic cortical pyramidal neurons. An in vitro study. Neuroscience, 93: 107–115.
- Cepeda C, Li Z, Cromwell HC, Altemus KL, Crawford CA, Nansen EA, Ariano MA,
 Sibley DR, Peacock WJ, Mathern GW, Levine MS. (1999).
 Electrophysiological and morphological analyses of cortical neurons obtained
 from children with catastrophic epilepsy: dopamine receptor modulation of
 glutamatergic responses. Dev Neurosci, 21: 223–235.

Chabolla DR. (2002). Characteristics of the epilepsies. Mayo Clin Proc, 77: 981-990.

Chagnac-Amitai Y, Connors BW. (1989). Horizontal spread of synchronized activity in neocortex and its control by GABA-mediated inhibition. J Neurophysiol, 61: 747-758.

- Chandrasagar, B.D., Varinder, K.R., Alex, W.P., Cheng, Nish, P., Amira, K., (2008). Selective regulation of the perinuclear distribution of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) by insulin signals in muscle cells. European Journal of Cell Biology, 87: 337-351.
- Channa S, Dar A, Yaqoob M, Anjum S, Sultani Z, Atta-ur-Rahman. (2003). Broncho vasodilatory activity of fractions and pure constituents isolated from Bacopa monniera. J Ethnopharmacol, 86: 27-35.
- Chapman CA, Lacaille JC. (1999a). Cholinergic induction of theta-frequency oscillations in hippocampal inhibitory interneurons and pacing of pyramidal cell firing. Neurosci, 19: 8637–8645.
- Chapman CA, Lacaille JC. (1999b). Intrinsic theta-frequency membrane potential oscillations in hippocampal CA1 interneurons of stratum lacunosummoleculare. J Neurophysiol, 81: 1296–1307.
- Charriaut-Marlangue C, Ben-Ari Y. (1995). A cautionary note on the use of the TUNEL stain to determine apoptosis. Neuroreport, 7: 61-64.
- Chatterji N, Rastorgi RP, Dhar ML. (1963). Chemical examination of Bacopa monniera Wettst. Part I: isolation of chemical constituents. Indian J Chem, 1: 206–212.
- Chebib M, Johnston GAR. (2000). GABA-activated ligand gated ion channels: medicinal chemistry and molecular biology. J Med Chem, 43: 1427–1447.
- Chen G, Ensor GR, Bohner B. (1954). A facilitation action of reserpine on the central nervous system. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 86: 507-510.

- Chen S, Huang X, Zeng XJ, Sieghart W, Tietz EI. (1999). Benzodiazepine-mediated regulation of alpha1, alpha2, beta1–3 and gamma2 GABA(A) receptor subunit proteins in the rat brain hippocampus and cortex. Neuroscience, 93: 33-44.
- Chen S, Kobayashi M, Honda Y, Kakuta S, Sato F, Kishi K. (2007). Preferential neuron loss in rat piriform cortex following pilocarpine induced status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res, 74: 1-18.
- Chen S, Kobayashi M, Honda Y, Kakuta S, Sato F, Kishi K. (2007). Preferential neuron loss in the rat piriform cortex following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res, 74:1-18.
- Cherubini E, Conti F. (2001). Generating diversity at GABAergic synapses. Trends Neurosci, 24: 155–162.
- Chitoshi T, Yoshiro I. (2004). Extrasynaptic localization of GABA in the developing mouse cerebellum. Neuroscience Research, 50: 447-458.
- Choi DW. (1988). Glutamate neurotoxicity and diseases of the nervous system. Neuron, 1: 623-634.
- Chung HJ, Steinberg JP, Huganir RL, Linden DJ. (2003). Requirement of AMPA receptor GluR2 phosphorylation for cerebellar long-term depression. Science, 300: 1751–1755.
- Clarke WP, Yocca FD, Maayani S. (1996). Lack of 5-hydrotrytamine 1A- mediated inhibition of adenylyl cyclase in dorsal raphe of male and female rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 277: 1259-1266.

- Clifford DB, Olney JW, Maniotis A, Collins RC, Zorumski CF. (1987). The functional anatomy and pathology of lithium-pilocarpine and high-dose pilocarpine seizures. Neuroscience, 23: 953-968.
- Clusmann H, Schramm J, Kral T, Helmstaedter C, Ostertun B, Fimmers R, Haun D, Elger CE. (2002). Prognostic factors and outcome after different types of resection for temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosurg, 97: 1131–1141.
- Coenen AM, Van Luijtelaar EL. (2003). Genetic animal models for absence epilepsy: a review of the WAG/Rij strain of rats. Behav Genet., 33: 635-55.
- Conquet F, Bashir ZI, Davies CH, Daniel H, Ferraguti F, Bordi F, Franz-Bacon K, Reggiani A, Matarese V, Conde F, Collingridge GL Crepel F. (1994). Motor deficit and impairment of synaptic plasticity in mice lacking mGluR1. Nature, 372: 237–243.
- Conti F, Weinberg RJ. (1999). Shaping excitation at glutamatergic synapses. Trends Neurosci, 22: 451-458.
- Cooper JR, Bloom FE, Roth RH. (2003). Acetylcholine the neurological basis of neuropharmacology. Oxford University Press, New York, P;151-170.
- Cormack F, Cross JH, Isaacs E, Harkness W, Wright I, Vargha-Khadem F, Baldeweg T. (2007). The development of intellectual abilities in pediatric temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia, 48: 201–204.
- Cossette P, Liu L, Brisebois K, Dong H, Lortie A, Vanasse M, Saint-Hilaire JM, Carmant L, Verner A, Lu WY, Wang YT, Rouleau GA. (2002). Mutation of GABARA1 in an autosomal dominant form of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. Nat Genet, 31: 184–189.

- Coulter DA, Rafiq A, Shumate M, Gong QZ, DeLorenzo RJ, Lyeth BG. (1996). Brain injury induced enhanced limbic epileptogenesis: anatomical and physiological parallels to an animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 26: 81-91.
- Coulter DA. (2001). Epilepsy-associated plasticity in gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor expression, function, and inhibitory synaptic properties. Int. Rev. Neurobiol, 45: 237–252.
- Couve A, Thomas P, Calver AR, Hirst WD, Pangalos MN, Walsh FS, Smart TG, Moss SJ. (2002). Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation facilitates GABA(B) receptor-effector coupling. Nat Neurosci, 5: 415–424.
- Covolan L, Mello LE. (2006). Assessment of the progressive nature of cell damage in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy. Braz J Med Biol Res, 39: 915-924.
- Crawford, Connor JD. (1973). Localization and release of glutamic acid in relation to the hippocampal mossy fibre pathway. Nature, 244: 442–443.
- Cronin J, Dudek FE. (1988). Chronic seizures and collateral sprouting of dentate mossy fibers after kainic acid treatment in rats. Brain Res, 474: 181–184.
- Crossman AR, Mitchell IJ, Sambrook MA, Jackson A. (1988). Chorea and myoclonus in the monkey induced by gamma-aminobutyric acid antagonism in the lentiform complex. The site of drug action and a hypothesis for the neural mechanisms of chorea. Brain, 111: 1211–1233.
- Dailey JW, Jobe PC. (1986). Indices of noradrenergic function in the central nervous system of seizure-naive genetically epilepsy-prone rats. Epilepsia, 27: 665–670.
- Dalby NO, Mody I. (2001). The process of epileptogenesis: a pathophysiological approach. Curr Opin Neurol, 14: 187–192.

- Dar A, Channa S. (1997). Bronchodilatory and cardiovascular effects of an ethanol extract of Bacopa monniera in anaesthetized rats. Phytomedicine. 4: 319-323.
- Dar A, Channa S. (1999). Calcium antagonistic activity of Bacopa monniera on vascular and intestinal smooth muscles of rabbit and guinea-pig. J Ethnopharmacol, 66: 167–74.
- Darbin O, Risso JJ, Rostain JC. (2000). High pressure enhanced NMDA activity in the striatum and the globus pallidus: relationships with myoclonia and locomotor and motor activity in rat. Brain Res, 852: 62–67.
- Das A, Shanker G, Nath C, Pal R, Singh S, Singh H. (2002). A comparative study in rodents of standardized extracts of Bacopa monniera and Ginkgo biloba: anticholinesterase and cognitive enhancing activities. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 73: 893-900.
- Dawirs RR, Hildebrandt K, Teuchert-Noodt G. (1998). Adult treatment with haloperidol increases dentate granule cell proliferation in the gerbil hippocampus. J Neural Transm, 105: 317–327.
- Deacon TW, Eichenbaum H, Rosenberg P, Eckmann KW. (1983). Afferent connections of the perirhinal cortex in the rat. J Comp Neurol, 220: 168–190.
- DeCarli C, Hatta J, Fazilat S, Fazilat S, Gaillard WD, Theodore WH. (1998). Extratemporal atrophy in patients with complex partial seizures of left temporal origin. Ann Neurol, 43: 41-45.
- DeLorey TM, Handforth A, Anagnostaras SG, Homanics GE, Minassian BA, Asatourian A, Fanselow MS, Delgado-Escueta A, Ellison GD, Olsen RW. (1998). Mice lacking the beta3 subunit of the GABAA receptor have the

epilepsy phenotype and many of the behavioral characteristics of Angelman syndrome. J Neurosci, 18: 8505-8514.

- Dematteis M, Kahane P, Vercueil L, Depaulis A. (2003). MRI evidence for the involvement of basal ganglia in epileptic seizures: an hypothesis. Epileptic Disord, 5: 161–164.
- Devinsky O. (2004). Diagnosis and treatment of temporal lobe epilepsy. Rev Neurol Dis, 1: 2-9.
- Dey PK, Datta C. (1966). Effect of psychotropic phytochemicals on cerebral amino acid level. Indian J Exp Biol, 4: 216–218.
- Dibbens LM, Feng HJ, Richards MC, Harkin LA, Hodgson BL, Scott D, Jenkins M, Petrou S, Sutherland GR, Scheffer IE, Berkovic SF, Macdonald RL, Mulley JC. (2004). GABRD encoding a protein for extra- or peri-synaptic GABAA receptors is a susceptibility locus for generalized epilepsies. Hum Mol Genet, 13: 1315–1319.
- Dichter MA. (1994). Emerging insights into mechanisms of epilepsy: implications for new antiepileptic drug development. Epilepsia, 35: 51-57.
- Dickson CT, Alonso A. (1997). Muscarinic induction of synchronous population activity in the entorhinal cortex. J Neurosci, 17: 6729–6744.
- Dikmen S, Matthews CG, Harley JP. (1975). The effect of early versus late onset of major motor epilepsy upon cognitive-intellectual performance. Epilepsia, 16: 73-81.

- Dikmen S, Matthews CG, Harley JP. (1977). Effect of early versus late onset of major motor epilepsy on cognitive-intellectual performance: further considerations. Epilepsia, 18: 31-36.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF. (1999). The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev, 51: 07-61.
- Dittman JS, Regehr WG. (1997). Mechanism and kinetics of heterosynaptic depression at a cerebellar synapse. J Neurosci, 17: 9084–9059.
- Dodrill CB, Matthews CG. (1992). The role of neuropsychology in the assessment and treatment of persons with epilepsy. Am Psychol, 47: 1139–1142.
- Dodrill CB. (2004). Neuropsychological effects of seizures. Epilepsy Behav, 5: 21-24.
- Doya K. (1999). What are the computations of the cerebellum, the basal ganglia and the cerebral cortex?. Neural Network, 12: 961-974.
- Dray A. (1979). The striatum and substantia nigra: a commentary on their relationships. Neuroscience, 4: 1407-1439.
- Dudek FE, Obenaus A, Schweitzer JS, Wuarin JP. (1994). Functional significance of hippocampal plasticity in epileptic brain: electrophysiological changes of the dentate granule cells associated with mossy fiber sprouting. Hippocampus, 4: 259–265.
- Duehlmeier R, Sammet K, Widdel A, von Engelhardt W, Wernery U, Kinne J, Sallmann H.-P. (2007). Distribution patterns of the glucose transporters GLUT4 and GLUT1 in skeletal muscles of rats (Rattus norvegicus), pigs (Sus scrofa), cows (Bos taurus), adult goats, goat kids (Capra hircus), and camels (Camelus

dromedarius). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology, 146: 274-282.

- Dunnett S, Fibiger HC. (1993). Role of forebrain cholinergic systems in learning and memory: relevance to the cognitive deficits of aging and Alzheimer's dementia. Prog Brain Res, 98: 413–420.
- Dupuy ST, Houser CR. (1996). Prominent expression of two forms of glutamate decarboxylase in the embryonic and early postnatal rat hippocampal formation. J Neurosci, 16: 6919–6932.
- Durstewitz D, Seamans JK, Sejnowski TJ. (2000a). Dopamine-mediated stabilization of delay-period activity in a network model of prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol, 83: 1733–1750.
- Dutta T, Basu UP. (1963). Terpenoids: Part II-Isolation of new triterpene saponin, monnierin, from Bacopa monnieri Wettst. Indian J Chem, 1: 400–408.
- Elger CE, Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. (2004). Chronic epilepsy and cognition. Lancet Neurol, 3: 663-72.
- Engel D, Pahner I, Schulze K, Frahm C, Jarry H, Ahnert-Hilger G, Draguhn A. (2001). Plasticity of rat central inhibitory synapses through GABA metabolism. J Physiol, 535: 473–482.
- Engel J Jr, Babb TL, Crandall PH. (1989). Surgical treatment of epilepsy: opportunities for research into basic mechanisms of human brain function. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien), 46: 3–8.
- Engel J Jr. (1992). Recent advances in surgical treatment of temporal lobe epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand, 140: 71-80.

- Engel J Jr. (1998). Etiology as a risk factor for medically refractory epilepsy: a case for early surgical intervention. Neurology, 51: 1243–1244.
- Engel J Jr. (2001). Intractable epilepsy: definition and neurobiology. Epilepsia, 42: 345-351.
- Engel J. (1996). Surgery for seizures. N Engl J Med, 334: 647-652.
- Engel JJ. (1995). Introduction to temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 26: 141–150.
- Engel JJr & Pedley. (1997). Introduction: what is epilepsy? In: Engel JJr & Pedley TA (eds). Epilepsy –A Comprehensive Textbook. Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia, P: 1-10.
- Enz R. (2001). GABAC receptors: a molecular view. Biol Chem, 382: 1111-1122.
- Eric JH, Philip AW, Edward FD. (2002)., Effect of Fluoxetine and TFMPP on spontaneous seizures in rats with pilocarpine induced epilepsy. Epilepsia, 43: 1337-1345
- Erickson JC, Clegg KE, Palmiter RD. (1996). Sensitivity to leptin and susceptibility to seizures of mice lacking neuropeptide Y. Nature, 381: 415-421.
- Erlander MG, Tillakaratne NJ, Feldblum S, Patel N, Tobin AJ. (1991a). Two genes encode distinct glutamate decarboxylases. Neuron, 7: 91–100.
- Erlander MG, Tobin AJ. (1991b). The structural and functional heterogeneity of glutamic acid decarboxylase: a review. Neurochem Res, 16: 215–226.

- Esclapez M, Hirsch JC, Ben-Ari Y, Bernard C. (1999). Newly formed excitatory pathways provide a substrate for hyperexcitability in experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. J Comp Neurol, 408: 449-460.
- Esclapez M, Houser CR. (1999). Up-regulation of GAD65 and GAD67 in remaining hippocampal GABA neurons in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Comp Neurol, 412: 488–505.
- Esclapez M, Tillakaratne NJ, Kaufman DL, Tobin AJ, Houser CR. (1994). Comparative localization of two forms of glutamic acid decarboxylase and their mRNAs in rat brain supports the concept of functional differences between the forms. J Neurosci, 14: 1834–1855.
- Faingold CL. (1999). Neurons in the deep layers of superior colliculus play a criticalrole in the neuronal network for audiogenic seizures: mechanisms for production of wild running behavior. Brain Res, 815: 250-258.
- Falconer MA, Serafetinides EA, Corsellis JAN. (1964). Etiology and pathogenesis of temporal lobe epilepsy. Arch Neurol, 10: 233–248.
- Farrant M and Nusser Z. (2005). Variations on an inhibitory theme: phasic and tonic activation of GABA(A) receptors. Nat Rev Neurosci, 6: 215–229.
- Farwell JR, Dodrill CB, Batzel LW. (1985). Neuropsychological abilities of children with epilepsy. Epilepsia, 26: 395–400.
- Feigenspan A, Bormann J. (1994b). Modulation of GABAC receptors in rat retinal bipolar cells by protein kinase C. The Journal of Physiology, 481: 325–330.

- Feldblum S, Ackermann RF, Tobin AJ. (1990). Long-term increase of glutamate decarboxylase mRNA in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuron, 5: 361– 371.
- Ferkany JW, Enna SJ. (1980). Interaction between GABA agonists and the cholinergic muscarinic system in rat corpus striatum. Life Sci, 27: 143-149.

Ferriero DM. (2005). Protecting neurons. Epilepsia, 46: 45-51.

- Ferron A, Thierry AM, LeDouarin C, Glowinski J. (1984). Inhibitory influence of the mesocortical dopaminergic system on spontaneous activity or excitatory response induced from the thalamic mediodorsal nucleus in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Brain Res, 302: 257–265.
- Finla C, Amee K, Paulose CS. (2008). Acetylcholine Esterase Activity and Behavioural Response in Hypoxia Induced Neonatal Rats: Effect of Glucose, Oxygen and Epinephrine Supplementation. Brain and Cognition, 68: 59-66.
- Fisher PD, Sperber EF, Moshe SL. (1998). Hippocampal sclerosis revisited. Brain Dev, 20: 563-573.
- Fletcher A, Forster EA. (1988). A proconvulsant action of selective a2-adrenoceptor antagonists. Eur. J. Pharmacol, 151: 27–34.
- Fox JT. (1924). The response of epileptic children to mental and educational tests. Br J Med Psychol, 4: 235–48.
- Frank MJ, Claus ED. (2006). Anatomy of a decision: striato-orbitofrontal interactions in reinforcement learning, decision making, and reversal. Psychol Rev, 113: 300–326.

- Fredow G, Loscher W. (1991). Effects of pharmacological manipulation of GABAergic neurotransmission in a new mutant hamster model of paroxysmal dystonia. Eur J Pharmacol, 192: 207–219.
- French JA, Williamson PD, Thadani VM, Darcey TM, Mattson RH, Spencer SS, Spencer DD. (1993). Characteristics of medial temporal lobe epilepsy: I. Results of history and physical examination. Ann Neurol, 34: 774–780.
- Frerking M, Nicoll RA. (2000). Synaptic kainate receptors. Curr Opin. Neurobiol, 10: 342-351.
- Fricke MN, Jones-Davis DM, Mathews GC. (2007). Glutamine uptake by System A transporters maintains neurotransmitter GABA synthesis and inhibitory synaptic transmission. J Neurochem, 102: 1895–1904.
- Fritschy J. (2008). Epilepsy, E/I balance and GABAA receptor plasticity. Front Mol Neurosci, doi:10.3389/neuro.02.005.
- Frotscher M, Kraft J, Zorn U. (1988). Fine structure of identified neurons in the primate hippocampus: a combined Golgi/EM study in the baboon. J Comp Neurol, 275: 254–270.
- Frotscher M, Zimmer J. (1983). Lesion-induced mossy fibers to the molecular layer of the rat fascia dentata: identification of postsynaptic granule cells by the Golgi-EM technique. J Comp Neurol, 215: 299-311.
- Fujikawa DG, Itabashi HH, Wu A, Shinmei SS. (2000a). Status epilepticus-induced neuronal loss in humans without systemic complications or epilepsy. Epilepsia, 41: 981–991.

- Fujiyama F, Fritschy JM, Stephenson FA, Bolam JP. (2000). Synaptic localization of GABA(A) receptor subunits in the striatum of the rat. J Comp Neurol, 416: 158–172.
- Fumisuke M. (2009). Partial epileptic seizures beginning in the truncal muscles. Neurologica, 69: 264 – 269.
- Gale K. (1992). GABA and epilepsy: basic concepts from preclinical research. Epilepsia, 33: 3-12.
- Gall CM, Isackson PJ. (1989). Limbic seizures increase neuronal production of messenger RNA for nerve growth factor. Science, 245: 758-761.
- Ganguly GK, Malhtora CL. (1967). Some neuropharmacological and behavioral effects of an activefraction from Herpestis monniera Linn (Brahmi). Indian J Physiol Pharmacol, 11: 33–43.
- Gasparini F, Bruno V, Battaglia G, Lukic S, Leonhardt T, Inderbitzin W, Laurie D, Sommer B, Varney MA, Hess SD, Johnson EC, Kuhn R, Urwyler S, Sauer D, Portet C, Schmutz M, Nicoletti F, Flor PJ. (1999). (R, S)–4–phosphorno phenylglycine, a potent and selective group III metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist, is anticonvulsive and neuroprotective in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 289: 1678–1687
- Gastaut H. (1970). Executive Committee of the International League against Epilepsy. Clinical and EEG classification of epileptic seizures. Epilepsia, 11: 102-113.
- Gaykema RPA, Luiten PGM, Nyakas C, Traber J. (1990). Cortical projection patterns of the medial septum-diagonal band complex. J Comp Neurol, 293: 103–124.

- Geijo-Barrientos E, Pastore C. (1995). The effects of dopamine on the sub threshold electrophysiological responses of rat prefrontal cortex neurons in vitro. Eur J Neurosci, 7: 358–366.
- Gilby K L, Da Silva E A, McIntyre D C. (2005). Differential GABAA subunit expression following status epilepticus in seizure-prone and seizure-resistant rats: a putative mechanism for refractory drug response. Epilepsia, 46: 3–9.
- Gilon P, Mallefet J, De Vriendt C, Pauwels S, Geffard M, Campistron G, Remacle C.(1990). Immunocytochemical and autoradiographic studies of the endocrine cells interacting with GABA in the rat stomach. Histochemistry, 93: 645–654.
- Gilon P, Tappaz M, Remacle C. (1991). Localization of GAD-like immunoreactivity in the pancreas and stomach of the rat and mouse. Histochemistry, 96: 355–365.
- Glosser G, Cole LC, French JA, Saykin AJ, Sperling MR. (1997). Predictors of intellectual performance in adults with intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 3: 252–259.
- Goddard AW, Mason GF, Almai A, Rothman DL, Behar KL, Petroff OA, Charney DS, Krystal JH. (2001). Reductions in occipital cortex GABA levels in panic disorder detected with 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Archives of General Psychiatry, 58: 556–561.
- Gonzalez-Islas C, Hablitz JJ. (2003). Dopamine enhances EPSCs in layer II-III pyramidal neurons in rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci, 23: 867–875.
- Graggen Z' WJ, Metz GAS, Kartje GL, Schwab ME. (1998). Functional recovery and enhanced cortico-fugal plasticity in the adult rat after uniateral pyramidal tract

section and blockade of myelin associated neurite growth inhibitors. J Neurosci, 18: 4744-4757.

- Graumlich JF, Mc Laughlin RG, Birkhahn D, Shah N, Jobe, PC, Dailey JW. (1999).
 Carbamazepine pharmacokinetics-pharmacodynamics in genetically epilepsypronerats. Eur J Pharmacol, 369: 305-311.
- Gray CM, Konig P, Engel AK, Singer W. (1989). Oscillatory responses in cat visual cortex exhibit inter-columnar synchronization which reflects global stimulus properties. Nature, 338: 334–337.
- Graybiel AM. (2005). The basal ganglia: learning new tricks and loving it. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 15: 638–644.
- Gregory C, Mathews MD. (2007). The Dual Roles of GABA in Seizures and Epilepsy Generate More Excitement. Epilepsy Curr, 7: 28–30.
- Grenier F, Timofeev I, Steriade M. (2003). Neocortical very fast oscillations (ripples, 80–200 Hz) during seizures, intracellular correlates. J Neurophysiol, 89: 841–852.
- Grigorenko E, Glazier S, Bell W, Tytell M, Nosel E, Pons T, Deadwyler SA. (1997). Changes in glutamate receptor subunit composition in hippocampus and cortex in patients with refractory epilepsy. J Neurol Sci, 153: 35–45.
- Guerrini R, Bonanni P, Parmeggiani L, Hallett M, Oguni H. (2005). Pathophysiology of myoclonic epilepsies. Adv Neurol, 95: 23-46.
- Gulledge AT, Jaffe DB. (2001). Multiple effects of dopamine on layer V pyramidal cell excitability in rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurophysiol, 86: 586–595.

- Gupta RC, Dettbarn WD. (2003). Prevention of kainic acid seizures-induced changes in levels of nitric oxide and high-energy phosphates by 7-nitroindazole in rat brain regions. BrainRes, 981: 184–192.
- Gutiérrez R, Romo-Parra H, Maqueda J, Vivar C, Ramirez M, Morales MA, Lamas M. (2003). Plasticity of the GABAergic phenotype of the 'glutamatergic' granule cells of the rat dentate gyrus. J Neurosci, 23: 5594–5598.
- Gutiérrez R. (2002). Activity-dependent expression of simultaneous glutamatergic and GABAergic neurotransmission from the mossy fibers in vitro. J Neurophysiol, 87: 2562–2570.
- Gyenes M, Farrant M, Farb DH. (1988). "Run down" of GABAA receptor function during whole-cell recording- a possible role for phosphorylation. Mol Pharmacol, 34: 719–723.
- Hajnal A, Lenard L, Czurko A, Sandor P, Karadi Z. (1997). Distribution and time course of appearance of 'dark' neurons and EEG activity after amygdaloid kainate lesion. Brain Res Bull, 433: 235-243.
- Han Y, Qin J, Bu DF, Chang XZ, Yang ZX. (2006). Successive alterations of hippocampal gamma-aminobutyric acid B receptor subunits in a rat model of febrile seizure. Life Sci, 78: 2944–2952.
- Hardman JG. Goodman Gilman A, Limbird LE. (1996). In: Goodman & Gilman's (eds). The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics. McGraw-Hill, New York, P: 126-133.
- Harty RF, Franklin PA. (1983). GABA affects the release of gastrin and somatostatin from rat antral mucosa. Nature, 303: 623–624.

- Harvey AS, Berkovic SF, Wrennall JA, Hopkins IJ. (1997). Temporal lobe epilepsy inchildhood: clinical, EEG, and neuroimaging findings and syndromeclassification in a cohort with new-onset seizures. Neurology, 49: 960-968.
- Hattiangady B, Rao MS, Zaman V, Shetty AK. (2006). Incorporation of embryonic CA3 cell grafts into the adult hippocampus at 4-months after injury: effects of combined neurotrophic supplementation and caspase inhibition. Neuroscience, 139: 1369–1383.
- Hauser WA, Annegers JF, Rocca WA. (1996). Descriptive epidemiology of epilepsy: contributions of population-based studies from Rochester, Minnesota. Mayo Clin Proc, 71: 576–86.
- Hauser WA, Annegers JF. (1991). Risk factors for epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 4: 45-52.
- Hauser WA. (1997). Incidence and prevalence. In: Engel JJr & Pedley TA (eds).
 Epilepsy A Comprehensive Textbook. Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadephia, P:47-58.
- Haydn NA, Jasmine MH. (2007). Use of the narrow beam test in the rat, 6hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease, Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 159: 195-202.
- Heidi M, Karin D, Jürgen E. (2002). The fatty acid translocase (FAT)/CD36 and the glucose transporter GLUT4 are localized in different cellular compartments in rat cardiac muscle. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 293: 665-669.

- Heiser LK, Chu HM, Tecott LH. (1998). Epilepsy and obesity in serotonin 5-HT2C receptor mutant mice. Ann NY Acad Sci, 861: 74-78.
- Helmstaedter C, Kurthen M. (2001). Memory and epilepsy: characteristics, course, and influence of drugs and surgery. Curr Opin Neurol, 14: 211–216.
- Henkin Y, Sadeh M, Kivity S, Shabtai E, Kishon-Rabin L, Gadoth N. (2005). Cognitive function in idiopathic generalized epilepsy of childhood. Dev Med Child Neurol, 47: 126–132.
- Henshall DC, Chen J, Simon RP. (2000). Involvement of caspase-3-like protease in the mechanism of cell death following focally evoked limbic seizures. J Neurochem, 74: 1215–1223.
- Hermann BP, Seidenberg M, Schoenfeld J, Davies K. (1997). Neuropsychological characteristics of the syndrome of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Arch Neurol, 54: 369–376.
- Hernandez EJ, Willams PA, Dudek FE. (2002). Effect of fluoxetine and TFMPP on spontaneous seizures in rats with pilocarpine induced epilepsy. Epilepsia, 43: 1337-1345.
- Hikosaka O, Nakamura K, Saka K, Nakahara H. (2002). Central mechanisms of motor skill learning. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 12: 217–222.
- Hogg, RC, Raggenbass M, Bertrand D. (2003). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to brain function. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol, 147: 1–46.
- Holmes GL, Lenck-Santini PP. (2006). Role of interictal epileptiform abnormalities in cognitive impairment. Epilepsy Behav, 8: 504–515.

- Hommet C, Sauerwein HC, Toffol B, Lassonde M. (2006). Idiopathic epileptic syndromes and cognition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 30: 85-96.
- Honig A, Bartlett JR, Bouras N, Bridges PK. (1988). Amino acid levels in depression: a preliminary investigation. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 22: 159–164.
- Hossein FS, Timothy DF, Teri JR, Paul DT. (2008). Expression of GABAB Receptors Is Altered in Brains of Subjects with Autism. The Cerebellum, 8: 64-69.
- Houser CR, Esclapez M, Fritschy JM, Mohler H. (1995). Decreased expression of the gka5 subunit of the GABA, receptor in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Soc Neurosci Abstr, 21: 1475.
- Houser CR, Esclapez M. (1994). Localization of mRNAs encoding two forms of glutamic acid decarboxylase in the rat hippocampal formation. Hippocampus, 4: 530–545.
- Houser CR, Esclapez M. (2003). Downregulation of the α 5 subunit of the GABAA receptor in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Hippocampus, 13: 633–664.
- Houser CR, Miyashiro JE, Swartz BE, Walsh GO, Rich JR, Delgado- Escueta AV. (1990). Altered patterns of dynorphin immunoreactivity suggest mossy fiber reorganization in human hippocampal epilepsy. J Neurosci, 10: 267–282.
- Huerta PT, Lisman JE. (1993). Heightened synaptic plasticity of hippocampal CA1 neurons during a cholinergically induced rhythmic state. Nature, 19: 723–725.

- Hunt AD, Stokes J, McCrory WW, Stroud H. (1954). Pyridoxine dependency: report of a case of intractable convulsions in an infant controlled by pyridoxine. Pediatrics, 13: 140–145.
- Iadarola MJ, Gale K. (1982). Substantia nigra: site of anticonvulsant activity mediated by gamma-aminobutyric acid. Science, 17: 1237–1240.
- Ichise T, Kano M, Hashimoto K, Yanagihara D, Nakao K, Shigemoto R, Katsuki M, Aiba A. (2000). mGluR1 in cerebellar Purkinje cells essential for long-term depression, synapse elimination, and motor coordination. Science, 288: 1832– 1835.
- Ige AO, Bolam JP, Billinton A, White JH, Marshall FH, Emson PC. (2000). Cellular and sub-cellular localisation of GABAB1 and GABAB2 receptor proteins in the rat cerebellum. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 83: 72–80.
- Indre V, Viskontas MP, Mc Andrews, Morris M. (2000). Remote Episodic Memory Deficits in Patients with Unilateral Temporal Lobe Epilepsy and Excisions. The Journal of Neuroscience, 20: 5853-5857.
- Insausti R, Herrero MT, Witter MP. (1997). Entorhinal cortex of the rat: cytoarchitectonic subdivisions and the origin and distribution of cortical efferents. Hippocampus, 7: 146-183.
- Isabelle J. (2006). Neuropsychology of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy in Children. Advances in Behavioral Biology, 64: 5097-5102.
- Isokawa M, Mello LE. (1991). NMDA receptor-mediated excitability in dendritically deformed dentate granule cells in pilocarpine-treated rats. Neurosci Lett, 129: 69-73.
- Isokawa M. (1996). Decreased time constant in hippocampal dentate granule cells in pilocarpine treated rats with progressive seizure frequencies. Brain Res, 718: 169-175.
- Isokawa M. (1998). Remodeling dendritic spines in the rat pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuroscience Lett, 258: 73-76.
- Ito M. (2002). The molecular organization of cerebellar long-term depression. Nat Rev Neurosc, 3: 896–902.
- Jack CR, Sharbrough FW, Cascino GD, Hirschorn KA, Brien PC, Marsh WR. (1992). Magnetic resonance image-based hippocampal volumetry: correlation with outcome after temporal lobectomy. Ann Neurol, 31: 138–46.
- Jackson HC, Dickinson SL, Nutt DJ. (1991). Exploring the pharmacology of the proconvulsant effects of alpha 2-adrenoceptor antagonists in mice. Psychopharmacology, 105: 558-562.
- Jacobs KM, Graber KD, Kharazia VN, Parada I, Prince DA. (2000). Postlesional epilepsy: the ultimate brain plasticity. Epilepsia, 41: S153–S161.
- Janigro D. (2008). Gene expression in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Currents, 8: 23-24.
- Jarrard L. (1980). Selective hippocampal lesions and behavior. Physiol Psychol, 8: 198-206.
- Jean-Marc F. (2008). Epilepsy, E/I Balance and GABAA Receptor Plasticity. Front Mol Neur., Doi: 10.3389/neuro.02.005.

- Jeffrey B, Titus L, Thio L. (2009). The effects of antiepileptic drugs on classroom performance, Psychology in the schools, 46: 885-892.
- Jerlicz M, Kostowski W, Bidzi'nski A, Hauptman M, Dymecki J. (1978). Audiogenic seizures in rats: relation to noradrenergic neurons of the locus coeruleus. Acta Physiol Pol, 29: 409–412.
- Jessberger S, Zhao C, Toni N, Clemenson GD, Jr, Li Y, Gage FH. (2007). Seizureassociated, aberrant neurogenesis in adult rats characterized with retrovirusmediated cell labeling. J Neurosci, 27: 9400–9407.
- Jiang FL, Tang YC, Chia SC, Jay TM, Tang FR. (2007) Anticonvulsive Effect of a Selective mGluR8 Agonist (S)-3,4-Dicarboxyphenylglycine (S-3,4- DCPG) in the Mouse Pilocarpine Model of Status Epilepticus. Epilepsia, 48: 783–792.
- Jin H, Wu H, Osterhaus G, Wei J, Davis K, Sha D, Floor E, Hsu CC, Kopke RD, Wu JY. (2003). Demonstration of functional coupling between gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) synthesis and vesicular GABA transport into synaptic vesicles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100: 4293–4298.
- Jobe PC, Ko KH, Dailey JW. (1984). Abnormalities in norepinephrine turnover rate in the central nervous system of the genetically epilepsy prone rat. Brain Res, 290: 357–360.
- Jobin M, Peeyush KT, Reas KS, Paulose CS. (2010a) Behavioural Deficit and Decreased GABA Receptor in the Cerebellum of Epileptic Rats: Effect of Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside-A. Epilepsy and Behavior, doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.01.012.

- Jobin M, Jes P, Nandu MS, Paulose CS. (2010b) Increased Excitability and Metabolism in Pilocarpine Induced Epileptic Rats: Effect of Bacopa monnieri. Fitoterapia doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2010.01.017.
- Jobin M, Jes P, Nandu MS, Paulose CS. (2009). Bacopa monnieri and Bacoside A for ameliorating epilepsy associated behavioral deficits, Fitoterapia, doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2009.11.005.
- Johnson EW, deLanerolle NC, Kim JH. (1992). Central and peripheral benzodiazepine receptors: opposite changes in human epileptogenic tissue. Neurology, 42: 811-815.
- Johnston GAR. (2005). GABAA receptor channel pharmacology. Current Pharm Des, 11: 1867–1885.
- Jokeit H, Ebner A. (2002). Effects of chronic epilepsy on intellectual functions. Prog Brain Res, 135: 455–463.
- Jonas P, Burnashev N. (1995). Molecular mechanisms controlling calcium entry through AMPA-type glutamate receptor channels. Neuron, 15: 987-990.
- Jones EG, Powell TPS. (1970). An anatomical study of converging sensory pathways within the cerebral cortex of the monkey. Brain, 93: 793-820.
- Jones KA, Borowsky B, Tamm JA, Craig DA, Durkin MM Dai M, Yao WJ, Johnson M, Gunwaldsen C, Huang LY, Tang C, Shen Q, Salon JA, Morse K, Laz T, Smith KE, Nagarathnam D, Noble SA, Branchek TA, Gerald C. (1998). GABA B receptors function as a heteromeric assembly of the subunits GABABR1 and GABABR2. Nature, 396: 674–679.

- Jones-Gotman M. (2000). Clinical neuropsychology and neocortical epilepsies. Adv Neurol, 84: 457-62.
- Jorm A. (2002). Prospects for the prevention of dementia. Australas J Ageing, 21: 9–13.
- Jung KH, Chu K, Kim M, Jeong SW, Song YM, Lee ST, Kim JY, Lee SK, Roh JK. (2004). Continuous cytosine-b-D-arabinofuranoside infusion reduces ectopic granule cells in adult rat hippocampus with attenuation of spontaneous recurrent seizures following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Eur J Neurosci., 19: 3219–3226.
- Kaila K, Lamsa K, Smirnov S, Taira T, Voipio J. (1997). Long-lasting GABAmediated depolarization evoked by high-frequency stimulation in pyramidal neurons of rat hippocampal slice is attributable to a network-driven, bicarbonate-dependent K+ transient. J Neuroscience, 17: 7662–7672.
- Kalviainen R, Salmenpera T, Partanen K, Vainio P, Riekkinen P, Pitkanen A. (1997).MRI volumetry and T2 relaxometry of the amygdala in newly diagnosed and chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 28: 39–50.
- Kaneda M, Mochizuki M, Aoki K, Kaneko A. (1997). Modulation of GABA (C) response by Ca2+ and other divalent cations in horizontal cells of the catfish retina. Journal of General Physiology, 110: 741–747.
- Kanner AM, Soto A. (1998). Ictal recordings in postictal psychosis and postictal depression. Neurology, 50: 390-397.

- Kano MC. (1996). Long-lasting potentiation of GABAergic inhibitory synaptic transmission in cerebellar purkinje cells: Its properties and possible mechanisms Behavioral and brain sciences, 19: 354-361.
- Kao CQ, Coulter DA. (1997). Physiology and pharmacology of corticothalamic stimulation-evoked responses in rat somatosensory thalamic neurons in vitro. J Neurophysiol, 77: 2661-2676.
- Kapur J, Michelson HB, Buterbaugh GG, Lothman EW. (1989). Evidence for a chronic loss of inhibition in the hippocarnpus after kindling: electrophysiological studies. Epilepsy Res, 4: 90-99.
- Kapur J. (1999). Status epilepticus in epileptogenesis. Curr Opin Neurol, 12: 191-195.
- Kar C, Parmar D, Kakkar P Shukla R, Seth PK, Srimal RC. (2002). Antistress effects of bacosides of Bacopa monnieri: Modulation of Hsp70 expression, superoxide dismutase and cytochrome P450 activity in rat brain. Phytotherapy research, 16: 639-645.
- Kash SF, Johnson RS, Tecott LH, Noebels JL, Mayfield RD, Hanahan D, Baekkeskov
 S. (1997). Epilepsy in mice deficient in the 65-kDa isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 94: 14060–14065.
- Katyare SS, Billimoria FR. (1989). Biochemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay 400085, India Effect of experimentally induced thyrotoxicosis on oxidative energy metabolism in rat heart mitochondria. Journal of Biosciences, 14: 329-39.
- Katz RJ, Chudler R. (1980). Y-Maze behavior after an analog of ACTH 4-9, evidence for an attentional alteration. Psychopharmacology, 71: 95-96.

- Kaufman DL, Houser CR, Tobin AJ. (1991). Two forms of the gamma-aminobutyric acid synthetic enzyme glutamate decarboxylase have distinct intraneuronal distributions and cofactor interactions. J Neurochem, 56: 720–723.
- Kaupmann K, Cryan JF, Wellendorph P, Mombereau C, Sansig G, Klebs K, Schmutz M, Froestl W, van der Putten H, Mosbacher J, Brauner-Osborne H, Waldmeier P, Bettler B. (2003). Specific gamma-hydroxybutyrate-binding sites but loss of pharmacological effects of gamma-hydroxybutyrate in GABA(B)(1)-deficient mice. Eur J Neurosci, 18: 2722–2730.
- Kaupmann K, Huggel K, Heid J, Flor PJ, Bischoff S, Mickel SJ, McMaster G, Angst C, Bittiger H, Froestl W, Bettler B. (1997). Expression cloning of GABAB receptors uncovers similarity to metabotropic glutamate receptors. Nature, 386: 239–246.
- Kaupmann K, Malitschek B, Schuler V, Heid J, Froestl W, Beck P, Mosbacher J, Bischoff S, Kulik A, Shigemoto R, Karschin A, Bettler B. (1998). GABA Breceptor subtypes assemble into functional heteromeric complexes. Nature, 396: 683–687.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Curre AR. (1972). Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer, 26: 239-257.
- Kishore K, Singh M. (2005). Effect of bacosides, alcoholic extract of Bacopa monnieri Linn. (brahmi), on experimental amnesia in mice. Indian J Exper Biol, 43: 640-645.
- Klink R, Alonso A. (1997b). Muscarinic modulation of the oscillatory and repetitive firing properties of entorhinal cortex layer II neurons. J Neurophysiol, 77: 1813–1828.

- Kohler C. (1986). Intrinsic connections of the retrohippocampal region in the rat brain. II. The medial entorhinal area. J Comp Neurol, 246: 149–169.
- Kohr G, Lambert CE, Mody I. (1991). Calbindin-D28K (CaBP) levels and calcium currents in acutely dissociated epileptic neurons. Exp. Brain Res, 85: 543-551.
- Kolk A, Beilmann A, Tomberg T, Napa A, Talvik T. (2001). Neurocognitive development of children with congenital unilateral brain lesion and epilepsy. Brain Dev, 5: 88–96.
- Koop JI, Fastenau PS, Dunn DW, Austin JK. (2005). Neuropsychological correlates of electroencephalograms in children with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 64: 49–62.
- Kouniniotou KP, Tsakiris S. (1989). Time dependence of Li+ action on acetylcholine esterase activity in correlation with spontaneous quantal release of acetylcholine in rat diaphragm. Japanease journal of physiology, 39: 429-440.
- Koyama R, Ikegaya Y. (2004). Mossy fiber sprouting as a potential therapeutic target for epilepsy. Curr Neurovasc Res, 1: 3–10.
- Koyama R, Ikegaya Y. (2005). To BDNF or not to BDNF: that is the epileptic hippocampus. Neuroscientist, 11: 282–287.
- Kral T, Erdmann E, Sochivko D, Clusmann H, Schramm J, Dietrich D. (2003). Downregulation of mGluR8 in pilocarpine epileptic rats. Synapse, 47: 278–284.
- Krantis A., Tufts K., Nichols K., Morris G.P. (1994). [3H] GABA uptake and GABA localization in mucosal endocrine cells of the rat stomach and colon. J Auton Nerv Syst, 47: 225–232.

- Kreil A, Richter A. (2005). Antidystonic efficacy of gamma-aminobutyric acid uptake inhibitors in the dtsz mutant. Eur J Pharmacol, 521: 95–98.
- Krimer LS, Goldman-Rakic PS. (2001). Prefrontal microcircuits: membrane properties and excitatory input of local, medium, and wide arbor interneurons. J Neurosci, 21: 3788-3796.
- Krsek P, Mikulecka A, Druga R, Kubova H, Hlinak Z, Suchomelova L, Mares P. (2004). Long-term behavioral and morphological consequences of nonconvulsive status epilepticus in rats. Epilepsy Behav, 5: 180-191.
- Krystal JH, Sanacora G, Blumberg H, Anand A, Charney DS, Marek G, Epperson CN, Goddard A, Mason GF. (2002). Glutamate and GABA systems as targets for novel antidepressant and mood-stabilizing treatments. Molecular Psychiatry, 7: 71-80.
- Kuner R, Kohr G, Grunewald S, Eisenhardt G, Bach A, Kornau HC. (1999). Role of heteromer formation in GABAB receptor function. Science, 283: 74–77.
- Kurioka S, Toshiaki k, Makoto M. (1981). Effect of Sodim and Bicarbonate Ions on GABA Receptor binding in synaptic membrane of rat brain. Journal of Neurochemistry, 37: 418-421.
- Kusama T, Sakurai M, Kizawa Y, Uhl GR, Murakami H. (1995). GABA rho 1 receptor: inhibition by protein kinase C activators. European Journal of Pharmacology, 291: 431-434.
- Kuzniecky R, Bilir E, Gilliam F, Faught E, Martin R, Hugg J. (1999). Quantitative MRI in temporal lobe epilepsy: evidence for fornix atrophy. Neurology, 53: 496-501.

- Labrakakis, C., Müller, T., Schmidt, K. and Kettenmann, H. (1997). GABA(A) receptor activation triggers a Cl- conductance increase and a K+ channel blockade in cerebellar granule cells. Neuroscience, 79: 177-89.
- Lanni A, Beneduce L, Lombardi A, Moreno M, Boss O, Muzzin P, Giacobino JP, Goglia F. (1999). Expression of uncoupling protein-3 and mitochondrial activity in the transition from hypothyroid to hyperthyroid state in rat skeletal muscle. FEBS Letters, 444: 250-254.
- Lassonde M, Sauerwein HC, Jambaque I, Smith ML, Helmstaedter C. (2000). Neuropsychology of childhood epilepsy: pre- and postsurgical assessment. Epileptic Disord, 2: 3-13.
- Lauer M, Beckmann H, Senitz D. (2003). Increased frequency of dentate granule cells with basal dendrites in the hippocampal formation of schizophrenics. Psychiatr Res Neuroimagy, 122: 89–97.
- Laurberg S, Zimmer J. (1981). Lesion-induced sprouting of hippocampal mossy fiber collaterals to the fascia dentata in developing and adult rats. J Comp Neurol, 200: 433-459.
- laurie L. Barclay Andgary E. (1982). Gibson Spontaneous Open-Field Behavior in Thiamin-Deficient Rats1. J Nutr, 112: 1899-1905.
- Law-Tho D, Hirsch JC, Crepel F. (1994). Dopamine modulation of synaptic transmission in rat prefrontal cortex: an in vitro electrophysiological study. Neurosci Res, 21: 151–160.
- Le Poul E, Boni C, Hanoun N, Laporte AM, Laaris N, Chauveau J, Hamon M, Lanfumey L. (2000). Differential adaptation of brain 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B -

receptors and 5-HT transporter in rats treated chronically with fluoxetine. Neuropharmacology, 39: 110-122.

- Leary DS, Seidenberg M, Berent S, Boll TJ. (1981). Effects of age of onset of tonicclonic seizures on neuropsychological performance in children. Epilepsia, 22:197-204.
- Lee JW, Andermann F, Dubeau F, Bernasconi A, MacDonald D, Evans A, Reutens DC. (1998). Morphometric analysis of the temporal lobe in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia, 39: 727–736.
- Lehmann H, Ebert U, Löscher W. (1996). Immunocytochemical localization of GABA immunoreactivity in dentate granule cells of normal and kindled rats. Neurosci Lett, 212: 41–44.
- Lena C, Changeux JP. (1998). Allosteric nicotinic receptors, human pathologies. J Physiol, 92: 63–74.
- Leung LS, Boon KA, Kaibara T, Innis NK (1990). Radial maze performance following hippocampal kindling. Behav Brain Res, 40: 119-129.
- Levitt P, Eagleson KL, Powell EM. (2004). Regulation of neocortical interneuron development and the implications for neurodevelopmental disorders. Trends Neurosci, 27: 400-406.
- Lewis BL, O'Donnell P. (2000). Ventral tegmental area afferents to the prefrontal cortex maintain membrane potential 'up' states in pyramidal neurons via D(1) dopamine receptors. Cereb Cortex, 10: 1168-1175.
- Lewis DV. (2005). Losing neurons: selective vulnerability and mesial temporal sclerosis. Epilepsia, 46: 39–44.

- Li H, Wu J, Huguenard J R, Fisher RS. (2006). Selective changes in thalamic and cortical GABAA receptor subunits in a model of acquired absence epilepsy in the rat. Neuropharmacology, 51: 121–128.
- Liang SL, Carlson GC, Coulter DA. (2006). Dynamic regulation of synaptic GABA release by the glutamate-glutamine cycle in hippocampal area CA1. J Neurosci, 26: 8537–8548.
- Libet B, Gleason CA, Wright EW, Feinstein B. (1977). Suppression of an epileptiform type of electrocortical activity in the rat by stimulation of the locus coeruleus. Epilepsia, 18: 451-462.
- Lim C, Blume HW, Madsen JR, Saper CB. (1997). Connections of the hippocampal formation in humans: I. The mossy fiber pathway. J Comp Neurol, 385: 325– 351.
- Limpeanchob N, Jaipan S, Rattanakaruna S, Phrompittayarat W, Ingkaninan K. (2008). Neuroprotective effect of Bacopa monnieri on beta-amyloid-induced cell death in primary cortical culture. J Ethnopharmacol, 30: 112-117.
- Litt B, Esteller R, Echauz J, D'Alessandro M, Shor R, Henry T, Pennell P, Epstein C, Bakay R, Dichter M, Vachtsevanos G. (2001). Epileptic seizures may begin hours in advance of clinical onset: a report of five patients. Neuron, 30: 51-64.
- Liu Z, Nagao T, Desjardins QC, Gloor P, Avoli M. (1994). Quantitative evaluation of neuronal loss in the dorsal hippocampus in rats with long-term pilocarpine seizures. Epilepsy Res, 17: 237–247.
- Lloyd A, Jeffrey B, Halter DS, Thomas TA, Anne MR, Suzanne LB. (1983). Hormone levels and fuel flow in patients with weight loss and lung cancer.

Evidence for excessive metabolic expenditure and for an adaptive response mediated by a reduced level of 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine. Metabolism, 32: 924-937.

- Lloyd KG, Bossi L, Morselli PL. (1984). GABA hypothesis of human epilepsy: Neurochemical evidence from surgically resected identified foci. In: Fariello RG (eds). Neurotransmitters, Seizures, and Epilepsy II. Raven press, New York, P: 285-293.
- Lloyd KG, Munari C, Bossi L, Stoeffels C, Talairach J, Morselli PL. (1981). Biochemical evidence for the alterations of GABA- mediated synaptic transmission in pathological brain tissue (stereo EEG or morphological definition) from epileptic patients. In: Morselli PL (eds). Neuro- transmitters, Seizures, and Epilepsy. Raven press, New York, P: 325-338.
- Lopes da Silva FH, Gorter JA, Wadman WJ. (1986). Kindling of the hippocampus induces spatial memory deficits in the rat. Neurosci Lett, 63:115-120.
- Lopes da silva FH, Witter MP, Boeijinga PH, Lohman AH. (1990). Anatomic organization and physiology of the limbic cortex. Physiol. Rev, 70: 453–511.
- Lorkovi H, Jäger U, Rado A. (1995). Comparison of the effects of Ca2+ and those of Mg2+ and La3+ on endplate currents in mouse interosseus muscles. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology, 111: 597-602
- Loscher W, Czuczwar SJ. (1987). Comparison of drugs with different selectivity for central alpha1 and alpha2-adrenoceptors in animal models of epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 1: 165–172.

- Loscher W, Horstermann D. (1992). Abnormalities in amino acid neurotransmitters in discrete brain regions of genetically dystonic hamsters. J Neurochem, 59: 689–694.
- Loscher W, Schmidt D. (1988). Which animal models should be used in the search for new antiepileptic drugs. A proposal based on experimental and clinical considerations. Epilepsy Res, 2: 145-181.
- Lothman EW, Bertram EH, Stringer JL. (1991). Functional anatomy of hippocampal seizures. Prog Neurobiol, 37: 1-82.
- Lothman EW, Bertram III EH. (1993). Epileptogenic effects of status epilepticus. Epilepsia, 34: 59–70.
- Lothman EW, Stringer JL, Bertram EH. (1992). The dentate gyrus as a control point for seizures in the hippocampus and beyond. Epilepsy Ressupplement, 7: 301–313.
- Loup F, Picard F, André VM, Kehrli P, Yonekawa Y, Wieser HG, Fritschy JM. (2006). Altered expression of α3-containing GABAA receptors in the neocortex of patients with focal epilepsy. Brain, 129: 3277–3289.
- Loup F, Wieser HG, Yonekawa Y, Aguzzi A, Fritschy JM. (2000). Selective alterations in GABAA receptor subtypes in human temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci, 20: 5401–5419.
- Lowenstein DH. (1996). Recent advances related to basic mechanisms of epileptogenesis. Epilepsy Res, 11: 45-60.
- Lowry OH, Roserbrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. (1951). Protein measurements and folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem, 193: 265-275.

- Lu YM, Mansuy IM, Kandel ER, Roder J. (2000). Calcineurin-mediated LTD of GABAergic inhibition underlies the increased excitability of CA1 neurons associated with LTP. Neuron, 26: 197–205
- Lujan R. (2007). Subcellular regulation of metabotropic GABA receptors in the developing cerebellum. The Cerebellum, 62: 123-9.
- Lysakowski A, Wainer BH, Bruce G, Hersh LB. (1989). An atlas of the regional and laminar distribution of choline acetyltransferase immunoreactivity in rat cerebral cortex. Neuroscience, 28: 291–336.
- MacDonald RL, Barker JL. (1979). Enhancement of GABA-mediated postsynaptic inhibition in cultured mammalian spinal cord neurons: a common mode of anticonvulsant action. Brain Res, 167: 323-336
- Macdonald RL, Gallagher MJ, Feng HJ, Kong J. (2004). GABAA receptor epilepsy mutations. Biochem Pharmacol, 68: 1497–1506.
- Magloczky Z, Halasz P, Vajda J, Czirjak S, Freund TF. (1997). Loss of Calbindin-D28K immunoreactivity from dentate granule cells in human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuroscience, 76: 377-385.
- Malhotra CL, Das PK. (1959). Pharmacological studies of Herpestis monniera Linn.(Brahmi). Indian J Med Res, 47: 294-305.
- Mallet N, Ballion B, Le-Moine C, Gonon F. (2006). Cortical inputs and GABA interneurons imbalance projection neurons in the striatum of parkinsonian rats. J Neurosci, 26: 3875–3884.

- Manford M, Hart YM, Sander JW, Shorvon SD. (1992). National General Practice Study of Epilepsy (NGPSE): partial seizure patterns in a general population. Neurology, 42: 1911-1917.
- Mares P, Kubova H, Zouhar A, Folbergrova J, Koryntova H, Stankova L. (1993).
 Motor and electrocorticographic epileptic activity induced by 3mercaptopropionic acid in immature rats. Epilepsy Res, 16: 11–18.
- Marsden CD, Meldrum BS, Pycock C, Tarsy D. (1975). Focal myoclonus produced by injection of picrotoxin into the caudate nucleus of the rat . J Physiol, 246: 96-102.
- Marsh ED, Brooks-Kayal AR, Porter BE. (2006). Seizures and antiepileptic drugs: does exposure alter normal brain development?. Epilepsia, 47: 1999–2010.
- Marsh L, Morrell MJ, Shear PK, Sullivan EV, Freeman H, Marie A, Lim KO, Pfefferbaum A. (1997). Cortical and hippocampal volume deficits in temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia, 38: 576–587.
- Martin DL & Tobin AJ. (2000). Mechanisms controlling GABA synthesis and degredation in the brain. In: Martin DL & Olsen R (eds). GABA in the Nervous System. Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, P: 25–41.
- Martin DL, Rimvall K. (1993). Regulation of gamma-aminobutyric acid synthesis in the brain. J Neurochem, 60: 395–407.
- Martin SJ, Morris RG. (2002) New life in an old idea: the synaptic plasticity and memory hypothesis revisited. Hippocampus, 12: 609–636.

- Martinelli P, Pazzaglia P, Montagna P, Coccagna G, Rizzuto N, Simonati S, Lugaresi E. (1978). Stiff-man syndrome associated with nocturnal myoclonus and epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 41: 458-462.
- Martone ME, Armstrong DM, Young SJ, Groves PM. (1992). Ultrastructural examination of enkephalin and substance P input to cholinergic neurons within the rat neostriatum. Brain Res, 594: 253–262.
- Mason ST, Corcoran ME. (1979). Catecholamines and convulsions. Brain Res, 170: 497-507.
- Mason, G.F., Sanacora, G., Hundal, R., Petersen, K., Shulman, G., Graaf R, Rothman D et al., (2001). Preliminary evidence of reduced cortical GABA synthesis rate in major depression. Society for Neuroscience Abstracts, 27: 142-146.
- Masukawa LM, Higashima M, Kim JH, Spencer DD. (1989). Epileptiform discharges evoked in hippocampal brain slices from epileptic patients. Brain Res, 493: 168–174.
- Mathern GW, Adelson PD, Cahan LD, Leite JP. (2002). Hippocampal neuron damage in human epilepsy: Meyer's hypothesis revisited. Prog Brain Res, 135: 237–251.
- Mathern GW, Babb TL, Pretorius JK, Leite JP. (1995). Reactive synaptogenesis and neuron densities for neuropeptide Y, somatostatin, and glutamate decarboxylase immunoreactivity in the epileptogenic human fascia dentata. J Neurosci, 15: 3990–4004.
- Mathern GW, Cifuentes F, Leite JP, Pretorius JK, Babb TL. (1993). Hippocampal EEG excitability and chronic spontaneous seizures are associated with aberrant

synaptic reorganization in the rat intrahippocampal kainate model. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol, 87: 326–339.

- Mathern GW, Kuhlman PA, Mendoza D, Pretorius JK. (1997). Human fascia dentata anatomy and hippocampal neuron densities differ depending on the epileptic syndrome and age at first seizure. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 56: 199–212.
- Mathern GW, Leite JP, Pretorius JK, Quinn B, Peacock WJ, Babb TL. (1996). Severe seizures in young children are associated with hippocampal neuron losses and aberrant mossy fiber sprouting during fascia dentata postnatal development. Epilepsy Res, 12: 33–43.
- Mathews GC, Diamond JS. (2003). Neuronal glutamate uptake Contributes to GABA synthesis and inhibitory synaptic strength. J Neurosci, 23: 2040–2048.
- Matsuda S, Launey T, Mikawa S, Hirai H. (2000). Disruption of AMPA receptor GluR2 clusters following long-term depression induction in cerebellar Purkinje neurons. EMBO J, 19: 2765–2774.
- Mattson MP, Cheng B, Baldwin SA, Smith-Swintosky VL, Keller J, Geddes JW, Scheff SW, Christakos S. (1995). Brain injury and tumor necrosis factors induce calbindin D-28k in astrocytes: evidence for a cytoprotective response. J Neurosci Res, 42: 357-370.
- Mazarati A, Siddarth P, Baldwin RA, Shin D, Caplan R, Sankar R. (2008). Depression after status epilepticus: behavioural and biochemical deficits and effects of fluoxetine. Brain, 131: 2071–2083.

- Mazarati AM, Hal'aszi E, Telegdy G. (1992). Anticonvulsive effects of galanin administered into the central nervous system upon the picrotoxin-kindled seizure syndrome in rats. Brain Res, 589: 164-166.
- McCormick DA, Contreras D. (2001). On the cellular and network bases of epileptic seizures. Annu Rev Physiol, 63: 815–846.
- McCormick DA, Pape H-C. (1990). Noradrenergic and serotonergic modulation of a hyperpolarization-activated cation current in thalamic relay neurones. J Physiol, 431: 319–342.
- McCormick DA, Wang Z, Huguenard JR. (1993). Neurotransmitter control of neocortical neuronal activity and excitability. Cereb Cortex, 3: 387–398.
- McCormick DA. (2002). Cortical and subcortical generators of normal and abnormal rhythmicity. Int Rev Neurobiol, 49: 99–114.
- McDonald J, Garofala E, Hood T. (1991). Altered excitatory and inhibitory amino acid receptor binding in hippocampus of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Ann Neurol, 29: 529-541.
- McKeown MJ, McNamara JO. (2001). When do epileptic seizures really begin?. Neuron, 30: 1–3.
- McKinney RA, Debanne D, Gähwiler BH, Thompson SM. (1997). Lesion-induced axonal sprouting and hyperexcitability in the hippocampus in vitro: implications for the genesis of posttraumatic epilepsy. Nat Med, 3: 990-996.
- Meldrum BS & Bruton CJ. (1992). Epilepsy. In: Adams JH & Duchen LW (eds). Greenfield's Neuropathology. Oxford University Press, New York, P: 1246-1238.

- Mellgren SI, Srebro B. (1973). Changes in acetylcholinesterase and distribution of degenerating fibres in the hippocampal region after septal lesions in the rat. Brain Res, 52: 19 –36.
- Mello LE, Cavalheiro EA, Tan AM, Kupfer WR, Pretorius JK, Babb TL, Finch DM. (1993). Circuit mechanisms of seizures in the pilocarpine model of chronic epilepsy: cell loss and mossy fiber sprouting. Epilepsia, 34: 985–995.
- Menard J, Treit D. (1999). Effects of centrally administered anxiolytic compounds in animal models of anxiety. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 23: 591-613.
- Mendez MF, Cummings JL, Benson DF. (1986). Depression in epilepsy: significance and phenomenology. Arch Neurol, 43: 766–770.
- Mendez MF, Doss RC, Taylor JL. (1993). Depression in epilepsy: relationship to seizures and anticonvulsant therapy. J Nerv Ment Dis, 181: 444–447.
- Michaels RL, Rothrnan SM. (1990). Glutamate neurotoxicity in vitro: antagonist pharmacology and intracellular calcium concentrations. J Neurosci, 10: 283-292.
- Mileson BE, Ehrmann ML, Schwartz RD. (1992). Alterations in the gammaaminobutyric acid-gated chloride channel following transient forebrain ischemia in the gerbil. J Neurochem, 58: 600–607.
- Mills S, Bone K. Principles and Practice of Phytotherapy. London:Harcourt Ltd; 2000.
- Milner TA, Loy R, Amaral DG. (1983). An anatomical study of the development of the septo-hippocampal projection in the rat. Dev Brain Res, 8: 343–371.

- Mishra PK, Burger RL, Bettendorf AF, Browning RA, Jobe PC. (1994). Role of norepinephrine in forebrain and brainstem seizures: chemical lesioning of locus ceruleus with DSP4. Exp Neurol, 125: 58-64.
- Mitchell SJ, Ranck JBJ. (1980). Generation of theta rhythm in medial entorhinal cortex of freely moving rats. Brain Res, 189: 49–66.
- Mody I. (1998). Ion channels in epilepsy. Int Rev Neurobiol, 42: 199-226.
- Moran NF, Lemieux L, Kitchen ND, Fish DR, Shorvon SD. (2001). Extrahippocampal temporal lobe atrophy in temporal lobe epilepsy and mesial temporal sclerosis. Brain, 124: 167–175.
- Morris G, Arkadir D, Nevet A, Vaadia E, Bergman H. (2004). Coincident but distinct messages of midbrain dopamine and striatal tonically active neurons. Neuron, 43: 133–143.
- Moss SJ, Smart TG, Blackstone CD, Huganir RL. (1992). Functional modulation of GABAA rceptors by cAMP-dependent protein phosphorylation. Science, 257: 661-665.
- Moss SJ, Smart TG. (1996). Modulation of amino acid-gated ion channels by protein phosphorylation. International Review of Neurobiology, 39: 1–52.
- Muller M, Gahwiler BH, Rietschin L, Thompson SM. (1993). Reversible loss of dendritic spines and altered excitability after chronic epilepsy in hippocampal slice cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 90: 257-261.
- Multani P, Myers RH, Blume HW, Schomer DL, Sotrel A. (1994). Neocortical dendritic pathology in human partial epilepsy: a quantitative Golgi study. Epilepsia, 35: 718-736.

- Murray TF, Sylvester D, Schultz CS, Szot P. (1985). Purinergic modulation of pentylenetetrazol seizure threshold in the rat. Neuropharmacology, 24: 761–766.
- Murugesan T. (2005). Evaluation of psychopharmacological effects of Linn. Extract Phytomedicine, 8: 472-476.
- Nagao T, Alonso A, Avoli M. (1996). Epileptiform activity induced by pilocarpine in combined slice of the rat hippocampus-entorhinal cortex. Neuroscience, 72: 399–408.
- Nagerl UV, Mody I, Jeub M, Lie AA, Elger CE, Beck H. (2000). Surviving granule cells of the sclerotic human hippocampus have reduced Ca(2+) influx because of a loss of calbindin-D(28k) in temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci, 20: 1831–1836.
- Nakamura S, Muramatsu S, Yoshida M. (1990). Role of the basal ganglia in manifestation of rhythmical jaw movement in rats. Brain Res, 535: 335–338.
- Negi KS, Singh YD, Kushwaha KP, Rastogi CK, Rathi AK, Srivastava JS. (2000). Clinical evaluation of memory enhancing properties of Memory Plus in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Indian J Psychiatry, 42: 42- 50.
- Nicolelis MA, Baccala LA, Lin RC, Chapin JK. (1995). Sensorimotor encoding by synchronous neural ensemble activity at multiple levels of the somatosensory system. Science, 268: 1353–1358.
- Niquet J, Liu H, Wasterlain CG. (2005). Programmed neuronal necrosis and status epilepticus. Epilepsia, 46: 43–48.

- Nishimura T, Schwarzer C, Gasser E, Kato N, Vezzani A, Sperk G. (2005). Altered expression of GABAA and GABAB receptor subunit mRNAs in the hippocampus after kindling and electrically induced status epilepticus. Neuroscience, 134: 691–704
- Nobrega JN, Richter A, Burnham WM, Loscher W. (1995). Alterations in the brain GABAA/benzodiazepine receptor-chloride ionophore complex in a genetic model of paroxysmal dystonia: a quantitative autoradiographic analysis. Neuroscience, 64: 229–239.
- Nolan MA, Redoblado MA, Lah S, Sabaz M, Lawson JA, Cunningham AM. (2003). Intelligence in childhood epilepsy syndromes. Epilepsy Res, 53: 139–50.
- Nolan MA, Redoblado MA, Lah S, Sabaz M, Lawson JA, Cunningham AM. (2004). Memory function in childhood epilepsy syndromes. J Paediatr Child Health, 40: 20-7.
- Nunn JA, Graydon FJ, Polkey CE, Morris RG. (1999). Differential spatial memory impairment after right temporal lobectomy demonstrated using temporal titration. Brain, 122: 47–59.
- Nusser Z, Sieghart W, Somogyi P. (1998). Segregation of different GABAA receptors to synaptic and extrasynaptic membranes of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurosci, 18: 1693–1703.
- Ojemann GA. (1987). Surgical therapy for medically intractable epilepsy. J Neurosurg, 66: 489-499.

- Okaichi Y, Amano S, Ihara N, Hayase Y, Tazumi T, Okaichi H. (2006). Open-field behaviors and water-maze learning in the f substrain of ihara epileptic rats. Epilepsia, 47: 55-63.
- Olivier D, Thomas W. (2008). Effects of Striatal GABAA-Receptor Blockade on Striatal and Cortical Activity in Monkeys. J Neurophysiol, 99: 1294-1305.
- Olney JW, Price MT, Fuller TA, Labruyere J, Samson L, Carpenter M, Mahan K. (1986). The anti-excitotoxic effects of certain anaesthetics, analgesics and sedative- hypnotics. Neurosci Lett, 68: 29-34.
- Olsen WR, Avoli M. (1997). GABA and epileptogenesis. Epilepsia, 38: 399-407.
- Oostrom KJ, Smeets-Schouten A, Kruitwagen CL, Peters AC, Jennekens-Schinkel A; Dutch Study Group of Epilepsy in Childhood. (2003). Not only a matter of epilepsy: early problems of cognition and behavior in children with "epilepsy only"--a prospective, longitudinal, controlled study starting at diagnosis. Pediatrics, 112: 1338-1344.
- Ouyang C, Guo L, Lu Q, Xu X, Wang H. (2007). Enhanced activity of GABA receptors inhibits glutamate release induced by focal cerebral ischemia in rat striatum. Neurosci Lett, 420: 174–178.
- Owens DF, Kriegstein AR. (2002). Is there more to GABA than synaptic inhibition? Nat Rev Neurosci, 3: 715–727.
- Ozawa S. (1993). Glutamate receptor channels in hippocampal neurons. Jpn J Physiol, 43: 141-159.

- Pal R, Dwivedi AK, Singh S,Kulshrestha DK. (1998). High performance liquid chromatographic (HPLC) quantification of bacosides in Bacopa monnieri extracts. Indian J Pharm Sci, 60: 328-329.
- Paolo F, Arianna T, Stefania F, Alessandra M, Stefania P, Graziella T. (1999).Changes in the gene expression of GABAA receptor subunit mRNAs in the septum of rats subjected to pentylenetetrazol-induced kindling. This article is not included in your organization's subscription. However, you may be able to access this article under your organization's agreement with Elsevier.Molecular Brain Research, 70: 1-8.
- Parent JM, Yu TW, Leibowitz RT, Geschwind DH, Sloviter RS, Lowenstein DH. (1997). Dentate granule cell neurogenesis is increased by seizures and contributes to aberrant network reorganization in the adult hippocampus. J Neurosci, 17: 3727-3738.
- Park CR, Jonson LH. (1955). Effect of insulin on the transport of glucose and gelatos in to cells of rat muscle and brain. Am J Physiol, 182: 17-23.
- Pasini A, Tortorella A, Gale K. (1996). The anticonvulsant action of fluoxentine in subsatutia nigra is dependent upon endogeneous serotonin. Brain Res, 724: 84-88.
- Paulose CS, Chathu F, Khan RS, Krishnakumar A. (2008). Neuroprotective role of Bacopa monnieri extract in epilepsy and effect of glucose supplementation during hypoxia: glutamate receptor gene expression. Neurochem Res, 33: 1663-1671.

- Paulose CS, Dakshinamurthi K, Packer S, Stephens NL. (1988). Sympathetic stimulation and hypertension in pyridoxine deficient adult rats. Hypertension, 11: 387-391.
- Peer W, Martijn S, Massimiliano R, Laura V, Marco SP, Aleksandra B, Zhenyu G, Freek E, Hoebeek SD, William W, Mark F, Chris ID. (2009). Synaptic inhibition of Purkinje cells mediates consolidation of vestibulo-cerebellar motor learning. Nature Neuroscience, 12: 1042-1049.
- Peng ZC, Huang CS, Stell B M, Mody I, Houser CR. (2004). Altered expression of the d subunit of the GABAA receptor in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci, 24: 8629–8639.
- Penit-Soria J, Audinat E, Crepel F. (1987). Excitation of rat prefrontal cortical neurons by dopamine: an in vitro electrophysiological study. Brain Res, 425: 263-274.
- Perez Y, Morin F, Beaulieu C, Lacaille JC. (1996). Axonal sprouting of CA1 pyramidal cells in hyperexcitable hippocampal slices of kainate-treated rats. Eur J.Neurosci, 8: 736-748.
- Perrig WJ, Perrig P, Stahelin HP. (1997). The relation between antioxidants and memory performance in the old and very old. J Am Geriatr Soc, 45: 718–724.
- Pierce JP, Melton J, Punsoni M, McCloskey DP, Scharfman HE. (2005). Mossy fibers are the primary source of afferent input to ectopic granule cells that are born after pilocarpine-induced seizures. Exp Neurol, 196: 316–331.
- Pin J-P, Galvez T, Prézeau L. (2003). Evolution, structure and activation mechanism of family 3/C G-protein coupled receptors. Pharmacol Ther, 98: 325–354.

- Pitkanen A, Sutula TP. (2002). Is epilepsy a progressive disorder? Prospects for new therapeutic approaches in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Lancet Neurol, 1: 173–181.
- Polenzani L, Woodward RM, Miledi R. (1991). Expression of mammalian γaminobutyric acid receptors with distinct pharmacology in Xenopus oocytes. Neurobiology, 88: 4318–4322.
- Porter BE, Zhang G, Celix J, Hsu FC, Raol YH, Telfeian A. (2005). Heterogeneous GABAA receptor subunit expression in pediatric epilepsy patients. Neurobiology, 18: 484-491.
- Princivalle AP, Richards DA, Duncan JS, Spreafico R, Bowery NG. (2003). Modification of GABA(B1) and GABA(B2) receptor subunits in the somatosensory cerebral cortex and thalamus of rats with absence seizures (GAERS). Epilepsy Res, 55: 39-51.
- Prosser HM, Gill CH, Hirst WD, Grau E, Robbins M, Calver A, Soffin EM, Farmer CE, Lanneau C, Gray J, Schenck E, Warmerdam BS, Clapham C, Reavill C, Rogers DC, Stean T, Upton N, Humphreys K, Randall A, Geppert M, Davies CH, Pangalos MN. (2001). Epileptogenesis and enhanced prepulse inhibition in GABAB1-deficient mice. Mol Cell Neurosci, 17: 1059–1070.
- Prosser HM, Gill CH, Hirst WD, Grau E, Robbins M, Calver A. (2001). Epileptogenesis and enhanced prepulse inhibition in GABA(B1)-deficient mice. Mol Cell Neurosci, 17: 1059–1070.
- Purpura DP, Penry JK, Woodbury DM, Tower DB, Walter RD. (1972). Experimental models of epilepsy - a manual for the laboratory worker. Raven Press, New York, P: 650.

- Quan L, Meili G, Chang BS, Lowenstein DH. (2003). Epilepsy. N Engl J Med, 349: 1257–1266.
- Quet F, Odermatt P, Preux Pierre-M. (2008). Challenges of epidemiological research on epilepsy in resource poor countries. Neuroepidemiology, 30: 3-5.
- Quigg M, BertramEH, Jackson T, Laws E. (1997). Volumetric magnetic resonance imaging evidence of bilateral hippocampal atrophy in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia, 38: 588–94.
- Rao MS, Hattiangady B, Reddy DS, Shetty AK. (2006). Hippocampal neurodegeneration, spontaneous seizures, and mossy fiber sprouting in the F344 rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci Res, 83: 1088–1105.
- Rastogi S, Pal R, Kulshreshtha DK. (1994). Bacoside A3 —a triterpenoid saponin from Bacopa monniera. Phytochemistry, 36: 133–137.
- Reader TA, Ferron A, Descarries L, Jasper HH. (1979). Modulatory role for biogenic amines in the cerebral cortex. Microiontophoretic studies. Brain Res, 160: 217– 229.
- Reas K, Amee K, Paulose CS. (2007). Decreased glutamate receptor binding and NMDA R1 gene expression in hippocampus of pilocarpine-induced epileptic rats: neuroprotective role of Bacopa monnieri extract. Epilepsy Behav, 12: 54– 60.
- Reas Khan, Amee Krishnakumar, C.S. Paulose. (2008). Decreased glutamate receptor binding and NMDA R1 gene expression in hippocampus of pilocarpine-induced epileptic rats: Neuroprotective role of Bacopa monnieri extract, Epilepsy Behav, 12: 54-60.

- Renato AQ, Rodrigo RG, Héctor L, Gerdhard JH, Gutiérrez T. (2006). Living in the oxygen minimum zone: A metabolic perspective. Suplemento Gayana, 70: 68-72.
- Ribak CE, Harris AB, Vaughn JE, Roberts E. (1979). GABAergic nerve terminals decrease at sites of focal epilepsy. Science, 205: 211–214.
- Rice A, Rafiq A, Shapiro SM, Jakoi ER, Coulter DA, DeLorenzo RJ. (1996). Longlasting reduction of inhibitory function and GABA, receptor subunit mRNA expression in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 93: 9665-9669.
- Richardson MP, Strange BA, Thompson PJ, Baxendale SA, Duncan JS, Dolan RJ. (2004). Pre-operative verbal memory fMRI predicts post-operative memory decline after left temporal lobe resection. Brain, 127: 2419–2426.
- Riva D, Avanzini G, Franceschetti S, Nichelli F, Saletti V, Vago C. (2005). Unilateral frontal lobe epilepsy affects executive functions in children. Neurol Sci, 26: 263–270.
- Roberta MK, Peter LS. (2003). Cerebellar Loops with Motor Cortex and Prefrontal Cortex of a Nonhuman Primate. Journal of Neuroscience, 23: 8432-8444.
- Roberts DS, Raol Y H, Bandyopadhyay S, Lund I V, Budreck E C, Passini MA, Wolfer JH, Brooks-Kayal A R, Russek S J. (2005). Egr3 stimulation of GABRA4 promoter activity as a mechanism for seizure-induced upregulation of GABAA receptor α4 subunit expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 102: 11894– 11899.

- Robertson MM. (1986). Ictal and interictal depression in patients with epilepsy. In: Trimble MR (eds). Aspects of Epilepsy and Psychiatry. John Wiley & Sons press, Milton, P: 213–333.
- Roeschl-Heils A, Bledowski C, Elger CE, Heils A, Helmstaedter C. (2002). Neuropsychological functioning among 32 patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and their discordant siblings. Epilepsia, 43: 185–192.
- Room P, Groenewegen HJ. (1986). The connections of the parahippocampal cortex in the cat. I. Cortical afferents. J Comp Neurol, 251: 415–450.
- Rothstein JD, DykesHoberg M, Pardo CA, Bristol LA, Jin L, Kuncl RW, Kanai Y, Hediger MA, Wang YF, Schielke JP, Welty DF. (1996). Knockout of glutamate transporters reveals a major role for astroglial transport in excitotoxicity and clearance of glutamate. Neuron, 16: 675–686.
- Rudolph U, Möhler H. (2004). Analysis of GABAA receptor function and dissection of the pharmacology of benzodiazepines and general anesthetics through mouse genetics. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 44: 475–498.
- Russell RW. (1964). Extrapolation from animals to man. In: Streinberg H (eds). Animal behavior and drug action. Churchill, London, P: 410-418.
- Russo A, Borrelli F, Campisi A, Acquaviva R, Raciti G, Vanella A. (2003a). Nitric oxide-related toxicity in cultured astrocytes: effect of Bacopa monniera. Life Sci, 73: 1517–1526.
- Russo A, Borrelli F. (2005). Bacopa monniera, a reputed nootropic plant: an overview. Phytomedicine, 12: 305–317.

- Russo A, Izzo AA, Borrelli F, Renis M, Vanella A. (2003b). Free radical scavenging capacity and protective effect on DNA damage of Bacopa monniera. Phytotherapy Res, 17: 870–875.
- Sahuquillo J, Mena MP, Vilalta A, Poca MA. (2004). Moderate hypothermia in the management of severe traumatic brain injury: a good idea proved ineffective? Curr Pharmaceutical design, 10: 2193–2004.
- Sairam K, Dorababu M, Goel RK, Bhattacharya SK. (2002). Antidepressant activity of standardized extract of Bacopa monniera in experimental models of depression in rats. Phytomedicine, 9: 207–211.
- Sairam K, Rao CV, Babu MD, Goel RK. (2001). Prophylactic and curative effects of Bacopa monniera in gastric ulcer models. Phytomedicine, 8(6): 423-30.
- Saling MM, Berkovic SF, Shea MF, Kalnins RM, Darby DG, Bladin PF. (1993). Lateralization of verbal memory and unilateral hippocampal sclerosis: evidence of task-specific effects. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 15: 608–618.
- Sanacora G, Mason GF, Krystal JH. (2000). Impairment of GABAergic transmission in depression : new insights from neuroimaging studies. Critical Reviews in Neurobiology; 14: 23-45.
- Sanacora G, Mason GF, Rothman DL, Behar KL, Hyder F, Petroff OA, Berman RM, Charney DS, Krystal JH. (1999). Reduced cortical gamma-aminobutyric acid levels in depressed patients determined by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Archives of General Psychiatry, 56: 1043–1047.

- Sandler R, Smith AD. (1991). Coexistence of GABA and glutamate in mossy fiber terminals of the primate hippocampus: an ultrastructural study, J Comp Neurol, 303: 177–192.
- Saraswati G, Shashi B, Mahato KO, Kazuo Y. (1996). Dammarane-type triterpenoid saponins from Bacopa monnieri. Phytochemistry, 42: 815-820.
- Sarnyai Z, Sibille EL, Pavlides C, Fenster RJ, McEwen BS. (2000). T6th M. Impaired hippocampal-dependent learning and functional abnormalities in the hippocampus in mice lacking serotonin 1A receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 97: 14731-14736.
- Sart ZH, Demirbilek V, Korkmaz B, Slade PD, Dervent A, Townes BD. (2006). The consequences of idiopathic partial epilepsies in relation to neuropsychological functioning: a closer look at the associated mathematical disability. Epileptic Disord, 8: 24–31.
- Sasaki M., Matsuda H, Omura I, Sugai K, Hashimoto T. (2000). Transient seizure disappearance due to bilateral striatal necrosis in a patient with intractable epilepsy. Brain Dev, 22: 50–55.
- Savic I, Roland P, Sedvall F, Persson A, Pauli S, Widen L. (1988). In vivo demonstration of reduced benzodiazepine receptor binding in human epileptic foci. Lancet, 15: 863-866.
- Savitha B, Binoy J, Peeyush KT, Paulose CS. (2009a). Acetylcholine and muscarinic receptor function in cerebral cortex of diabetic young and old male Wistar rats and the role of muscarinic receptors in calcium release from pancreatic islets. Biogerontology, DOI: 10.1007/s10522-009-9237-z.

- Savitha B, Peeyush KT, Paulose CS. (2009b). Glutamate (mGluR-5) gene expression in brain regions of streptozotocin induced diabetic rats as a function of age: role in regulation of calcium release from the pancreatic islets in vitro. Journal of biomedical science. J Biomed Sci, 16: 99.
- Scatchard G. (1949). The attractions of proteins for small molecules and ions. Annels of New York Academy of Sciences, 51: 660-672.
- Scatton B, Bartholini G. (1982). y-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptor stimulation.IV effect of progabide (SL 76002) and other GABAergic agents on acetylcholine turnover in rat brain areas. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 220: 689-695.
- Scharfman HE, Goodman JH, Sollas AL. (2000). Granule-like neurons at the hilar/CA3 border after status epilepticus and their synchrony with area CA3 pyramidal cells: functional implications of seizure-induced neurogenesis. J Neurosci, 20: 6144–6158.
- Scharfman HE, Sollas AE, Berger RE, Goodman JH, Pierce JP. (2003). Perforant path activation of ectopic granule cells that are born after pilocarpine-induced seizures. Neuroscience, 121: 1017–1029.
- Scharfman HE, Sollas AL, Goodman JH. (2002). Spontaneous recurrent seizures after pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus activate calbindin-immunoreactive hilar cells of the rat dentate gyrus. Neuroscience, 111: 71–81.
- Schiller Y. (2004). Activation of a calcium-activated cation current during epileptiform discharges and its possible role in sustaining seizure-like events in neocortical slices. J Neurophysiol, 92: 862-872.

- Schmidt D. (1995). Behavioural abnormalities and retention rates of anti-epilepsy drugs during long-term treatment of epilepsy: a clinical perspective. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl, 162: 7-10.
- Schmidt-Kastner R, Ingvar M. (1996). Laminar damage of neurons and astrocytes in neocortex and hippocampus of rat after long-lasting status epilepticus induced by pilocarpine. Epilepsy Res, I2: 309-316.
- Schoenfeld J, Seidenberg M, Woodard A, Hecox K, Inglese C, Mack K, Hermann B. (1999). Neuropsychological and behavioral status of children with complex partial seizures. Dev Med Child Neurol, 41: 724–731.
- Schuler V, Luscher C, Blanchet C, Klix N, Sansig G, Klebs K, Schmutz M, Heid J, Gentry C, Urban L, Fox A, Spooren W, Jaton A, Vigouret J, Pozza M, Kelly PH, Mosbacher J, Froestl W, Kaslin E, Korn R, Bischoff S, Kaupmann K, van der Putten H, Bettler B. (2001). Epilepsy, hyperalgesia, impaired memory, and loss of pre- and postsynaptic GABAB responses in mice lacking GABAB1. Neuron, 31: 47–58.
- Schulz DW, Macdonald RL. (1981). Barbiturate enhancement of GABA-mediated inhibition and activation of chloride ion conductance: correlation with anticonvulsant and anesthetic actions. Brain Res, 23: 177-188.
- Schwartzkroin PA, Knowles WD. (1984). Intracellular study of human epileptic cortex: in vitro maintenance of epileptiform activity?. Science, 223: 709–712.
- Schwarzer, Sperk G. (1995). Hippocampal granule cells express glutamic acid decarboxylase-67 after limbic seizures in the rat. Neuroscience, 69: 705–709.

- Seamans JK, Durstewitz D, Christie BR, Stevens CF, Sejnowski TJ. (2001). Dopamine D1/D5 receptor modulation of excitatory synaptic inputs to layer V prefrontal cortex neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 98: 301–306.
- Sepkuty JP, Cohen AS, Eccles C, Rafiq A, Behar K, Ganel R, Coulter DA, Rothstein JD. (2002). A neuronal glutamate transporter contributes to neurotransmitter GABA synthesis and epilepsy. J Neurosci, 22: 6372–6379.
- Seress L, Mrzljak L. (1987). Basal dendrites of granule cells are normal features of the fetal and adult dentate gyrus of both monkey and human hippocampal formations. Brain Res, 405: 169–174
- Shatskikh TN, Raghavendra M, Zhao Q, Cui Z, Holmes GL. (2006). Electrical induction of spikes in the hippocampus impairs recognition capacity and spatial memory in rats. Epilepsy Behav, 9: 549–556.
- Shen Y, Specht SM, De Saint Ghislain I, Li R. (1994). The hippocampus: a biological model for studying learning and memory. Prog Neurobiol, 44: 485–496.
- Shetty AK, Hattiangady B. (2007). Restoration of calbindin after fetal hippocampal CA3 cell grafting into the injured hippocampus in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Hippocampus, 17: 943–956.
- Shetty AK, Turner DA. (1997). Fetal hippocampal cells grafted to kainate-lesioned CA3 region of adult hippocampus suppress aberrant supragranular sprouting of host mossy fibers. Exp Neurol, 143: 231-245.
- Shetty AK, Turner DA. (2000). Fetal hippocampal grafts containing CA3 cells restore host hippocampal glutamate decarboxylase-positive interneuron numbers in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci, 20: 8788–8801.

- Shetty AK, Zaman V, Hattiangady B. (2005). Repair of the injured adult hippocampus through graft-mediated modulation of the plasticity of the dentate gyrus in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci, 25: 8391–8401.
- Shetty AK, Zaman V, Shetty GA. (2003). Hippocampal neurotrophin levels in a kainate model of temporal lobe epilepsy: a lack of correlation between brainderived neurotrophic factor content and progression of aberrant dentate mossy fiber sprouting. J Neurochem, 87:147–159.
- Shetty AK. (2002). Entorhinal axons exhibit sprouting in CA1 subfield of the adult hippocampus in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Hippocampus, 12: 534–542.
- Shigemoto R, Abe T, Nomura S, Nakanishi S, Hirano T. (1994). Antibodies inactivating mGluR1 metabotropic glutamate receptor block long-term depression in cultured Purkinje cells. Neuron, 12: 1245–1255.
- Shu Y, Hasenstaub A, McCormick DA. (2003). Turning on and off recurrent balanced cortical activity. Nature, 423: 288–293.
- Siddiqui AH, Joseph SA. (2005). CA3 axonal sprouting in kainate-induced chronic epilepsy. Brain Res, 1066: 129–146.
- Silvestri E, Lombardi A, Lange P, Lanni A, Goglia F, Moreno M. (2008). Metabolic Action of Thyroid Hormones: Insights from Functional and Proteomic Studies. Current Proteomics, 5: 45-61.
- Singh HK, Dhawan BN. (1982). Effect of Bacopa monniera extract on avoidanceresponses in rat. J. Ethnopharmacol, 5: 205-214.

- Singh HK, Dhawan BN. (1997). Neuropsychopharmacological effects of the Ayurvedic nootropic Bacopa monniera Linn. (Brahmi). Indian J Pharmacol, 29: 359-365.
- Singh HK, Rastogi RP, Srimal RC, Dhawan BN. (1998). Effect of bacosides A and B on avoidance responses in rats. Phytother Res, 2: 70–74.
- Singh PS, Sharad S, Kapur S. (2004). Free radicals and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases: relevance of dietary antioxidants. J Indian AcadClin Med, 5: 218–225.
- Singh RH, Singh L. (1980). Studies on the anti-anxiety effect of themedhya rasayana drug, Brahmi (Bacopa monniera Wettst.) part 1. J Res Ayurveda Siddha, 1: 133–148.
- Siniscalchi A, Calabresi P, Mercuri NB, Bernardi G. (1997). Epileptiform discharge induced by 4-aminopyridine in magnesium-free medium in neocortical neurons: physiological and pharmacological characterizations. Neuroscience, 81: 189–197.
- Siqiong JL, Philippe L, Yu L, Iaroslav S, Lu S. (2005). Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity in Cerebellar Stellate Cells. The Cerebellum, 7: 559-562.
- Sisodiya SM, Moran N, Free SL, Kitchen ND, Stevens JM, Harkness WF, Fish DR, Shorvon SD. (1997). Correlation ofwidespread preoperativemagnetic resonance imaging changeswith unsuccessful surgery for hippocampal sclerosis. Ann Neurol, 41: 490–496.
- Sivilotti L, Nistri A. (1991). GABA receptor mechanisms in the central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol, 36: 35–92.
- Sloviter RS, Dean E, Sollas AL, Goodman JH. (1996). Apoptosis and necrosis induced in different hippocampal neuron populations by repetitive perforant path stimulation in the rat. J Comp Neurol, 366: 516-533.
- Sloviter RS, Dichter MA, Rachinsky TL, Dean E, Goodman JH, Sollas AL, Martin DL. (1996). Basal expression and induction of glutamate decarboxylase and GABA in excitatory granule cells of the rat and monkey hippocampal dentate gyrus. J Comp Neurol, 373: 593-618.
- Sloviter RS, Nilaver G. (1987). Immunocytochemical localization of GABAcholecystokinin-vasoactive intestinal polypeptide and somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in the area dentata and hippocampus of the rat. J Comp Neurol, 256: 42-60.
- Sloviter RS, Zappone CA, Harvey BD, Frotscher M. (2006). Kainic acid-induced recurrent mossy fiber innervation of dentate gyrus inhibitory interneurons: possible anatomical substrate of granule cell hyperinhibition in chronically epileptic rats. J Comp Neurol, 494: 944–960.
- Sloviter RS. (1987). Decreased hippocampal inhibition and a selective loss of interneurons in experimental epilepsy. Science, 235: 73–76.
- Sloviter RS. (1989). Calcium-binding protein (calbindin-D28k) and parvalbumin immunocytochemistry: localization in the rat hippocampus with specific reference to the selective vulnerability of hippocampal neurons to seizure activity. J Comp Neurol, 280: 183-196.
- Sloviter RS. (1991). Permanently altered hippocampal structure excitability and inhibition after experimental status epilepticus in the rat: the "dormant basket

cell" hypothesis and its possible relevance to temporal lobe epilepsy. Hippocampus, 1: 41-66.

- Sloviter RS. (1994). On the relationship between neuropathology and pathophysiology in the epileptic hippocampus of humans and experimental animals. Hippocampus, 4: 250-253.
- Smith ML, Elliott IM, Lach L. (2002). Cognitive skills in children with intractable epilepsy: comparison of surgical and nonsurgical candidates. Epilepsia, 43: 631-637.
- Snead III OC. (1987). Noradrenergic mechanisms in gammahydroxybutyrate- induced seizure activity. Eur J Pharmacol, 136: 103-108.
- Sodickson DL, Bean BP. (1996). GABAB receptor-activated inwardly rectifying potassium current in dissociated hippocampal CA3 neurons. J Neurosci, 16: 6374–6385.
- Sophie F, Robert FA, Allan J. (1990). Tobin Long term increase of glutamate decarboxylase mRNA in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neuron, 5: 361-371.
- Spencer SS, Spencer DD. (1994). Entorhinal-hippocampal interactions in medial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia, 35: 721–727.
- Sperk G, Furtinger S, Schwarzer C, Pirker S. (2004). GABA and its receptors in epilepsy. Adv Exp Med Biol, 548: 92–103.
- Starr MS. (1996). The role of dopamine in epilepsy. Synapse, 22: 159–194.

- Statnick MA, Dailey JW, Jobe PC, Browning RA. (1996). Abnormalities in 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptor binding in severe-seizure genetically epilepsy-prone rats (GEPR-9s). Neuropharmacology, 35: 111-118.
- Stelzer A, Simon G, Kovacs G, Rai R. (1994). Synaptic disinhibition during maintenance of long-term potentiation in the CA1 hippocampal subfield. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 91: 3058–3062.
- Steward O, Scoville SA. (1976). The cells of origin of entorhinal afferents to the hippocampus and fascia dentata of the rat. J Comp Neurol, 169: 347–370.
- Stief F, Zuschratter W, Hartmann K, Schmitz D, Draguhn A. (2007). Enhanced synaptic excitation-inhibition ratio in hippocampal interneurons of rats with temporal lobe epilepsy. European Journal of Neuroscience, 25: 519-528.
- Stores G, Williams PL, Styles E, Zaiwalla Z. (1992). Psychological, effects of sodium valproate and carbamazepine in epilepsy. Arch Dis Child, 67: 1330–1337.
- Stough C, Lloyd J, Clarke J, Downey LA, Hutchison CW, Rodgers T, Nathan PJ. (2001). The chronic effects of an extract of Bacopa monniera (Brahmi) on cognitive function in healthy human subjects. Psychopharmacology, 156: 481– 484.
- Straessle A, Loup F, Arabadzisz D, Ohning GV, Fritschy JM. (2003). Rapid and longterm alterations of hippocampal GABAB receptors in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Eur J Neurosci, 18: 2213–2226.
- Strine TW, Kobau R, Chapman DP, Thurman DJ, Price P, Balluz LS. (2005). strategies for preventing epilepsy. Progress in Neurobiology, 84: 363-404.

- Sullivan HC, Osorio I. (1991). Aggravation of penicillin-induced epilepsy in rats with locus ceruleus lesion. Epilepsia, 32: 591-596.
- Sumathy T, Subramanian S, Govindasamy S, Balakrishna K, Veluchamy G. (2001). Protective effect of Bacopamonniera onmorphine induced hepatotoxicity in rats. Phytotherapy Res, 15: 643–645.
- Sumathy TS, Govindasamy S, Balakrishna K, Veluchamy G. (2002). Protective role of Bacopa monniera on morphine-induced brain mitochondrial enzyme activity in rats. Fitoterapia, 73: 381–5.
- Sung PP, Kwon MD. (2008). Cognitive effects of antiepileptic drugs. J Clin Neurol, 4: 99–106.
- Suppes T, Kriegstein AR, Prince DA. (1985). The influence of dopamine on epileptiform burst activity in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Brain Res, 326: 273–280.
- Sutula T, Cascino G, Cavazos J, Parada I, Ramirez L. (1989). Mossy fiber synaptic reorganization in the epileptic human temporal lobe. Ann Neurol, 26: 321–330.
- Sutula T, Koch J, Golarai G, Watanabe Y, McNamara JO. (1996). NMDA receptor dependence of kindling and mossy fiber sprouting: evidence that the NMDA receptor regulates patterning of hippocampal circuits in the adult brain. J Neuroscience, 16: 7398-7406.
- Swanson LW, Cowan WM. (1977). An autoradiographic study of the organization of the efferent connections of the hippocampal formation in the rat. J Comp Neurol, 172: 49–84.

- Swanson LW, Kohler C. (1986). Anatomical evidence for direct projections from the entorhinal area to the entire cortical mantle in the rat. J Neurosci, 6: 3010 – 3023.
- Szabo G, Katarova Z, Greenspan R. (1994). Distinct protein forms are produced from alternatively spliced bicistronic glutamic acid decarboxylase mRNAs during development. Mol Cell Biol, 14: 7535–7545.
- Tabata T, Araishi K, Hashimoto K, Hashimotodani Y, Van-der-Putten H, Bettler B, Kano M. (2004). Ca2+ activity at GABAB receptor constitutively promotes metabotropic glutamate signaling in the absence of GABA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 101: 16952–16957.
- Takahashi T, Kajikawa Y, Tsujimoto T. (1998). G-protein-coupled modulation of presynaptic calcium currents and transmitter release by a GABAB receptor. J Neurosci, 18: 3138–3146.
- Tanaka K, Watase K, Manabe T, Yamada K, Watanabe M, Takahashi K, Iwama H, Nishikawa T, Ichihara N, Hori S, Takimoto M, Wada K. (1997). Epilepsy and exacerbation of brain injury in mice lacking the glutamate transporter GLT1. Science, 276: 1699–1702.
- Tasch E, Cendes F, Li LM, Dubeau F, Andermann F, Arnold DL. (1999). Neuroimaging evidence of progressive neuronal loss and dysfunction in temporal lobe epilepsy. Ann Neurol, 45: 568–5676.
- Tauck DL, Nadler JV. (1985). Evidence of functional mossy fiber sprouting in hippocampal formation of kainic acid-treated rats. J Neurosci, 5: 1016-1022.

- Thadani VM, Williamson PD, Berger R, Spencer SS, Novelly RA, Sass KJ, Kim JH. (1995). Mattson RH. Successful epilepsy surgery without intracranial EEG recording: criteria for patient selection. Epilepsia, 36: 7-15.
- Tomei L, Cope FO. (1991). Apoptosis: the molecular basis of cell death. Series: Current communications in cell & molecular biology. Volume 3. Plainview. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. New York, P: 14-156.
- Treiman DM. (2001). GABAergic mechanisms in epilepsy. Epilepsia, 42: 8-12.
- Trollor JN, Valenzuela MJ. (2001). Brain ageing in the new millenium. Aust NZ J Psychiatry, 35: 788-805.
- Trottier S, Lindvall O, Chauvel P, Bjorklund A. (1988). Facilitation of focal cobaltinduced epilepsy after lesions of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus system. Brain Res, 454: 308-314.
- Tseng KY, O'Donnell P. (2004). Dopamine-glutamate interactions controlling prefrontal cortical pyramidal cell excitability involve multiple signaling mechanisms. J Neurosci, 23: 5131–5139.
- Turski L, Ikonomidou C, Turski WA, Bortolotto ZA, Cavalheiro EA. (1989). Review: cholinergic mechanisms and epileptogenesis. The seizures induced by pilocarpine: a novel experimental model of intractable epilepsy. Synapse, 3: 154–171.
- Turski WA, Cavalheiro EA, Schwarz M, Czuczwar SI, Kleinrok Z. Turski. (1983). Limbic seizures produced by pilocarpine in rats: behavioural electroencephalographic and neuropathological study. Behav Brain Res, 9: 315-335.

- Van Den Pol AN, Obrietan K, Belousov A. (1996). Glutamate hyperexcitability and seizure-like activity throughout the brain and spinal cord upon relief from chronic glutamate receptor blockade in culture. Neuroscience, 74: 653–674.
- Van Hoesen GW. (1982). The parahippocampal gyrus: new observations regarding its cortical connections in the monkey. Trends Neurosci, 5: 345–350.
- Van Ness PC, Awad IA, Estes M, Nguyen Q. Olsen RW. (1995). Neurosteroid modulation of benzodiazepine binding to neocortical GABA, receptors in human focal epilepsy varies with pathology. Soc Neurosci Abstr, 21: 1516.
- Vinters HV, Armstrong DL, Babb TL, Daumas-Duport C, Robitaille Y, Bruton CJ,
 Farrel MA. (1993). The neuropathology of human symptomatic epilepsy. In:
 Engel JJr (eds). Surgical treatment of the epilepsies. 2nd ed. Raven Press, New York, P: 593-608.
- Waagepetersen HS, Sonnewald U, Gegelashvili G, Larsson OM, Schousboe A. (2001). Metabolic distinction between vesicular and cytosolic GABA in cultured GABAergic neurons using 13C magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Neurosci Res, 63: 347–355.
- Wada Y, Shiraishi J, Nakamura M, Koshino Y. (1997). Effects of 5-HT3 receptor agonist 1-(m-chlorophenyl)-biguanide in the rat kindling model of epilepsy. Brain Res, 759: 313-316.
- Waldvogel HJ, Billinton A, White JH, Emson PC, Faull RL. (2004). Comparative cellular distribution of GABAA and GABAB receptors in the human basal ganglia: immunohistochemical colocalization of the alpha 1 subunit of the GABAA receptor, and the GABABR1 and GABABR2 receptor subunits. J Comp Neurol, 470: 339–356.

Walker M. (2007). Neuroprotection in epilepsy. Epilepsia, 8: 66-68.

- Walker MC, Ruiz A, Kullmann DM. (2001). Monosynaptic GABAergic signaling from dentate to CA3 with a pharmacological and physiological profile typical of mossy fiber synapses, Neuron, 29(3): 703–715.
- Walker MC, White HS, Sander JW. (2002) Disease modification in partial epilepsy. Brain, 125: 1937–1950.
- Warrier PK, Nambiar VPK, Ramankutty C. (1993). Indian Medicinal Plants. Orient Longman Ltd, Madras, P: 57-61.
- Wasterlain CG, Plum F. (1973). Vulnerability of developing rat brain to electroconvulsive seizures. Arch Neurol, 29: 38–45.
- Wasterlain CG, Shirasaka Y. (1994). Seizures, brain damage and brain development. Brain Dev, 16: 279–295.
- Wasterlain CG, Thompson KW, Kornblum H, Mazarati AM, Katsumori H. (1999).
 Long-term, effects of recurrent seizures on the developing brain. In: Nehlig A,
 Motte J, Moshe SL, Plouin P (eds). Childhood epilepsies and brain development. John Libbey & Company Ltd, London. P: 237-254.
- Watanabe K, Minabe Y, Ashby CRJ, Katsumori H. (1998). Effect of acute administration of various 5-HT receptor agonist on focal hippocampal seizures in freely moving rats. Eur J Pharmacol., 350: 181-188.
- White JH, Wise A, Main MJ, Green A, Fraser NJ, Disney GH, Barnes AA, Emson P, Foord SM, Marshall FH. (1998). Heterodimerization is required for the formation of a functional GABAB receptor. Nature, 396: 679–682.

- Whiting PJ, Bonnert TP, McKernan RM, Farrar S, Le Bourdelles B, Heavens RP, Smith DW, Hewson L, Rigby MR, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Thompson SA, Wafford KA. (1999). Molecular and functional diversity of the expanding GABA-A receptor gene family. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 868: 645–653.
- Wieser HG. (2004). ILAE Commission Report. Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. Epilepsia, 45: 695–714.
- Williams GV, Goldman-Rakic PS. (1995). Modulation of memory fields by dopamine D1 receptors in prefrontal cortex. Nature, 376: 572–575.
- Williams J, Bates S, Griebel ML, Lange B, Mancias P, Pihoker CM, Dykman R. (1998). Does short-term antiepileptic drug treatment in children result in cognitive or behavioral changes. Epilepsia, 39: 1064–1069.
- Williamson PD, Engel J Jr, Munari C. (1997). Anatomic classification of localizationrelated epilepsies. In: Engel JJr & Pedley TA (eds). Epilepsy –A Comprehensive Textbook. Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Philadelphia, P: 2405-2416.
- Winkler J, Suhr ST, Gage FH, Thal LJ, Fisher LJ. (1995). Essential role of neocortical acetylcholine in spatial memory. Nature, 375: 484-487.
- Witter MP, Groenewegen HJ, Lopes da Silva FH, Lohman AHM. (1989). Functional organization of the extrinsic and intrinsic circuitry of the arahippocampal region. Prog Neurobiol, 33: 161–253.
- Woermann FG, Barker GJ, Birnie KD, Meencke HJ, Duncan JS. (1998). Regional changes in hippocampal T2 relaxation and volume: a quantitative magnetic

resonance imaging study of hippocampal sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 65: 656–664.

- Wonnacott S. (1997). Presynaptic nicotinic ACh receptors. Trends Neurosci., 20(2): 92-98.
- Woo RJ, Hong GK, Kil LK. (2008). Ganglioside GQ1b improves spatial learning and memory of rats as measured by the Y-maze and the Morris water maze tests, Neuroscience Letters, 439: 220-225.
- Wozny C, Gabriel S, Jandova K, Schulze K, Heinemann U, Behr J. (2005). Entorhinal cortex entrains epileptiform activity in CA1 in pilocarpine-treated rats. Neurobiol Dis, 19: 451–460.
- Wu Y, Wang W, Richerson GB. (2001). GABA transaminase inhibition induces spontaneous and enhances depolarization-evoked GABA efflux via reversal of the GABA transporter. J Neurosci, 21: 2630–2639.
- Yan QS, Dailey JW, Steenbergen JL, Jobe PC. (1998). Anticonvulsant effect of enhancement of noradrenergic transmission in the superior colliculcus in genitically epilepsy-prone rats (GEPRs): a microinjection study. Brain Res, 780: 199-209.
- Yan QS, Yan SE. (2001). Activation of 5-HT(1B/1D) receptors in the mesolimbic dopamine system increases dopamine release from the nucleus accumbens: A microdialysis study. Eur J Pharmacol, 481: 05-64.
- Yang CR, Seamans JK. (1996). Dopamine D1 receptor actions in layers of V-VI rat prefrontal cortex neurons in vitro: modulation of dendritic-somatic signal integration. J Neurosci, 16: 1922–1935.

- Yoshida M, Nagatsuka Y, Muramatsu S, Niijima K. (1991). Differential roles of the caudate nucleus and putamen in motor behavior of the cat as investigated by local injection of GABA antagonists. Neurosci Res, 10: 34–51.
- Yu R, Ticku MK. (1995). Chronic neurosteroid treatment produces functional heterologous uncoupling at the GABAA/benzodiazepine receptor complex in mammalian cortical neurons. Mol Pharmacol, 47: 603-610.
- Yuji K, Toshihide T, Sho K, Daisuke K, Masahiko W, Akihiko O, Masamitsu I, Masanobu K. (2007). Postsynaptic GABAB receptor signalling enhances LTD in mouse cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Physiol, 585: 549-563.
- Zaugg M, Schaub MC. (2005). Genetic Modulation of Adrenergic Activity in the Heart and Vasculature: Implications for Perioperative Medicine. Anesthesiology, 102: 429-446.
- Zhang N, Wei W, Mody I, Houser CR. (2007). Altered localization of GABAA receptor subunits on dentate granule cell dendrites influences tonic and phasic inhibition in a mouse model of epilepsy. J Neurosci, 27: 7520–7531.
- Zhang G, Raol YH, Hsu FC, Coulter DA, Brooks-Kayal AR. (2004). Effects of status epilepticus on hippocampal GABAA receptors are age-dependent. Neuroscience, 125: 299-303.
- Zhou JL, Lenck-Santini PP, Zhao Q, Holmes GL. (2007). Effect of interictal spikes on single cell firing patterns in the hippocampus. Epilepsia, 48: 720-31

Papers Published

- * Jobin Mathew, Peeyush Kumar T, Reas Khan S, CS Paulose.(2010). Behavioural Deficit and Decreased GABA Receptor in the Cerebellum of Epileptic Rats: Effect of *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A. Epilepsy and Behavior, doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.01.012 (In Press).
- * Jobin Mathew, Jes Paul, Nandu MS. and CS. Paulose. (2010). Increased Excitability and Metabolism in Pilocarpine Induced Epileptic Rats: Effect of *Bacopa monnieri*. Fitoterapia, doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2010.01.017 (In Press).
- * Jobin Mathew, Jes Paul, MS Nandhu, CS Paulose (2009). *Bacopa monnieri* and Bacoside A for ameliorating epilepsy associated behavioral deficits, Fitoterapia, doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2009.11.005 (In Press).
- * G Gireesh, Reas S Khan, Jobin Mathew, CS Paulose, (2008). Decreased M1 receptor gene expression in the cerebral cortex of streptozotocin induced diabetic rats and *Aegle marmelose* leaf extract's therapeutic function. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 116 : 296-304.
- * Savitha, Balakrishnan, Jobin Mathew, Sherin Antony, Cheramadathikudyil S. Paulose, (2009). Muscarinic M1, M3 receptors function in the brainstem of streptozotocin induced diabetic rats: their role in insulin secretion from the pancreatic islets as a function of age. European Journal of Pharmacology. 608: 14-22.
- * G. Gireesh, T. Peeyush Kumar, Jobin Mathew, C. S. Paulose, (2009). Enhanced muscarinic M1 receptor gene expression in the corpus striatum of

streptozotocin --indused diabetic rats. Journal of Biomedical science, 16: 38-45.

C. S. Paulose, P. S. John, Sreekanth, Mathew Philip, Padmarag Mohan, C. Jobin Mathew, Peeyush Kumar T., Jes Paul, Pretty Mary Abraham, Sherin Antony, Binoy Joseph, Anu Joseph, Amee Krishnakumar, Anju T R., Reas Khan S., Santhosh Thomas K., Nandhu M S, (2009). Spinal Cord Regeneration and Functional Recovery: Neurotransmitter's Combination and Bone Marrow Cells Supplementation. Current Science, 97:546-549.

Savitha Balakrishnan, Jobin Mathew, C. S. Paulose, (2009). Cholinergic and glutamergic receptor functional regulation in long-term, low dose somatotropin and insulin treatment to aging rats: Rejuvenation of brain function. Molicular and cellular Endocrinology, 314: 23–30

Kumar T. Peeyush, G. Gireesh, Mathew Jobin, C.S. Paulose (2009). Neuroprotective role of curcumin in the cerebellum of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Life Sciences, 85: 704–710.

M.S. Nandhu Jes Paul **Jobin Mathew** T. Peeyush Kumar C.S. Paulose (2009). GYKI-52466: A potential therapeutic agent for glutamate-mediated excitotoxic injury in Cerebral Palsy, Medical Hypotheses, doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2009.10.033 (In Press).

Sherin Antony, Jobin Mathew, Peeyush Kumar, Anju T.R and C. S. Paulose(2010) Insulin Induced Hypoglycemia Mediated Changes in Cholinergic Receptor Expression in the Cerebellum of Diabetic Rats. Journal of Biomedical Science: NSR-D-09-00413 (In Press).

Abstract Presented

- * Jobin Mathew, Reas Khan, CS Paulose. Kinetic parameters of acetylcholine esterase in the epileptic rat muscle and the clinical significance of *Bacopa monnieri*. Annual meeting of society for Biotechnologists, India and National symposium on current trends in stem cell biology. RGCB, Thiruvananthapuram. (December, 2007).
- * Jobin Mathew, Reas Khan S, CS Paulose. Decreased glutamate receptors in the cerebral cortex of epileptic rats: therapeutic application of *Bacopa monnieri*. International Symposium of Advances in Neuroscience and Silver jubilee conference of Indian academy of neurosciences. Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi. (November, 2007).
- * Jobin Mathew, Jes Paul, CS Paulose. Increased epileptic functional abnormality and therapeutic application of *Bacopa monnieri* in rats. Annual meeting of society for Biotechnologists, India National conference on new frontiers and current trends in Biotechnology & platinum jubilee celebrations of Department of Biochemistry. Department of Biochemistry University of Madras. (October, 2008).
- * Jobin Mathew, Binoy Joseph, CS Paulose. Decreased GABA receptor gene expression in the cerebral cortex of the epileptic rats therapeutic application of *Bacopa monnieri*. International Conference on Advances in Neuroscience & XXVI Annual Meeting of Indian Academy of Neurosciences. Department of Biotechnology. Cochin University of Science and Technology. (2008).

Jes Paul, Jobin Mathew, CS Paulose. Decreased $GABA_{g3}$ receptor subunit gene expression in the cerebral cortex of the epileptic rats therapeutic application of *Bacopa monnieri*. International Conference on Advances in Neuroscience & XXVI Annual Meeting of Indian Academy of Neurosciences. Department of Biotechnology. Cochin University of Science and Technology. (2008).

Jes Paul, Jobin Mathew, CS Paulose. Increased malate dehydrogenase activity and insulin in epileptic rats: Effect of *Bacopa monnieri*. International symposium on molecular aspect of brain aging and neurological disorders & annual meeting of society for neurochemistry (India). Department of Biotechnology Guru Nanak Dev University, Amritsar. (2008).

Jobin Mathew, Peeyush Kumar T, CS Paulose. GABA receptor functional regulation in the cerebral cortex of pilocarpine induced epileptic rats: neuroprotective role of *Bacopa monnieri*. 21st Kerala science congress, Kollam. (Februvary, 2009).

Jobin Mathew, Smijin Somen CS Paulose. Decreased GABA_A receptor functional regulation in the brain stem of the epileptic rats effect of *Bacopa monnieri* and bacoside-A. International conference on neuroscience updates. Department of Biotechnology. Cochin University of Science and Technology, Cochin.(December, 2009)

Anju T. R, Jobin Mathew, Jayanarayanan S, CS Paulose. Enhanced 5HT2A receptor function in the cerebellum of hypoxic neonatal rats: Role of glucose, oxygen, and epinephrine resuscitation. International conference on

neuroscience updates. Department of Biotechnology. Cochin University of Science and Technology, Cochin. (2009).

Smijin Soman, Jobin Mathew, CS Paulose. Decreased $GABA_B$ receptor in the cerebral cortex of the epileptic rats: therapeutic application of *Bacopa monnieri*. Annual meeting of society for Biotechnologists and national conference on biotechnology for human development. VIT University, Vellore. (2009).

Table-1 Mean seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Mean seizure frequency/4 hourse
Control	0
Epileptic	0.34 ± 0.04 **
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	0.14 ± 0.03 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.13 ±0.01 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$0.11 \pm 0.03^{@@}*$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consists of 6-8 rats **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Table-2 Acetylcholine esterase activity in the muscle of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Vmax (µmoles/min/mg protein)	Km (μM)
Control	0.81 ± 0.03	0.025 ± 0.02
Epileptic	1.29 ± 0.05**	0.023 ± 0.025
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$1.01 \pm 0.09^{@@}*$	0.022 ± 0.015
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.98 ±0.04 ^{@@}	0.025 ± 0.02
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$0.96 \pm 0.06^{@@}$	0.026 ± 0.018

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consists of 6-8 rats. **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, $\frac{den}{den}$ p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Animal status	Vmax (µmoles/min/mg protein)	Кт (μМ)
Control		
	2.01 ± 0.05	1.34 ± 0.07
Epileptic		
	1.53 ± 0.05 **	1.23 ± 0.065
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri		
	$1.85 \pm 0.04^{@@}$	1.25 ± 0.025
Epileptic + Bacoside A		
	1.98 ±0.07 ^{@@}	$1.45 \pm 0.062^{@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine		
· · · · · ·	$1.76 \pm 0.02^{@@*}$	$\textbf{1.16} \pm \textbf{0.078}$

Table-3 Acetylcholine esterase activity in the heart of control and experimental rats

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consists of 6-8 rats. **p <0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.015 when compared to epileptic group.

Table-4 Malate dehydrogenase activity in the muscle of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Vmax (µmoles/min/mgprotein)	Km (μM)
Control		
	28.7 ± 0.03	0.12 ± 0.020
Epileptic		
	39.3 ± 0.05 **	0.06 ± 0.025 **
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri		
	$30.9 \pm 0.09^{@@}$	$0.13 \pm 0.015^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A		
	32.5 ±0.04 @@	$0.10 \pm 0.02^{@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine		
	$34.4 \pm 0.06^{@@}$	0.08 ± 0.018

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consists of 6-8 rats. **p <0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-1 Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of epileptic rats



Time (4 Hours interval)

Figure-2 Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*



Time (4 Hours interval)

Figure-3 Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A



Time (4 Hours interval)

Figure-4 Seizure frequency per 4 hours interval over the 72 hours video recording period of epileptic rats treated with carbamazepine



Time (4 Hours interval)

Animal status	Epinephrine (nmoles/g wet wt)	Norepinephrine (nmoles/g wet wt)
Control	19.54 ± 0.13	1334 ± 0.77
Epileptic	18.37 ± 0.51	12.23 ± 0.65
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	17.85 ± 0.43	11.25 ± 0.25
Epileptic + Bacoside A	20.98 ±0.70	14.45 ± 0.62
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	18.76 ± 0.25	12.16 ± 0.78

 Table-5

 Epinephrine and Norepinephrine content in the heart of control and experimental rats

Values are mean ± SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consists of 6-8 rats.



Figure-5 Triiodothyronine (T3) content in the serum of control and experimental rats

Table-6	
Triiodothyronine (T3) content in the serum of	of control
and experimental rats	

Animal status	T3 Concentration (ng/ml)
Control	0.45 ± 0.04
Epileptic	1.42 ± 0.10***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	0.53 ± 0.14 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.59 ± 0.07 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	0.81 ± 0.02 ^{@@} *

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-6 Circulating insulin level in the serum of control and experimental rats



 Table-7

 Insulin content in the serum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Insulin Concentration (µU/ml)
Control	56.4 ± 4.5
Epileptic	86.6 ± 6.4***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	59.7 ± 3.1 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	54.2 ± 5.8 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	68.9 ± 4.2 ^{@@}

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-7 GABA content in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



 Table-8

 GABA content in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	GABA content (µmoles/g wt. of the tissue)
Control	5.16 ± 0.23
Epileptic	3.91 ± 0.17***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$4.86 \pm 0.20^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$4.75 \pm 0.19^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$4.32 \pm 0.21^{@*}$
the second se	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@}<0.001, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-8 GABA content in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



 Table-9

 GABA content in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	GABA content (µmoles/g wt. of the tissue)
Control	4.71 ± 0.33
Epileptic	3.10 ± 0.21***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$4.29 \pm 0.24^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$4.18 \pm 0.29^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$4.07 \pm 0.31^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control and ^{@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-9 GABA content in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



Table-10 GABA content in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	GABA content (µmoles/g wt. of the tissue)
Control	5.89 ± 0.34
Epileptic	4.21 ± 0.18***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$5.59 \pm 0.23^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	5.17 ± 0.25 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$5.08 \pm 0.32^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-10 GABA content in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats



C- Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-11 GABA content in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	GABA content (µmoles/g wt. of the tissue)
Control	4.87 ± 0.43
Epileptic	3.09 ± 0.29***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	4.29 ± 0.27 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	3.98 ± 0.39 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	3.53 ± 0.35 [@] **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-11 GABA content in the brain stem of control and experimental rats



 Table-12

 GABA content in the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	GABA content (µmoles/g wt. of the tissue)
Control	3.19 ± 0.33
Epileptic	1.46 ± 0.29***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$2.67 \pm 0.27^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$2.42 \pm 0.24^{@@@}*$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	1.98 ± 0.25 ^{@@} ***
1990 No	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H] GABA binding against GABA in the

C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-13 Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	112.3 ± 6.3	43.1 ± 2.3
Epileptic	44.0 ± 3.5***	29.3 ± 1.1**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$89.8 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	$39.0 \pm 3.2^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$93.2 \pm 4.7 \ @@@$	$19.8 \pm 1.2^{@**}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$80.7 \pm 5.2^{@@@}$	$38.4 \pm 2.9^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.



 Table-14

 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	92.5 ± 4.5	60.0 ± 4.2
Epileptic	29.7 ± 3.9***	37.1 ± 2.5**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$58.9 \pm 4.5^{@@@}*$	$53.5 \pm 3.7^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$70.7 \pm 5.1^{@@@}$	$58.9 \pm 4.3^{@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$68.5 \pm 4.7^{@@@}$	62.2 ± 3.9

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05, when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.







C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-15 Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	124.3 ± 8.5	68.8 ± 5.2
Epileptic	91.9 ± 6.9***	76.5 ± 4.1*
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$115.0 \pm 7.5^{@@@}$	71.6 ± 6.3
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$111.7 \pm 5.1^{@@@}$	85.9 ± 5.0
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$107.1 \pm 7.7^{@@@}$	76.4 ± 4.7

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-15 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aé1} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



 Table-16

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aé1} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.68 ± 0.16 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.49 \pm 0.082^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.22 ± 0.056 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-0.68 ± 0.063 @@*

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-16 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

 Table-17

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	2.34 ± 0.060 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$0.63 \pm 0.092^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.79 ± 0.076 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	1.19 ± 0.059 @@*

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05, when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-17 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



Table-18 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-2.33 ± 0.190 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.89 ± 0.098 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.63 ± 0.076 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-1.53 ± 0.093 @@**

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, *@@@*p<0.001, *@@*p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-18 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



Table-19

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-3.56 ± 0.260 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.83 \pm 0.181^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.42 ± 0.036 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-1.07 ± 0.053 @@@**
The State St	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-19 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats



 Table-20

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-2.52 ± 0.090 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-1.04 ± 0.082 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-1.35 \pm 0.096^{@@@} **$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-1.71 ± 0.059 ^{@@} ***

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.


Figure-20 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Table-21 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.67 ± 0.040 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.89 ± 0.062 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.65 ± 0.039 @@@*
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-0.97 ± 0.052 @@***

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H] GABA binding against GABA in the

Table-22 Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	370.6 ± 14.5	85.2 ± 4.2
Epileptic	168.8 ± 3.9***	56.2 ± 4.1**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$287.6 \pm 12.5^{@@@}$	$84.5 \pm 5.8^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$297.7 \pm 10.1^{@@@}$	$82.6 \pm 5.4^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$338.9 \pm 9.7^{@@@}$	$82.6 \pm 5.7^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Figure-22 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-23 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	103.3 ± 6.3	67.5 ± 4.5
Epileptic	51.2 ± 3.9***	32.0 ± 2.1**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$88.6 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	$63.4 \pm 4.6^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$73.9 \pm 4.8^{@@@}$	$49.3 \pm 2.4^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$97.5 \pm 6.7^{@@@}$	$88.1 \pm 04.0^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-24 Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	96.3 ± 5.7	40.1 ± 3.2
Epileptic	56.2 ± 3.2***	31.8 ± 2.5**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$81.6 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	$35.4 \pm 2.7^{@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$84.3 \pm 4.8^{(0)}$	$40.1 \pm 3.6^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$74.9 \pm 6.7^{@@@}$	29.9 ± 2.2

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-24 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A61} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



 Table-25

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A61} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.93 ± 0.053 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.483 \pm 0.047^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.67 \pm 0.062^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.54 \pm 0.069^{@@}*$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.54 \pm 0.069^{-0.54}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01, when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-25 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



 Table-26

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.21 ± 0.023***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.31 \pm 0.057^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.68 ± 0.042 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.23 \pm 0.079^{@@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-26 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



Table-27

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.89 ± 0.016 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.18 \pm 0.038^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.17 ± 0.047 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.38 \pm 0.054^{@@*}$
one as ante	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-27 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A\delta} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



Table-28

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	1.86 ± 0.073***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	0.917 ± 0.057 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.795 ± 0.082 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	0.956 ± 0.069 ^{@@} **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-28 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



 Table-29

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.69 ± 0.043 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.81 ± 0.057 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.50 \pm 0.072^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.981 \pm 0.059^{@@**}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.



Figuer-29 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Table-30 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the hippocampus of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.55 ± 0.09***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.58 ± 0.07 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.19 \pm 0.07^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.54 \pm 0.06^{@@@}*$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-30



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with *Carbamazepine*.

Table-31 Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	340.5 ± 14.3	46.6 ± 3.3
Epileptic	76.2 ± 12.5***	21.1 ± 1.4***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$224.8 \pm 9.6^{@@@}*$	$97.7 \pm 5.2^{@@@**}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$250.2 \pm 11.7^{@@@}$	69.4 ± 3.7 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$207.4 \pm 15.2^{@@@}*$	$49.3 \pm 2.9^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.







C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

 Table-32

 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	110.8 ± 5.7	13.8 ± 0.9
Epileptic	36.7 ± 3.2***	12.9 ± 0.7
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$96.2 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	16.0 ± 1.0
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$76.5 \pm 4.8^{@@@}*$	13.4 ± 0.8
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$64.9 \pm 6.7^{@@@**}$	15.2 ± 1.1

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, @@@p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.





C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine

 Table-33

 Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	108.8 ± 5.7	63.8 ± 0.9
Epileptic	72.7 ± 3.2***	58.5 ± 0.7
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$95.2 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	50.1 ± 1.0
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$88.3 \pm 4.8^{@@@}$	65.4 ± 0.8
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$94.9 \pm 6.7^{@@@}$	65.0 ± 1.1

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, *@@@*p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-33 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aá1} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



 Table-34

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aé1} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.67 ± 0.14***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.14 \pm 0.06^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.21 \pm 0.04^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.86 \pm 0.09^{@@**}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-34 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



 Table-35

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-2.26 ± 0.18***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.93 \pm 0.09^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.65 \pm 0.02^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-1.51 \pm 0.07^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-35 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



Table-36

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	2.19 ± 0.090***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$0.71 \pm 0.062^{@@@*}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	0.87 ± 0.046 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$1.14 \pm 0.086^{@@} ***$
2000 IV	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-36 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



Table-37

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-3.52 ± 0.23 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.75 ± 0.12 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.42 ± 0.18 @@@
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	1.13 ± 0.08 @@@**

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, *@@@*p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-37 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats



Table-38 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.53 ± 0.02***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.11 \pm 0.01^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.25 ± 0.01 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.15 \pm 0.03^{@@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.



Figure-38 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Table-39 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the cerebellum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.23 ± 0.07***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.46 \pm 0.03^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.39 \pm 0.02^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-0.58 ± 0.01 ^{@@@} *

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the

C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-40 Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	137.9 ± 9.1	51.0 ± 3.2
Epileptic	41.7 ± 6.9***	26.0 ± 1.9**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$113 \pm 8.3^{@@@}$	$43.4 \pm 3.3^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$108.8 \pm 4.1^{@@@}$	$47.3 \pm 3.6^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	77.3 ± 4.7 ^{@@@} **	$40.9 \pm 3.4^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure40



Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline against bicuculline in the

Bound (fmoles/mg protein)

Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-41 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	69.8 ± 9.1	77.5 ± 4.8
Epileptic	24.6 ± 6.9***	15.3 ± 0.8 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$59.8 \pm 8.3^{@@@}$	49.8± 2.6 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$41.5 \pm 4.1^{@@@}*$	$46.1 \pm 2.5^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$44.9 \pm 4.7^{@@@*}$	$34.5 \pm 2.1^{@@}$

Values are mean ± SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats., *p<0.05, ***p<0.001 when compared to control, @@@p<0.001, @@p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the

Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-42 Scatchard analysis of [3H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	41.3 ± 2.7	45.8 ± 3.1
Epileptic	23.6 ± 1.9***	47.2 ± 3.3
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$33.8 \pm 1.3^{@@@}$	$56.3 \pm 3.6^{*}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$32.5 \pm 2.1^{@@@}$	$65.0 \pm 4.1^{*}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$31.8 \pm 2.7^{@@@}$	$79.5 \pm 4.6^{**}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, @@@p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-42 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A61} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats



 Table-43

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A61} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.67 ± 0.04***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.26 \pm 0.03^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.31 \pm 0.03^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-1.36 \pm 0.01^{@@*}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-43 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats



Table-44 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	4.23 ± 0.24***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$1.92 \pm 0.13^{@@@} **$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	1.59 ± 0.18 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	2.31 ± 0.16 ^{@@} ***

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, @@p<0.001, @@p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-44 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats



Table-45

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-3.74 ± 0.24 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-1.47 ± 0.13 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-2.26 \pm 0.18^{@@@***}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-2.53 \pm 0.16^{@@***}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, *@@@p*<0.001, *@@p*<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-45 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats





Table-46

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-2.35 ± 0.14***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-1.24 ± 0.09 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-1.49 \pm 0.08^{@@@} ***$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-1.12 \pm 0.06^{@@**}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.



 Table-47

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Log RQ value
0
-0.91 ± 0.04***
$-0.32 \pm 0.02^{@@@}$
$-0.47 \pm 0.02^{@@@*}$
$-0.23 \pm 0.03^{@@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, @@@p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-48 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.97 ± 0.04***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.57 ± 0.01 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.48 \pm 0.02^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.39 \pm 0.04^{@@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, *@@@*p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the brain stem of control and experimental rats

C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-49 Scatchard analysis of [³H]GABA binding against GABA in the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	136.8 ± 5.9	52.6 ± 3.9
Epileptic	72.0 ± 4.7***	40 ± 3.0*
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$109.8 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	47.7 ± 2.7
Epileptic + Bacoside A	112.2 ± 4.3 @@@	$51.0 \pm 3.6^{@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$92.4 \pm 6.8^{@@@}*$	44.0 ± 2.5

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in

C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-50 Scatchard analysis of [³H]bicuculline binding against bicuculline in the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	167.3 ± 7.4	64.3 ± 3.2
Epileptic	69.8 ± 4.1***	38.7 ± 1.4***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$123.3 \pm 5.9^{@@@}*$	$61.6.0 \pm 3.4^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	126.9 ± 4.4 ^{@@@} *	57.6 ± 2.5 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$110.5 \pm 6.7^{@@@**}$	$100.4 \pm 4.6^{@@@**}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.





Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the

Table-51 Scatchard analysis of [³H]baclofen binding against baclofen in the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	B _{max} (fmoles/mg protein)	K _d (nM)
Control	43.9 ± 2.8	73.1 ± 0.03
Epileptic	23.6 ± 2.1***	47.2 ± 0.01**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$33.8 \pm 5.6^{@@@}$	$67.6 \pm 0.02^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	34.7 ± 4.7 ^{@@@}	$69.4 \pm 0.02^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$30.6 \pm 3.2^{@@@}$	$76.5 \pm 0.01^{@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-51 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aé1} receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats



 Table-52

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aé1} receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.93 ± 0.053***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.39 \pm 0.042^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.45 ± 0.066 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-0.57 \pm 0.021^{@@}**$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-52 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats



 Table-53

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A65} receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-1.93 ± 0.15***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$-0.19 \pm 0.042^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	-0.51 ± 0.096 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	$-1.25 \pm 0.081^{@@***}$
The second se	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-53 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats



Table-54 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Ay3} Receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	2.93 ± 0.25 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	1.39 ± 0.082 ^{@@@} **
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$1.31 \pm 0.16^{@@@**}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	1.95 ± 0.091 ^{@@} ***

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

 $Figure-54 \\ Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{A\delta} \ receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats$



Table-55

Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_{Aδ} receptor subunit mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Log RQ value
0
-2.53 ± 0.20***
$-1.13 \pm 0.07^{@@@**}$
-0.91 ± 0.13 ^{@@@*}
$-1.95 \pm 0.06^{@@***}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

of control and experimental rats 0 -0.2 -0.4 -0.6 (a.a.a aaa -0.8 Log RQ (a)a)a, -1 -1.2 -1.4 -1.6 -1.8 -2 С E E+B E+D E+C

Figure-55 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

 Table-56

 Real Time PCR amplification of GABA_B receptor mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Log RQ value
0
-1.63 ± 0.13***
-0.82 ± 0.05 ^{@@@} *
$-0.61 \pm 0.10^{@@@}$
$-0.65 \pm 0.04^{@@@}$

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001 when compared to epileptic group.


Table-57 Real Time PCR amplification of GAD mRNA from the brain stem of control and experimental rats

Animal status	Log RQ value
Control	0
Epileptic	-0.73 ± 0.033 ***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	-0.42 ± 0.047 ^{@@@} *
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$-0.21 \pm 0.062^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	-0.50 ± 0.069 ^{@@} **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-57 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on time spent in novel arm in Y maze



Table-58 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on time spent in novel arm in Y maze

Animal status	% of time spent in noval arm
Control	35.7 ± 2.6
Epileptic	28.3 ± 3.1**
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$34.5 \pm 3.2^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	$33.2 \pm 1.3^{@@}$
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	32.2 ± 2.3 [@]

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-58 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on number of visit to novel arm (count/5 minutes) in Y maze



Table-59 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on number of visit to novel arm (count/5 minutes) in Y maze

Animal status	Number of visit to novel arm
Control	5.6 ± 0.6
Epileptic	3.1 ± 0.4***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	4.7 ± 0.5 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	4.2 ± 0.3 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	3.8 ± 0.4 [@] **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, @p<0.01, @p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-59 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on criterion performance in radial arm maze



Table-60 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on criterion performance in radial arm maze

Animal status	Mean number of trials to criterion
Control	26.3 ± 2.3
Epileptic	37.7 ± 2.9***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$31.4 \pm 2.4^{@@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	32.9 ± 2.1 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	34.8 ± 2.7 [@] *

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, *@@@*p<0.001, *@@*p<0.01, *@*p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-60 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on reference errors in radial arm maze



Table-61 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on reference errors in radial arm maze

Animal status	Mean reference errors to criterion
Control	55.6 ± 3.3
Epileptic	72.2 ± 4.1***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	$61.8 \pm 3.2^{@@}$
Epileptic + Bacoside A	63.4 ± 3.1 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	65.5 ± 3.4 [@]
2phiephie Curcumazephie	

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, *@@*p<0.01, *@*p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-61 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on working errors in radial arm maze



Table-62 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on working errors in radial arm maze

Animal status	Mean working errors to criterion
Control	34.5 ± 3.2
Epileptic	46.9 ± 3.8***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	37.3 ± 3.4 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	36.7 ± 3.1 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	39.4 ± 2.9 ^{@@}

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-62 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on grid walk test



C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Table-63 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on grid walk test

Animal status	Foot slips/3 minutes
Control	23.8 ± 3.6
Epileptic	39.4 ± 4.1***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	27.5 ± 3.1 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	30.9 ± 2.3 ^{@@} *
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	32.2 ± 4.3 [@] **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01, *p<0.05 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01 and [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Figure-63 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on narrow beam test



Table-64	
Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on narrow b	eam test

Animal status	Time in seconds
Control	114.8± 12.0
Epileptic	72.6 ± 8.1***
Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri	95.2 ± 11.6 ^{@@@}
Epileptic + Bacoside A	101.8 ± 9.3 ^{@@}
Epileptic + Carbamazepine	85.5 ± 7.5 [@] **

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.01, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@@}p<0.001, ^{@@}p<0.01, [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group.

Animal status	Grooming	Sniffing	Resting	Staring
С	3.32±0.29	13.04±1.0	5.19±0.42	3.55±0.27
E	2.92±0.14	7.18±0.68**	12.65±1.1***	2.33±0.19
E+B	5.25±0.61 ^{@@}	11.32±0.93 ^{@@}	6.04±0.87 ^{@@}	2.41±0.21
E+D	4.74±0.36	12.17±0.84 ^{@@}	3.29±0.27 ^{@@}	3.84±0.29
E+C	3.46±0.23 [@]	8.02±0.64 [@]	8.69±0.63 [@]	4.84±0.38 ^{@@}

 Table-65

 Behavioral response of control and experimental rats on open field test

Values are mean \pm SEM of 4-6 separate experiments. Each group consist of 6-8 rats ***p<0.001, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ^{@@}p<0.01 and [@]p<0.05 when compared to epileptic group. C-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacoside A and E+C-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.





→ GABA_{A61} receptor subunit





Epileptic + Bacoside A

Figure-65 GABA $_{A\alpha I}$ receptor expression in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



CARA ... recentor cubunit

Figure-65 GABA_{Aal} receptor expression in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats



Epileptic + Bacoside A

$GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor expression in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats Figure-66



→ GABA_{Aéi} receptor subunit



 $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor expression in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats Figure-66





GABA... recentor subunit

Epileptic + Bacopa monnieri

Epileptic

Control



 $GABA_{A\alpha l}$ receptor expression in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats Figure-67





GABAAal receptor subunit



 $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor expression in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats Figure-68

 $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor expression in the brain regions of control and experimental rats Table-66

Cereb	ral cortex	Hippocampus	Cerebellum	Corpus striatum	Brain stem
Animal status		Pixe	l intensity		
ပ	103465 ± 343	138545 ± 425	98545 ± 945	128545 ± 1135	128545 ± 1034
ш	76456 ± 393***	80545±397***	80182 ± 619* *	82182 ± 1267***	79182 ± 974***
E + B	95835 ± 235^{66}	121045± 387@@@	921745 ± 724 ^{@@}	109745 ± 1312 ^{®®}	$109745\pm952^{@@@}$
E + D	90564 ± 253^{66}	123785± 376 ^{@@@}	919785 ± 865 ^{@@}	$103785 \pm 1342^{(6,0)}$	$103785 \pm 872^{@@@}$
E + C	87593 ± 293 ^{@@}	119164± 369 ^{@@}	880164 ± 794^{66}	$110164 \pm 1039^{@}$	$110164 \pm 794^{\textcircled{0}\textcircled{0}}$
Values are mean	± SEM of 4-6 separ	ate experiments. Each	group consist of 6-8 rats	***p<0.001, **p<0.01 w	hen compared to control,

 $\frac{\log(n)}{2}$ p<0.001 and $\frac{\log(n)}{2}$ p<0.01 when compared to epileptic group. Č-Control, E-Epileptic, E+B-Epileptic rats treated with *Bacopa monnieri*, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Bacopa monnieri, E+D-Epileptic rats treated with Carbamazepine.

Figure Legends

Figure 64

Confocal image of $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit in the cerebral cortex of control and experimental rats using receptor specific primary antibody and rhodamine coated secondary antibody. There was a significant decrease of $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit in the epileptic rats which was reversed to near control with the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside-A and Carbamazepine

Figure 65

Confocal image of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in the hippocampus of control and experimental rats using receptor specific primary antibody and rhodamine coated secondary antibody. There was a significant decrease of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in the epileptic rats which was reversed to near control with the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside-A and Carbamazepine

Figure 66

Confocal image of $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit in the cerebellum of control and experimental rats using receptor specific primary antibody and rhodamine coated secondary antibody. There was a significant decrease of $GABA_{A\alpha I}$ receptor subunit in the epileptic rats which was reversed to near control with the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside-A and Carbamazepine

Figure 67

Confocal image of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in the corpus striatum of control and experimental rats using receptor specific primary antibody and rhodamine coated secondary antibody. There was a significant decrease of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor

subunit in the epileptic rats which was reversed to near control with the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside-A and Carbamazepine

Figure 68

Confocal image of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in the brain stem of control and experimental rats using receptor specific primary antibody and rhodamine coated secondary antibody. There was a significant decrease of $GABA_{A\alpha 1}$ receptor subunit in the epileptic rats which was reversed to near control with the administration of *Bacopa monnieri* Bacoside-A and Carbamazepine